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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

| ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 000-28275

PFSWEB, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cégrt

Delaware 75-283705¢
( State or other jurisdiction of (.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification Number
500 North Central Expressway, Plano, Texa 75074
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Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
972-881-2900

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act: None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) t¢ifie Act:
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share
Indicate by check mark if the registrant isell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleot@®e Securities Act. YeBI No ™M
Indicate by check mark if the registrant i$ remuired to file reports pursuant to Section £3%(d) of the Act. Ye§&l No M

Indicate by check mark whether the regist(ahbas filed all reports required to be filed byc8on 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastg@s. Ye NoO

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrast $ubmitted electronically and posted on its catgowebsite, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRuie 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of thisptkg) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y8s No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delieqt filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation $Kot contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgealdfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part IIl of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10#.

Indicate by check mark whether the registraiatlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated ditex non-accelerated filer. See definition of
“large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” atemaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thecBange Act.
Large accelerated fileC Accelerated fileOd Non-accelerated fileO Smaller Reporting Compar
(Do not check if a Smaller reporting compe
Indicated by check mark whether the registimatshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 efalt). Yesd No M

The aggregate market value of the voting stadll by non-affiliates of the registrant as of @0, 2010 (based on the closing price as
reported by the National Association of Securibeslers Automated Quotation System) was $34,480,114

At March 28, 2011, there were 12,295,597 shafe¢he registra’s Common Stock issued, $.001 par va
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PART |

Item 1. Business
General

PFSweb is an international business procets®orcing provider of end-to-end eCommerce solsti®t-Sweb provides these solutions to
major brand name companies seeking to optimize sugiply chain and to enhance their traditional amiéhe business channels and initiati
We derive our revenues from a broad range of seswas we process individual business transactiosioclients’ behalf. Marketed as
PFSwel's End2End eCommeréesolution, the services we offer are organized theofollowing categories:

» Digital Marketing

» eCommerce Technologir
e Order Managemer

»  Customer Car

* Logistics and Fulfillmen
* Financial Managemel

* Professional Consultin

Our solutions support both direct-to-consuiBi C") and business-to-business (“B2B”) sales alela. The majority of our clients are the
merchants of record for the orders we process tirawr infrastructure on their behalf. For thesents, we do not own the inventory or the
resulting accounts receivable, but provide manages®rvices for these client-owned assets.

For some of our clients, we are the mercharéanrd for the orders we process through ouastfucture on their behalf. Under these
arrangements, we either record product revenuenet aale, own the accounts receivable and invematod we may be paid for all or a portion
of our services through the resulting profit marginsome cases, we purchase the inventory agtiteigt is delivered to our facility. In other
situations, the client retains ownership of inveynto our facility and we purchase the inventorymediately prior to each individual customer
sales transaction. In all cases, we seek invefitgayncing from our clients in the form of extendedms, working capital programs or
marketing funds to help offset the working capitajuirements that follow accounts receivable anéritory ownership.

We are headquartered in Plano, Texas wherexagautive and administrative offices and our prirtachnology operations and hosting
facilities are located. We operate state-of-thezalitcenters from our U.S. facilities located lafb, Texas, and Memphis, Tennessee, and fron
our international facilities located in Markham, t@mo, Canada, Liége, Belgium and Manila, PhiliggnWe lease or manage warehouse
facilities of approximately 1.3 million square feetany containing highly automated and state ofthenaterial handling and communications
equipment, in Memphis, Tennessee, Southaven, Mippis Grapevine, Texas, Markham, Ontario, Canadblaege, Belgium, allowing us to
provide global distribution solutions.

Recent Events

In February 2011 we sold substantially altraf inventory and certain intangible assets ofef®ST.con® business unit, a multi-category
online discount retailer of new, “close-out” andegified brand-name merchandise, for a cash psechace of $2.3 million (before expenses
of approximately $0.2 million) and the assumptigrtie purchaser of certain limited liabilities &@@®ST. The purchase price represents
approximately $1 million for inventory and the brada for the intangible assets. In connection withdlosing of this business unit, we
currently expect to incur exit costs of approxinha®0.2 million to $0.4 million related to employ&rmination costs and excess property and
equipment and may incur additional costs, includirgess facility costs. In the fourth quarter 01@0we have recorded a non-cash goodwill
impairment charge of approximately $2.8 millionr Bl periods presented, we have classified theatjpey results of our former online
discount retailer segment as discontinued operatidnless otherwise indicated, the following dgstorn of our business refers only to our
continuing operations. See Note 12, Discontinuedr@jons, of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Steats” for additional information. In
conjunction with this sale, we renamed our eCOSM.sabsidiary in February 2011. The newly namedisdidry, PFSweb Retail Connect,
Inc., will service certain of our client relatiorigh on an ongoing basis.
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PFSWEF'S END2END ECOMMERCE®SERVICES

PFSweb serves as the “brand behind the brfafa’companies seeking to increase efficienciegramw markets or launch optimized sales
channels. As an eCommerce and business processimég we offer scalable and cost-effective sohdifor brand manufacturers, online
retailers, and distributors across a wide rangadstry segments. We provide our clients with deamand transparent solutions to support
their business strategies, allowing them to foqusheir core competencies. Leveraging PFSweb’sn@olgy, expertise and proven
methodologies, we enable client organizations telig and deploy new products and implement nevinbsgs strategies or address new
distribution channels rapidly and efficiently thgfuour optimized solutions. Our clients engageath bs a consulting partner to assist them in
the design of a business solution as well as aalignd physical infrastructure partner providihg mission critical operations required to bi
and manage their business solution. Together, wemp help our clients define new ways of doingimess, but also provide them the
technology, physical infrastructure and profesdioasources necessary to quickly implement thisrass model. We allow our clients to
quickly and dramatically change how they “go-to-ker”

Each client has a unique business model aimpierstrategic objectives that often requires highistomized solutions. PFSweb supports
clients in a wide array of industries includingtfam apparel and accessories, fragrance and bpeadycts, consumer packaged goods, home
furnishings and housewares, consumer electronffise dechnology and network connectivity produatsl aviation spare parts. These clients
turn to PFSweb for help in addressing a variethusiness issues that include eCommerce, custortigiasion and retention, time-definite
logistics, vendor managed inventory and integratiupply chain compression, cost model realignmérassportation management and
international expansion, among others. We alsaset constructive agent of change, providing di¢me ability to alter their current
distribution model, establish direct relationshiyith end-customers, and reduce the overall timecarsts associated with existing distribution
channel strategies. Our clients are seeking salsitiibat will provide them with dynamic supply chaimd multi-channel marketing efficiencies,
while ultimately delivering a world-class custonservice experience.

Our value proposition is to become a seamigsh,integrated extension of our clients’ entesps by delivering superior solutions that drive
optimal customer experiences. On behalf of thedsave serve, we wish to increase and enhanceaadesarket growth, bolster customer
satisfaction and customer retention, and drivescost of the business through operations and téogyoelated efficiencies. As both a virtual
and a physical infrastructure for our clients’ Imgsises, we embrace their brand values and stratieigictives. By utilizing our services, our
clients are able to:

Quickly Capitalize on Market Opportunitiedur solutions empower clients to rapidly implemtair supply chain and eCommerce
strategies and to take advantage of opportunitifeut lengthy integration and implementation effoWe have readily available advanced
technology and physical infrastructure that isifiin its design, which facilitates quick inteiom and implementation. The PFSweb solution
is designed to allow our clients to deliver coreistquality service as transaction volumes growalsd to handle daily and seasonal peak
periods. Through our international locations, dients can sell their products throughout the world

Improve the Customer Experient®e enable our clients to provide their customet wihigh-touch, positive buying experience thereby
maintaining and promoting brand loyalty. Through ose of advanced technology, we can respond bireectustomer inquiries by e-mail,
voice or data communication and assist them witmerordering and product information. We believe @ffer our clients a “world-clas$ével
of service, including 24-hour, seven-days-a-weekbWgnabled customer care service centers, detaistbmer Relationship Management
(“CRM") reporting and exceptional order accuracye Wave significant experience in the developmemCGdmmerce storefronts that allows us
to recommend features and functions that are eaailigated and understood by our client’s custon@us technology platform is designed to
ensure high levels of reliability and fast respotises for our clientstustomers. Because of our technology, our clieatefit from being abl
to offer the latest in customer communication agponse conveniences to their customers.

Minimize Investment and Improve Operating Efficieagne of the most significant benefits outsourcingvies is the ability to
transform fixed costs into variable costs. By efiating the need to invest in a fixed capital infinasture, our clients’ costs typically become
directly correlated with volume increases or desdinFurther, as
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volume increases drive the demand for greaterstrinature or capacity, we are able to quickly dggldditional resources. We provide serv
to multiple clients, which enables us to offer olients economies of scale, and resulting costiefiicy, that they may not have been able to
obtain on their own. Additionally, because of taegke number of daily transactions we process, we baen able to justify investments in
levels of automation, security surveillance, gyationtrol processes and transportation carrierfates that are typically outside the scale of
investment that our clients might be able to costify on their own. These additional capabiliti@s provide our clients the benefits of
enhanced operating performance and efficiency,aedlinventory shrinkage, and expanded customeicgeoptions.

Access a Sophisticated Technology Infrastructife.provide our clients with ready access to a sijglaited technology infrastructure that
is designed to interface seamlessly with theiresyst We provide our clients with vital product angtomer information that can be
immediately available to them on their own systemghrough web based graphic user interfaces felirugata mining, analyzing sales and
marketing trends, monitoring inventory levels ardfprming other management functions.

We believe our highest value proposition isiaeed when our clients engage our full suite ofises from all of the categories included in
PFSwel's End2End eCommeré&esolution. However, we provide our clients with thgportunity to customize their solution by selegtonly
certain services from our offering in & la cartehian. We believe this flexibility and willingness create a customized solution for each client
differentiates us from our competition.

Digital Marketing Services

Our team has extensive experience partneritigomr clients to help grow their business. Weéaxpertise in developing strategies to
attract new customers, converting website visitatie actual buyers, and nurturing the relationshifih current customers to increase their
lifetime value. We achieve this through the follagyiservices:

Search Engine Optimization (SE®@Ye combine knowledge of SEO best practices withtailtd knowledge of the technology platform to
maximize the programs’ performance. Our subjectena&ixperts achieve measurable results by usingofdéseed on-site page optimization
tactics, internal-linking strategies, back-linkisigategies, and back-link building. We provide bibth strategies and the implementation to
achieve top rankings in the search engines, inereiaility of the brand and drive sales results.

Pay-Per-Click We go beyond buying keywords. In addition to bichaxgement we provide effective copywriting as wellanding page
recommendations, optimization, and creation todase conversion. Our strategic search engine nirggkagtproach is proven to drive
incremental traffic, increase conversion, and loagspend.

Affiliate Marketing.We find the best affiliate partners that fit theubds, implement the program, and manage the ongelationships. We
develop strategies for the programs and nurturaffilate partnerships to ensure relevant traffidriven to the website to convert into sales.

Comparison Shopping Enginé¥e have experience creating and managing compastsgpping feeds that will increase brand visibility
a competitive landscape while driving sales. Wethseecomparison shopping engine channel to enhifiecgearch engine marketing initiatives
and power mobile applications.

MerchandisingWe combine industry expertise with best-in-breadht®logy to increase conversion and increase ageyater size. Our
team of experts offers services in on-site mercisamy, recommendations, personalization, on-siggcte and promotion management and
support.

Web AnalyticsAll of our interactive marketing services are dativen; we look at how the various channels arégpering and determine
where investments need to be made. We turn dat&imtwledge and offer insight into the customeetidwior and create strategies to provide
actionable results.

Customer Experienc&®Ve determine how to optimize the website to endghgeustomers with the brand, drive sales conversiod offer
an ideal customer shopping experience. Our teanesiaktheir focus to understand the customer’s si@ad offer site usability assessments
that will improve the customer experience, enhaheebrand
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and support revenue goals.

Email MarketingWe provide a world class email platform to creatd send dynamic 1-to-1 emails to achieve excepltiomsiness results.
We provide email delivery services to ensure eisagaching the inbox and have proven methodoldgi¢sst content, design, and subject
lines, as well as drive email strategy to engaggorners and increase revenue.

Social MediaOur customer-centric approach focuses on custoereice first. We have the tools to disposition oastr comments, posts,
replies, hash tags, etc. We also have the stafiipport the strategy and ongoing management ofl@unt’s social initiatives. We provide
strategies to drive traffic and sales to client sitds or on Facebook.

eCommerce Technology Services

Direct-to-Consumer eCommerce. PFSweb’s End2End et@woe® solution for the DTC online channel features Denwvearég eCommerct
a leading Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”") eCommglatéorm. We have fully integrated Demandware wfté rest of our world-class
technology platform including other best-of-breedhnology partners to create a PFSweb referendieaipn that provides our clients with a
very high-function DTC online store out-of-the-ba¥e are able to use the PFSweb reference applicasi@ starting point to very quickly
create a completely customized online store forl®DE clients. Designed specifically for DTC brandsr comprehensive offering redefines
end-to-end eCommerce by enabling retailers anddedinonsumer goods manufacturers with the abdigniploy a total outsourcing solution
customized to their particular eCommerce strategipout the loss of site or brand control associatéh earlier end-to-end outsourcing
solutions.

Business-to-Business eCommerce. PFSweb’s End2Ewdraérce® solution for the B2B online channel features ouslalMerchant
Commercewar® service that provides a complete eCommerce wessitgion for our B2B clients. We engage collabamly with our clients
to design, build, host, and manage fully brandellly tustomized and fully integrated eCommerce &pplications for B2B channels. We of
a broad range of hosting and support plans thabedailored to fit the needs of each client. @iilg Microsoft's.NET Technologies and our
proprietary GlobalMerchant Commerceware platforra,maintain a robust hosting environment for outésbslient B2B web sites.

Order Management Services

Order Management Interface®ur order management technology solutions prov&land our clients with interfaces that allow faalre
time information retrieval, including informatiomadnventory, sales orders, shipments, deliveryclpase orders, warehouse receipts, customer
history, accounts receivable and credit lines. €rsdutions are seamlessly integrated with our emdibled customer contact centers, allowing
for the processing of orders through shopping @rtne, fax, mail, email, web chat, and other ordeeipt methods. As the information
backbone for our total supply chain solution, onal@magement services can be used on a stand-asised in conjunction with our other
business infrastructure offerings, including custorrontact, financial or distribution servicesalidition, for the B2B market, our technology
platform provides a variety of order receipt methtitht facilitate commerce within various stagethefsupply chain. Our systems provide the
ability for both our clients and their customergriack the status of orders at any time. Our sesvére transparent to our clients’ customers anc
are seamlessly integrated with our clients’ intesyatems platforms and web sites. By synchronifirege activities, we can capture and
provide critical customer information, including:

»  Statistical measurements critical to creatingiality customer experience, containing real-timgeorstatus, order exceptions, back
order tracking, allocation of product based on ttigndof online purchase and business rules, the eatastomer inquiries to purchases,
average order sizes and order response

» B2B supply chain management information criticaét@luating inventory positioning, for the purpa$eeducing inventory turns, at
assessing product flow through and -consumer demani

» Reverse logistics information including customesp@nse and reason for the return or rotation adyeband desired customer acti
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» Detailed marketing information about what was swoid to whom it was sold, by location and prefereaod
* Web traffic reporting showing the number of vig*hits”) received, areas visited, and products and infoomagquestec

Technology CollaborationVe have created a suite of technology servicesethable buyers and suppliers to fully automater thesiness
transactions within their supply chain using théesrmanagement interfaces. Our collaboration tdogies operate in an open systems
environment and feature the use of industry-stahd&iL and SOA web services, enabling customizedra@erce solutions with minimal
changes to a client’s systems or our Enterpris@es Planning (“ERP”) systems. The result is gefasnplementation process. We also
support information exchange methods such as FDR,MQ Series, ALE, HTTP, and HTTPS.

Information ManagementVe have the ability to communicate with and transfeormation to and from our clients through a wicariety
of technology services, including real-time welvgar enabled data interfaces, file transfer mettasdselectronic data interchange. Our
systems are designed to capture, store and elezhgrforward to our clients critical informatiaiegarding customer inquiries and orders,
product shipments, inventory status (for examgeells of inventory on hand, on backorder, on pwsetader and inventory due dates to our
warehouse), product returns and other informatur. systems are capable of providing our clientd wiistomer inventory and order
information for use in analyzing sales and markgetiends and introducing new products. We alsor @ffistomized reports and data analyses
based upon specific client needs to assist theimein budgeting and business decision process.

Customer Care Services

Customer Relationship Managemeéme offer a completely customized CRM solution femts. Our CRM solution encompasses a full-
scale customer contact management service offasgell as a fully integrated customer analysigmm. All customer contacts are captured
and customer purchases are documented. Full-ss@deting on all customer transactions is availétesvaluation purposes. Through each of
our customer touch-points, information can be aredyand processed for current or future use imiegsievaluation, product effectiveness and
positioning, and supply chain planning.

Customer Order Assistanc&n important feature of evolving commerce is thdigtfor the customer to speak with a live custarservice
representative. Our experience has been that aitgagbconsumers tell us they visited the web tamafor information, but not all of those
consumers chose to place their order online. Ostioouer care services utilize features that integratce, e-mail, standard mail, data and
Internet chat communications to respond to and leaswstomer inquiries. Our customer care reprefigataanswer various questions, actin
virtual representatives of our client’s organizaticegarding order status, shipping, billing, retuand product information and availability as
well as a variety of other questions. For certdients, we handle Level | and Level Il technicappart. Level | technical support involves
assisting clients’ customers with basic technisalies, i.e. computer application issues. Levelppsrt may involve a more in-depth question
and answer session with the customer. Our eredbled customer care technology identifies eastomer contact automatically and routes
the available customer care representative whadisidually trained in the client’s business andgcts.

Our web-enabled customer care centers argrigsiso that our customer care representativebaraifie several different clients and
products in a shared environment, thereby crea@mmomy of scale benefits for our clients as weh@hly customized dedicated support
models that provide the ultimate customer expedend brand reinforcement. Our advanced technatsgyenables our representatives to up-
sell, cross-sell and inform customers of other potsland sales opportunities. The web-enabled mgstoare center is fully integrated into the
data management and order processing system, ajdwll visibility into customer history and custemtrends. Through this fully integrated
system, we are able to provide a complete custoarersolution.

Customer Self-HelpVith the need for efficiency and cost optimizatfon many of our clients, we have integrated intévacvoice respons
(“IVR") as another option for customer contactsR\¢reates an “electronic workforce” with virtualeads that can assist customers with vital
information at any time of the day or night. IVRaoaVs for our clients’ customers to deal interadpweith our system to handle basic customer
inquiries, such as
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account balance, order status, shipment statipgatequests, product and price inquiries, antimewrder entry for established customers.
The inclusion of IVR in our service offering allows to offer a cost effective way to handle highuwee, low complexity calls.

Logistics and Fulfillment Services

Advanced Distribution Facilities and Infrastructuren integral part of our solution is the warehousamgl distribution of inventory either
owned by our clients or owned by us. We currendlyehapproximately 1.3 million square feet of leasethanaged warehouse space
domestically and internationally to store and pssceur and our clients’ inventory. We receive irteeyin our distribution centers, verify
shipment accuracy, unpack and audit packages ¢@gsdhat includes spot-checking a percentagesahtientory to validate piece counts and
check for damages that may have occurred durimgpsig, loading and unloading). Upon request, wepeaas for other damages or defects,
which may include checking fabric, stitching anp@rs for soft goods, or ‘testing’ power-up capiéibs for electronic items as well as product
specifications. We generally stock for sale witbire business day of unloading. On behalf of oentsi, we pick, pack and ship their customer
orders and can provide customized packaging, chpedbf high volume shrink packaging, inserts gmdmotional literature for distribution
with customer orders. For many clients, we progdewrapping services including customized giftapping paper, ribbon, gift-box and gift-
messaging.

Our distribution facilities contain computextzsortation equipment, highly mobile pick-to-ligiatrts, powered material handling equipment,
scanning and bar-coding systems and automated yorsvand in-line scales. Our distribution complexetude several advanced technology
enhancements, such as radio frequency technologrotiuct receiving processing to ensure accuracwed as an automated package routing
and a pick-to-light paperless order fulfillment . Our advanced distribution systems provide itis the capability to warehouse an
extensive number of stock keeping units (SKUs)giraen from large high-end laser printers to smafiroetic compacts. Our facilities are
flexibly configured to process B2B and single pigKC orders from the same central location.

In addition to our advanced distribution syste our pick-to-light carts, stationary pick-toHigareas and conveyor system controls provide
real time productivity reporting, thereby providingr management team with the tools to implemeodipetivity standards. This combination
of computer-controlled equipment provides the seamintegration of our pick-to-light systems andgsnsortation capabilities. This unique
combination of technologies ensures high order moyufor each and every customer order.

We are able to take advantage of a varieghgdping and delivery options, which range fromtriey service to zone skipping to optimize
transportation costs. Our facilities and systemeseguipped with multi-carrier functionality, allavg us to integrate with all leading package
carriers and provide a comprehensive freight aaasportation management offering. In addition,remeasingly important service we provide
is reverse logistics management. We offer a widayaof product return services, including issuiaturn authorizations, receipt of product,
crediting customer accounts and disposition ofrred product.

Our domestic clients enjoy the benefits ofihg\their inventory assets secured by trained lafereement professionals from our security
headquarters in Memphis, Tennessee and SouthavesisMppi. Continual validation ensures that welkemthe latest in security processes
and procedures to further enhance our surveillandedetection capabilities. Our security programtiooies to gain trust and confidence from
our clients as we protect their products and assets

Facility Operations and Managemeur facilities management service offering includestribution facility design and optimization,
business process reengineering and ongoing staffidgnanagement. Along with our operations in M&ppi and Tennessee, we also manage
an aircraft parts distribution center in Grapevifi¥,on behalf of one of our clients. Our experiissupply chain management, logistics and
customer-centric fulfillment operations extendthgh our management of client-owned facilitiesuh@sg in cost reductions, process
improvements and technology-driven efficiencies.

Kitting and Assembly Service3ur expanded kitting and assembly services enablelients to reduce the time and costs associaiitd
managing multiple suppliers, warehousing hubs, I manufacturing partners. As a
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single source provider, we provide the advantagsofenience, accountability and speed. Our congmstae kitting and assembly services
provide a quality one-stop resource for any intéomal channel. Our kitting and assembly serviceuide light assembly, specialized kitting
and supplier-consigned inventory hub either indistribution facilities or co-located elsewhere. lso offer customized light manufacturing
and supplier relationship management (“SRM”).

We will work with clients to re-sequence cartaupply chain activities to aid in an inventorysgponement strategy. We can provide kitting
and assembly services and build-to-stock thousahdsits daily to stock in a Just-in-Time (“JIT"heironment. This service, for example, can
entail the procurement of packaging materials idicig retail boxes, foam inserts and anti-staticsbddnese raw material components would be
shipped to us from domestic or overseas manufastuaad we will build the finished SKUs to stock the client. Also included is the custom
configuration of high-end printers and serverssTtrategy allows manufacturers to make a smallegstment in base unit inventory while
meeting changing customer demand for highly custabie products.

Combining our assembly services with our sigegiwned inventory hub services allows our cligntseduce cycle times, to compress their
supply chains and to consolidate their operationssaupplier management functions. We have supiphentory management, assembly and
fulfillment services all in one place, providingegter flexibility in product line utilization, aselN as rapid response to change orders or
packaging development. Our standard capabilitielside: build-to-order, build-to-stock, expeditediers, passive and active electrostatic
discharge (“ESD”) controls, product labeling, senamber generation, marking and/or capture, lohber generation, asset tagging, bill of
materials (“BOM”") or computer automated design (‘@A engineering change processing, SKU-level pgcamd billing, manufacturing and
metrics reporting, first article approval processesl comprehensive quality controls.

Our kitting and assembly services also inclpEurement. We work directly with client suppsieo make JIT inventory orders for each
component in client packages, thereby ensuringawseive the appropriate inventory quantities atffustright time and we then turn them
around JIT to customers.

Kitting and inventory hub services enablerdieto collapse supply chains into the minimal stepcessary to prepare product for distribt
to any channel, including wholesale, mass mercteatil, or direct to consumer. Clients no longevénto employ multiple providers or require
suppliers to consign multiple inventory cachesdach channel. We offer our clients the opportutdtgonsolidate operations from a channel
standpoint, as well as from a geographic perspec@ur integrated, global information systems anternational locations support business
needs worldwide.

Product Management and Inspection Servitks.also operate a coupon management system andgprodnagement program. Coupons
are managed and activated by a unique serial nuthbesignificantly reducing fraudulent activityuQcapabilities also extend into salvage
operations, allowing our clients to reclaim valwatdw materials and components from discontinuezbeolete inventory.

We operate a test and repair center whereisuaNy inspect items for cosmetic defects. Thésm$ are put through rigorous testing that
includes: functionality, durability, accessory iesfion and packaging. Items that pass the testmgepackaged and resold with a noted
exception of “open-box” merchandise. ltems thdttfa inspection are disassembled and working gparts are saved for future use in repairs.

Financial Management Services

Our financial services are divided into twojonareas: 1) billing, credit, collection and cagiplication services for B2B clients and 2) fri
review, chargeback management and processing #fetrsent credit card services for DTC clients.

Business-to-Business Financial ManagemEot.B2B clients, we offer full-service accountsew®@ble management and collection
capabilities, including the ability to generatetousized computer-generated invoices in our clientgshes. We assist clients in reducing
accounts receivable and days sales outstandintg miiimizing costs associated with maintainingrahouse collections staff. We offer
electronic credit services in the format of EDI afdL. communications direct from our clients to theendors, suppliers and retailers.

7




Table of Contents

Direct-to-Consumer Financial Managemehar DTC clients, we offer secure credit card pregggrelated services for orders made via a
client web site or through our customer contactereWe offer manual credit card order review agdditional level of fraud protection. We
also calculate sales taxes, goods and services texalue added taxes, if applicable, for numetaxsg authorities and on a variety of
products. Using third-party leading-edge fraud @ctibn services and risk management systems, weftarhigh levels of security and reduce
the level of risk for client transactions.

Professional Consulting Services

As part of the tailored solution for our clisnwe offer a full team of experts specificallysgated to focus on our clientslisinesses. Tee
members play a consultative role, providing corcdive evaluation, analysis and recommendationgh®rclient’s business. This team creates
customized solutions and devises plans that willease efficiencies and produce benefits for tlemtivhen implemented.

Comprised of industry experts from tog@r consulting firms and industry market leaders, team of professional consultants provides t
service focus and eCommerce, customer care, logiatid distribution expertise. They have built Bohs for Fortune 1000 and Global 2000
market leaders in a wide range of industries, idiclg multi-channel retailers, apparel, technoldglecommunications, cosmetics, aviation,
housewares, high-value collectibles, sporting gppbdarmaceuticals and several more. Focusing oauvbling infrastructure needs of major
corporations and their business initiatives, oantéhas a solid track record providing consultinyises in the areas of interactive marketing
eCommerce, supply chain management, distributiahfalfillment, technology interfacing, logistics @rcustomer support.

SELLER SERVICES FINANCIAL MODELS
Enablement Financial Model

We refer to the standard PFS seller servicasi€ial model as the “Enablement” model. In thisdel, our clients own the inventory and are
the merchants of record and engage us to provideusbusiness outsourcing services in suppottef business operations. We provide
ecommerce website services, inventory and ordeagement, customer service, payment processingy@grations reports such as product
sales, sales tax, and inventory management repoittsis model, we provide infrastructure and segsiand the clients are responsible for all
financial operations and reporting related to thlestransactions.

The Enablement model should generate net ms&fgi our clients consistent with other retailiersur clients’ product category and the
bottom line financial results for our clients shibble similar to other retailers in their space vieerfee revenues in this model will be reported
in our traditional PFSweb service fee segment.

Agent (Flash) Financial Model

As an additional service, we offer an “Agentddel, or “Flash” model, in which our clients maiim ownership of the product inventory
stored at PFSweb as in the Enablement model. Wicastamer orders the product from our client, asfi’ sale transaction passes product
ownership of each order to a PFSweb subsidiary ith&trn, immediately re-sells the product to thustomer. The “flash” change in ownership
establishes the PFSweb subsidiary as the mercheetard. This enables us to use our existing nartmfrastructure to process sales to end
customers, removing the need for clients to esthlthiese business processes internally, but pergniients to control the sales process to
customers. We accumulate the inventory ownershipseictions and settle them with clients on a miytaglreed upon schedule.

The costs of many of PFSweb services norntilligd on a transaction basis under the Enablemmentel as well as certain administrative
fees and credit risks are covered by the sellinggmainder the Agent model. The bottom line finahecésults for our clients should be similar
to the Enablement model. In this model, the selfiraggin for product sales will typically be repatti@ our traditional PFSweb service fee
segment although in certain situations the prodexgnues will be reported in our PFSweb Retail Bnsiness Connect segment.
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Retail Financial Model

In addition to the Enablement and the Agentlet® we also offer a “Retail” model. Under the &enodel, a PFSweb subsidiary purchases
inventory from the client just as any other clieggeller partner. In the Retail model, we placeitiiteal and replenishment purchase orders\
the client and take ownership of the product upalivdry to our facility.

Because we are the product owner as wellemtrchant of record, we work closely with therdlio plan sales and promotional activities.
Under the Retail model, depending upon the prodatetgory and sales characteristics, we may rethgrelient to provide product price
protection as well as product purchase paymentseright of return, and obsolescence protection@pjate to the product sales profile. Since
we purchase and own the inventory and accounts$vedde, this business model requires significantkivey capital requirements for which we
have senior credit facilities.

The costs of all standard PFSweb services altyrnilled on a transaction basis under the Enablet model as well as certain credit risks
may be covered by the selling margin under theiRetadel arrangement. The bottom line financialutesfor our client should be similar to
the financial benefits from the retail channel aligh unlike the traditional retail channel, oueali controls the presentation and branding c
web site and owns all the customer data from thene@erce activities.

We currently provide the Retail model for atfmm of our Procter & Gamble engagement for DT@s#hrough the P&G eStore. In additi
we use our Retail model to enable our Suppliesribigbrs subsidiary to serve as a global mastérildigor for Ricoh Infoprint Solutions
(“IPS”) printer supplies. In this model, the protlvevenues will be reported in our PFSweb Retadl Business Connect segment.

INDUSTRY INFORMATION AND COMPETITIVE LANDSCAPE
Industry Overview

Business activities in the public and prived¢etors continue to operate in an environmentmfireechnological advancement, increasing
competition and continuous pressure to improveatjpey and supply chain efficiency while decreasingts. We currently see the following
trends within the industry:

» Manufacturers strive to restructure their supplgiok to maximize efficiency and reduce costs ii&2B and DTC markets and
create a variable-cost supply chain able to sughermultiple, unique needs of each of their itii@s, including traditional and
electronic commerct

» Companies in a variety of industries seek outsogreis a method to address one or more businessofusithat are not within the
core business competencies, to reduce operatitg ot improve the speed or cost of implementa

Supply Chain Management Trend

As companies maintain focus on improving theisinesses and balance sheet financial ratiasfisent efforts and investments continue to
be made identifying ways to maximize supply chdfitiency and extend supply chain processes. Warkipital financing, vendor managed
inventory, supply chain visibility software solutig, distribution channel skipping, direct to consuCommerce sales initiatives, and com,
upstream supply chain collaborative technologypaoglucts that manufacturers seek to help them eelyeeater supply chain efficiency.

A key business challenge facing many manufacstand retailers as they evaluate their suppyncéifficiency is in determining how the
trend toward increased direct-to-customer businesigity will impact their traditional B2B and DT@mmerce business models. Order
management and small package fulfillment and digtidn capabilities are becoming increasingly intpor processes as this trend evolves. We
believe manufacturers will look to outsource thr&in-core competency functions to support this miedibusiness model. We believe that
companies will continue to strategically plan foe impact that eCommerce and other new technoldggreeements will have on their
traditional commerce business models and theitiegisechnology and infrastructure capabilities.
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Manufacturers, as buyers of materials, are ialposing new business practices and policiehiein supplier partners to shift the normal
supply chain costs and risks associated with irorgrawnership away from their own balance sheetsoilgh techniques like Vendor Manay
Inventory or Consigned Inventory Programs (“CIRtianufacturers are asking their suppliers, as agbaine supplier selection process, to
provide capabilities where the manufacturer nedgcdnm, or even possess, inventory prior to the emamnent that unit of inventory is requit
as a raw material component or for shipping tostamer. To be successful for all parties, businesdels such as these often require a
sophisticated collection of technological capaieiitthat allow for complete integration and colletimn of the information technology
environments of both the buyer and supplier. Fangple, for an inventory unit to arrive at the pseciequired moment in the manufacturing
facility, it is necessary for the Manufacturing Besce Planning systems of the manufacturer to iategvith the CRM systems of the supplier.
When hundreds of supplier partners are involved,ftocess can become quite complex and technalibgichallenging. Buyers and suppliers
are seeking solutions that utilize XML based prote@nd traditional EDI standards to ensure an gystems platform that promote easier
technology integration in these collaborative sohs.

Outsourcing Trend

In response to growing competitive pressunestachnological innovations, we believe many comgs both large and small, are focusing
their critical resources on the core competendi¢Beir business and utilizing eCommerce and bssipgocess outsourcing to accelerate their
business plans in a cost-effective manner and panfmn-core business functions. Outsourcing camigeomany key benefits, including the
ability to:

» Enter new business markets or geographic areadlya

» Increase flexibility to meet changing business dors and demand for products and servi
» Enhance customer satisfaction and gain competiivantage

* Reduce capital and personnel investments and cofixed investments to variable cos

» Improve operating performance and efficiency;

» Capitalize on skills, expertise and technolodyastructure that would otherwise be unavailablexgensive given the scale of the
business

Typically, many outsourcing service providare focused on a single function, such as infownatchnology, call center management,
credit card processing, warehousing or packageetgli This focus creates several challenges formpemmes looking to outsource more than
of these functions, including the need to managkiphel outsourcing service providers, to share infation with service providers and to
integrate that information into their internal srsis. Additionally, the delivery of these multipergces must be transparent to the customer
and enable the client to maintain brand recognitiod customer loyalty. Furthermore, traditional coence outsourcers are frequently
providers of domestic-only services versus intéoma solutions. As a result, companies requiritapbgl solutions must establish additional
relationships with other outsourcing parties.

Another vital point for major brand name comiga seeking to outsource is the protection of thind. When looking for an outsourcing
partner to provide infrastructure solutions, braathe companies must find a company that can etiseigsame quality performance and
superior experience that their customers expent fteir brands. Working with an outsourcing partregyuires finding a partner that can
maintain the consistency of their brand image, Wiigcone of the most valuable intangible assetsrdwgnized brand name companies
possess.

Competition

We face competition from many different sosrdepending upon the type and range of serviceested by a potential client. Many other
companies offer one or more of the same servicegraxdde on an individual basis. Our competitordude vertical outsourcers, which are
companies that offer a single function solutiorghsas call centers, public warehouses or credit paycessors. We occasionally compete with
transportation logistics providers, known in thdustry as 3PL’s and 4PL’s (third or fourth partgiktics providers), who offer product
management functions as an ancillary service tio linary transportation services. We also compefainst other eCommerce and business
process outsourcing providers, who perform vargrrsices similar to our solution offerings.
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In many instances, we compete with the in-baygerations of our potential clients themselveszaSionally, the operations departments of
potential clients believe they can perform the saamgices we do, at similar quality levels and spatile others are reluctant to outsource
business functions that involve direct customertacin We cannot be certain we will be able to camgeccessfully against these or other
competitors in the future.

Although many of our competitors offer onemwore of our services, we believe our primary contipetadvantage is our ability to offer a
wide array of customized services markete®@BSweb’s End2End eCommeftservices, thereby eliminating any need for oumtt¢o
coordinate these services from many different glerd. We believe we can differentiate ourselvesfisring our clients a very broad range of
eCommerce and business process services that adidresany cases, the entire value chain, from deinb@a delivery.

We also compete on the basis of many otheoitapt additional factors, including:
» operating performance and reliabili
» ease of implementation and integrati
» experience of the people required to successfullyedficiently design and implement solutio
e experience operating similar solutions dynamic:
» leading edge technology capabiliti
» global reach; an
* price.

We believe we can compete favorably with resp@many of these factors. However, the markebio services is competitive and
continually evolving, and we may not be able to peta successfully against current and future coitopgt

COMPANY INFORMATION
Clients and Marketing

Our target clients include online retailersneedl as leading technology and consumer goodsdsréooking to quickly and efficiently
implement or enhance business initiatives, adagit §o-to-market strategies, or introduce new potglor programs, without the burden of
modifying or expanding their technology, customares supply chain and logistics infrastructure. €alutions are applicable to a multitude of
industries and company types and we have provididiens for such companies as:

IPS (printer supplies in several geographéag), Xerox (printers and printer supplies), R@&#asada LTD. (apparel), Hawker Beechcraft
Corp. (facilities management and time-definite éigs supporting parts distribution), Riverbed Treabgies (technology products), LEGO
Brand Retail (toys), Liz Claiborne brands (fashégparel and accessories), P&G (consumer prodéA$FES (military exchange service)
among many others.

We target potential clients through an extem@itegrated marketing program that is comprideal\ariety of direct marketing techniques,
email marketing initiatives, trade event participat search engine marketing, public relations asdphisticated outbound tele-sales lead
generation model. We have also developed an it¢riteessaging matrix that defines our various eCoroena@nd business process outsourcing
solutions and products, the vehicles we utilizdebver marketing communication on these solutipreglucts and the target audience segments
that display a demand for these solutions/prodUdis messaging matrix allows us to deploy highlgeted solution messages to selected key
vertical industry segments where we feel that veeadnle to provide significant service differentatiand value. We also pursue strategic
marketing alliances with consulting firms, softwananufacturers and other logistics providers todase market awareness and generate
referrals and customer leads.

Because of the highly complex nature of tHat&ms we provide, our clients demand significaminpetence and experience from a variety
of different business disciplines during the salgde. As such, we utilize a selected member ofsemior executive team to lead the design
proposal development of each potential new cliemthoose to pursue. The senior executive is sugpost a select group of highly
experienced individuals from our professional sgggigroup with specific industry knowledge or eigase to the solutions development
process. We employ a team of highly trained impletaigon managers whose responsibilities includeothegsight and
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supervision of client projects and maintaining higbels of client satisfaction during the transitiorocess between the various stages of the
sales cycle and steady state operations.

Technology

We maintain advanced management informatistesys and have automated key business functiong asline, reatime or batch systerr
These systems enable us to provide informationermity sales, inventory status, customer paymertther operations that are essential for
us and our clients to efficiently manage electrammmerce and supply chain business programs. y3terss are designed to scale rapidly to
handle the transaction processing demands of @mntsland our growth.

We employ technology from a select group aofd@s. For example, we deploy IBM e-servers andiort printers in appropriate models to
run web site functions as well as order manageestdistribution functions. We utilize Avaya Comnuation for telephone switch and call
center management functions and to interact witftazuers via voice, e-mail or chat. Avaya Commumicatechnology also allows us to share
web pages between customers and our service repadges. We have the ability to transmit and reeeioice, data and video simultaneously
on a single network connection to a customer toenedfiectively serve that customer for our cliente@s’ interest in using this technology
stems from its ability to allow shoppers to consuith known experts in a way that the customer sesrior to purchasing. Our sophisticated
computer-telephony integration has been accomplislyecombining systems software from IBM and Av&@nmunication together with our
own application development. We use AT&T for ourpte enterprise network and long distance carvige.use Oracle’s J.D. Edwards as the
software provider for the primary ERP applicatitingt we use in our operational areas and finasecgds. We use Dematic/Rapistan Materials
Handling Automation for our automated order setattautomated conveyor and “pick-to-light” (inventoetrieval) systems, and Symbol
Technologies/Telxon for our warehouse radio fregyepplications. Our Warehouse Management SystewAS”) and Distribution
Requirements Planning (“DRP”) system have beenldped in-house to meet the varied unique requirgsneiour vertical markets. Both the
WMS and DRP are tightly integrated to both the Na@xtmerican and European deployments of our J.D.d&EdsV system.

Many internal infrastructures are not suffitito support the explosive growth in e-businessiagketplaces, supply chain compression,
distribution channel realignment and the correspandemand for real-time information necessarystoategic decision-making and product
fulfillment. To address this need, we have cre@E8web’s End2End eCommefgaatform to enable companies with little or no e@oence
infrastructure to speed their time to market andimize resource investment and risk, and allowsa@thpanies involved to improve the
efficiency of their supply chain.

Using the various components of our collaboratechnology suite, we can assist our clientsasily integrating their web sites or ERP
systems to our systems for real-time web serviedlked transaction processing without regard foir tmerdware platform or operating system.
This high-level of systems integration allows olients to automatically process orders, custom& dad other eCommerce information. We
also can track information sent to us by the clanit moves through our systems in the same manoairier would track a package
throughout the delivery process. Our systems enabte track, at a detailed level, information reed, transmission timing, any errors or
special processing required and information seck bathe client.

We provide technology interfaces to our baffice applications including our customized OraglB. Edwards order management and
fulfillment application. We utilize Gentran Integi@n Suite™ (“GIS”) as our technology platform fénterprise Application Integration with
our clients and client’s trading partners. With Gi# have greatly increased our ability to quidtésign and deploy customized B2B and DTC
eCommerce solutions for our clients by utilizingpust business process modeling tool and a higgdiable operating infrastructure. This
platform facilitates the efficient and secure exa®of electronic business transactions/documardsiide variety of formats (i.e. XML, X.12
EDI, delimited text, IDOCS) and communication piils (i.e. FTP/SFTP, AS2/HTTP/HTTPS, AS1 SMTP, M&i&s and SOA Web
Services).

We have invested in advanced telecommunicsitioomputer telephony, electronic mail and messggintomated fax technology, IVR
technology, barcode scanning, wireless technolfiggr optic network communications and automateimory management systems. We
have also developed and utilize
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telecommunications technology that provides foomatic customer call recognition and customer fgaécall for inbound customer service
representatives.

The primary responsibility of our systems depenent team of IT professionals is directed atlengenting custom solutions for new clients
and maintaining existing client relationships. @awelopment team can also produce proprietary sysiefrastructure to expand our
capabilities in circumstances where we cannot @gelstandard solutions from commercial providers.afgo utilize temporary and/or conti
resources when needed for additional capacity.

Our information technology operations andasfructure are built on the premise of reliabititd scalability. We maintain diesel generators
and un-interruptible power supply equipment to jewconstant availability to computer rooms, calhters and warehouses. Multiple Internet
service providers and redundant web servers prdueide high degree of availability to web sitesttimerface with our systems. Capacity
planning and upgrading is performed regularly tovafor quick implementation of new clients and mlvtime-consuming infrastructure
upgrades that could slow growth rates. In the egéatdisastrous situation, we also have a Dis&teovery Plan that provides geographically
separated and comparably equipped data centerarthable to recover stored data in a reasonableféective manner.

Strategy

We continue to maintain our simple but effeetstrategy statement to drive our actions, QGIs atronym stands for Quality, Growth and
Profit. We believe that if we can achieve outstaggierformance on these three basic elementswitigyrovide for a stable foundation for o
future. As the evolution of our business model ourgs, we will remain focused on these three furetaais:

Quality : To exceed our client’s service level requirememtd enhance the value of their “bramdiile providing their customers a positi
memorable and efficient experience.

Growth: To increase our revenue and gross profit fronsutsent levels. To aggressively market simplifigdduct messages to drive new
clients and revenue and profit growth. To becortegger company and create career and additionaloyiment opportunitiesEmbrace
strategic partnering to accentuate strengths andmnizie weaknesses.

Profit: To generate positive cash flow and continue teatior consistent profitable results. To incredsevalue of our company for all of
its stakeholders while rewarding our team membéifs ehallenging, fun and memorable life experiences

The successful balance of the execution (feiendamental strategies is targeted to restifieiiormation of a solid strategic and financial
foundation and provide us a sustainable and phdéitausiness model for the future.

See “Risk Factors” for a complete discussibrisk factors related to our ability to achiever @bjectives and fulfill our business strategies.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had approximatelp0 employees, of which approximately 900 weoated in the United States. We have
never suffered an interruption of business as atrefa labor dispute. We consider our relatiopshith our employees to be good. In the U.S.,
Canada and Philippines, we are not a party to aligative bargaining agreements and while our Eeanpsubsidiaries are not a party to a
collective-bargaining agreement, they are requioecbmply with certain rules mentioned in colleetivargaining agreements agreed upon by
representatives of their industry (logistics) amébns.

Our success in recruiting, hiring and trainiagye numbers of skilled employees and obtainemgd numbers of hourly employees during
peak periods for distribution and call center ofiere is critical to our ability to provide high glity distribution and support services. Call
center representatives and distribution persoreuaive feedback on their performance on a regasistand, as appropriate, are recognized for
superior performance or
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given additional training. Generally, our clienteyide specific product training for our customensgce representatives and, in certain
instances, on-site client personnel to provide ifipgechnical support. To maintain good employekations and to minimize employee
turnover, we strive to offer competitive pay, himémarily full-time employees who are eligible teceive a full range of employee benefits, and
provide employees with clear, visible career paths.

Internet Access to Reports

We maintain an Internet website, www.pfswetnc@ur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report Form 10-Q, and current reports
on Form 8-K (and amendments, if any, to those tefdded or furnished pursuant to Section 13(al®d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) are made available, free of charge, throhghrvestor relations section of this website assas reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material, or furnish itttee Securities and Exchange Commission. The irdtion on this website is not incorporated in
this report.

Government Regulation

We are subject to federal, state, local amelidm consumer protection laws, including laws ecting the privacy of our customers’
personally identifiable information and other nambsfic information and regulations prohibiting unfand deceptive trade practices.
Furthermore, the growth and demand for online cormembas and may continue to result in more stringensumer protection laws that
impose additional compliance burdens and greatealpes on online companies. Moreover, there reiadt toward regulations requiring
companies to provide consumers with greater inféionaegarding, and greater control over, how tpeirsonal data is used, and requiring
notification where unauthorized access to such dedars. For example, many states currently requir® notify each of our customers who
are affected by any data security breach in whichreauthorized person, such as a computer hadiine such customer’s name and one or
more of the customer’s social security number,atts/license number, credit or debit card numbestber similar personal information. In
addition, several jurisdictions, including foreigountries, have adopted privacy-related laws thstrict or prohibit unsolicited email
promotions, commonly known as “spam,” and that isgsignificant monetary and other penalties folations. One such law, the “CAN-
SPAM” Act of 2003, became effective in the Unite@t8s on January 1, 2004 and imposes complex, hswdee and often ambiguous
requirements in connection with our sending comimégsenail to our customers and potential customdeover, in an effort to comply with
these laws, Internet service providers may incneggiblock legitimate marketing emails. These cansuprotection laws may become more
stringent in the future and could result in subsgugcompliance costs and could interfere with ¢baduct of our business.

We collect sales or other similar taxes fdpstents of goods in certain states. One or moral |atate or foreign jurisdictions may seek to
impose sales tax collection obligations on us ahéroout-of-state companies that engage in onlkimengerce. If sales tax obligations are
successfully imposed upon us by a state or othisdjation, we could be exposed to substantialitbilities for past sales and fines and
penalties for failure to collect sales taxes anccaudld suffer decreased sales in that state agdiation as the effective cost of purchasing gt
from us increases for those residing in that stajerisdiction. In addition, new legislation orgation, the application of laws and regulations
from jurisdictions whose laws do not currently gpta our business or the application of existingdand regulations to the Internet and
commercial online services could result in sigrifitadditional taxes or regulatory restrictionsoon business. These taxes could have an
adverse effect on our cash flows and results ofatjpms. Furthermore, there is a possibility thatmay be subject to significant fines or other
payments for any past failures to comply with thespiirements.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition and operatingulés could be adversely affected by any or alheffollowing factors, in which event the
trading price of our common stock could declined gou could lose part or all of your investment.
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General Risks Related to Our Business

Our business and future growth depend on our contéd access to bank and commercial financing. An en@in or recessed economy may
negatively impact our business, results of operaspfinancial condition or liquidity.

During the past several years, the credit etar&nd the financial services industry have baperéencing a period of unprecedented turr
and upheaval characterized by the bankruptcy,rigikeollapse or sale of various financial instiias and an unprecedented level of interve:
from the United States and foreign governmentsuAcertain or recessed economy could also adveirsglgct our customers’ operations or
ability to maintain liquidity, which may negativeljnpact our business and results of operations.

Our business and future growth currently dejpgmour ability to access bank and commerciakliokcredit. We currently depend on an
aggregate of approximately $108 million in linecoédit facilities provided by various banks and ceencial lenders. These lines of credit
currently mature at various dates through March428id are secured by substantially all our as@etsability to renew our line of credit
facilities depends upon various factors, includimg availability of bank loans and commercial cr@uigeneral, as well as our financial
condition and prospects. Therefore, we cannot guieesthat these credit facilities will continuebi® available beyond their current maturities
on reasonable terms or at all. Our inability toeneror replace our credit facilities or find altetima financing would materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition, operating resatd cash flow.

Our clients and customers may be unable to pay asdur products and services

Our clients and customers include some conggahiat may from time to time encounter financidflallties, especially in light of the
current economic environment and the turmoil indredit markets. If a client’s or customer’s finaidifficulties become severe, they may be
unwilling or unable to pay our invoices in the oraiy course of business, which could adverselycaffellections of both our accounts
receivable and unbilled services. The bankruptcy clfent or customer with a substantial accouceirable could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results otogtions. In addition, if a client or customer deek bankruptcy after paying us certain
invoices, a court may determine that we are ngpgny entitled to that payment and may require yepent of some or all of the amounts we
received, which could adversely affect our finahc@ndition and results of operations.

We anticipate incurring significant expenses in tliereseeable future, which may reduce our abilitydchieve or maintain profitability.

To reach our business growth objectives, wg imerease our operating and marketing expensegsekhss capital expenditures. To offset
these expenses, we will need to generate additppoéitable business. If our revenue grows slovaanteither we anticipate or our clients’
projections indicate, or if our operating and mérigexpenses exceed our expectations, we mayamargte sufficient revenue to be profite
or be able to sustain or increase profitabilityaoguarterly or an annual basis in the future. Adddlly, if our revenue grows slower than either
we anticipate or our clients’ projections indicates may incur unnecessary or redundant costs andpauating results could be adversely
affected.

Changes to financial accounting standards may affewr reported results of operations.

We prepare our financial statements to confartdnited States generally accepted accountingimies, or GAAP. GAAP is subject to
interpretation by the Financial Accounting StanddBdard, the SEC and various bodies formed topné¢rand create appropriate accounting
policies. A change in those policies can have aisignt effect on our reported results and mayneaffect our reporting of transactions that
were completed before a change is announced. Atioguniles affecting many aspects of our businesdiding rules relating to accounting
for revenue recognition, arrangements involvingtipld deliverables and operating leases, have tickeen revised or are currently under
review. Changes to those rules or current inteatimt of those rules may have a material advefsetedn our reported financial results or on
the way we conduct our business.

We operate with significant levels of indebtednessl are required to comply with certain financiaha non-financial covenants; we are
required to maintain a minimum level of subordinatdoans to our subsidiary
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Supplies Distributors; and we have guaranteed céntandebtedness and obligations of our subsidiari®spplies Distributors and eCOS’

As of December 31, 2010, our total creditlfaes outstanding, including debt, capital leabigations and our vendor accounts payable
related to financing of IPS product inventory, veaproximately $48.2 million. Certain of the crefitilities have maturity dates in calendar
year 2012, but are classified as current liabglitreour consolidated financial statements givenuhderlying nature of the credit facility. v
cannot provide assurance that our credit facilitidsbe renewed by the lending parties. Additidpathese credit facilities include both
financial and non-financial covenants, many of vahé¢so include cross default provisions applicablether agreements. These covenants alsc
restrict our ability to transfer funds among ourieas subsidiaries, which may adversely affectah#ity of our subsidiaries to operate their
businesses or comply with their respective loarecants. We cannot provide assurance that we wableto maintain compliance with these
covenants. Any non-renewal or any default undercfrour credit facilities would have a material adse impact upon our business and
financial condition. In addition we have providetl$million of subordinated indebtedness to Sugpléstributors as of December 31, 2010.
The maximum level of this subordinated indebtedtesupplies Distributors that may be provided withapproval from our lenders is
$5.0 million. The restrictions on increasing thisaunt without lender approval may limit our abilttycomply with certain loan covenants or
further grow and develop Supplies Distributors’ibess. We have guaranteed most of the indebtedfi€@spplies Distributors. Furthermore,
we are obligated to repay any over-advance ma8applies Distributors by its lenders to the ex@mpplies Distributors is unable to do so.
We have also guaranteed our subsidiary eCOST'sisillibn credit line, as well as certain of its i trade payables.

We are dependent on our key personnel, and we rteddre and retain skilled personnel to sustain obusiness.

Our performance is highly dependent on thdinaad services of our executive officers and oltesr personnel, the loss of any of whom
could materially adversely affect our businessaddition, we need to attract and retain other lyigilled, technical and managerial personnel
for whom there is intense competition. We cannstiessyou we will be able to attract and retaingbesonnel necessary for the continuing
growth of our business. Our inability to attractlaatain qualified technical and managerial pereboould materially adversely affect our
ability to maintain and grow our business signifitha.

We are subject to risks associated with our intetinaal operations.

We currently operate a distribution centekidge, Belgium with approximately 150,000 squaret fend a distribution center in Markham,
Ontario, Canada with approximately 23,000 squage e also operate a facility in the Philippingghvapproximately 7,000 square feet to
provide call center and customer service functeoms technical support. We cannot assure you thatilvbe successful in expanding in these
or any additional international markets. In addlitio the uncertainty regarding our ability to gerterevenue from foreign operations and
expand our international presence, there are niglexent in doing business internationally, inchgdi

« changing regulatory requiremen

» legal uncertainty regarding foreign laws, tariffelaother trade barrier

» political instability;

» potentially adverse tax consequenc

» foreign currency fluctuations; at

» cultural differences

Any one or more of these factors could mallgreedversely affect our business in a number ofsyauch as increased costs, operational
difficulties and reductions in revenue.
We are uncertain about our need for and the availléty of additional funds.

Our future capital needs are difficult to gotdWe may require additional capital to take attege of unanticipated opportunities, including
strategic alliances and acquisitions and to furpitabexpenditures, or to respond to changing kessirconditions and unanticipated compet
pressures. We may also require additional
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funds to finance operating losses. Should thesamistances arise, our existing cash balance adi taeilities may be insufficient and we
may need to raise additional funds either by boimgwnoney or issuing additional equity. We canrsstuae you that such resources will be
adequate or available for all of our future finargcheeds. Our inability to finance our growth, eitimternally or externally, may limit our
growth potential and our ability to execute ouribass strategy. If we are successful in complegimgdditional equity financing, this could
result in further dilution to our shareholders educe the market value of our common stock.

We may engage in future strategic alliances or agitions that could dilute our existing shareholdgrcause us to incur significant
expenses or harm our business.

We may review strategic alliance or acquisitipportunities that would complement our currargibess or enhance our technological
capabilities. Integrating any newly acquired busges, technologies or services may be expensivéraaeconsuming. To finance any
acquisitions, it may be necessary for us to raisiti@nal funds through borrowing money or compigtpublic or private financings.
Additional funds may not be available on terms #ratfavorable to us and, in the case of equignfaings, may result in dilution to our
shareholders. We may not be able to operate anyiradcpusinesses profitably or otherwise implenmoenmtgrowth strategy successfully. If we
are unable to integrate any newly acquired enté@rgechnologies effectively, our operating resatisld suffer. Future acquisitions could also
result in incremental expenses and the incurrehdelat and contingent liabilities, any of which @harm our operating results.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, current and potential shareholders dduose confidence in our financial reporting, whittcould harm our business and tr
trading price of our common stock.

Based on the current requirements, and ouigfldat, we are not required to comply with tleguirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act to obtain a report by our independentitaus opining on the effectiveness of our interc@trols over financial reporting. If we fail
to correct any issues in the design or operatifecg¥eness of internal controls over financialoging or fail to prevent fraud, current and
potential shareholders could lose confidence infimancial reporting, which could harm our businass the trading price of our common
stock.

Delivery of our and our client’ products could be delayed or disrupted by factbesyond our control, and we could lose customerslan
clients as a result.

We rely upon third party carriers for timelglivery of our and our clients’ product shipmemts.a result, we are subject to carrier
disruptions and increased costs due to factorsatiealbeyond our control, including employee strilkeslement weather and increased fuel
costs. Any failure to deliver products to our amal dients’ customers in a timely and accurate neamnay damage our reputation and brand
and could cause us to lose customers and cliergaaffnot be sure that our relationships with thady carriers will continue on terms
favorable to us, if at all. If our relationship wiany of these third party carriers is terminatedrgaired or if any of these third parties is ulex
to deliver products, we would be required to userahtive carriers for the shipment of our anddignts’ products to customers. We may be
unable to engage alternative carriers on a timagisor on favorable terms, if at all. Potentialexde consequences include:

» reduced visibility of order status and packagekiray;
» delays in order processing and product deliv
» increased cost of delivery, resulting in reducedgime; anc

» reduced shipment quality, which may result in daegagroducts and customer dissatisfact

Our profitability could be adversely affected ifétpperation of our distribution or call center falies were interrupted or shut down as the
result of a natural disaster.

We operate a majority of our distribution fdigs in and around the Memphis, Tennessee aréaancall center operations are centered in
Plano, Texas. Any natural disaster or other seriisrsiption to these facilities due to fire, tornaflood or any other cause would substantially
disrupt our operations and would impair our abitiyadequately service our customers. In additi@could incur significantly higher costs
during the time it takes for
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us to reopen or replace any one or more of thesigits, which may or may not be reimbursed byurace. As a result, disruption at one or
more of these facilities could adversely affect profitability.

We may be a party to litigation involving our eCorence intellectual property rights. If third partieslaim we are infringing their
intellectual property rights, we could incur signéant litigation costs, be required to pay damagesgchange our business or incur licensing
expenses.

In recent years, there has been significéigation in the United States involving patent atlder intellectual property rights. We may be a
party to intellectual property litigation in thetéwe to protect our trade secrets or know-how. éthBtates patent applications are confidential
until a patent is issued and most technologiesiaveloped in secret. Accordingly, we are not, aathot be, aware of all patents or other
intellectual property rights of which our servigeay pose a risk of infringement. Others assertigigts against us could force us to defend
ourselves or our customers against alleged infritege of intellectual property rights. We could insubstantial costs to prosecute or defend
any such litigation.

Third parties have asserted, and may in theduassert, that our business or the technolaggesse infringe on their intellectual property
rights. As a result, we may be subject to intellatproperty legal proceedings and claims in tlténary course of business. We cannot predict
whether third parties will assert claims of infremgent in the future or whether any future claimié prevent us from offering popular products
or services. If we are found to infringe, we mayéguired to pay monetary damages, which couldigdetreble damages and attorneys’ fees
for any infringement that is found to be willfuhéeither be enjoined or required to pay ongoinglitees with respect to any technologies
found to infringe. Further, as a result of infringent claims either against us or against thoselighnse technology to us, we may be required,
or deem it advisable, to develop non-infringinghtealogy, which could be costly and time consumarggnter into costly royalty or licensing
agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreemdmsquired, may be unavailable on terms that aceptable, or at all. If a third party
successfully asserts an infringement claim agaisstnd we are enjoined or required to pay monelanyages or royalties or we are unable to
develop suitable non-infringing alternatives oelise the infringed or similar technology on reabtmterms on a timely basis, our business,
results of operations and financial condition cduvédmaterially harmed.

A breach of our eCommerce security measures co@duce demand for our services. Credit card frauddasther fraud could adversel
affect our business.

A requirement of the continued growth of eCoence is the secure transmission of confidentiarimition over public networks. A party
who is able to circumvent our security measuresdcousappropriate proprietary information or intgst our operations. Any compromise or
elimination of our security could reduce demanddor services.

We may be required to expend significant @@ihd other resources to protect against sedurétstches or to address any problem they may
cause. Because our activities involve the storaget@nsmission of proprietary information, suctceslit card numbers, security breaches
could damage our reputation, cause us to losetslienpact our ability to attract new clients ané @ould be exposed to litigation and possible
liability. Our security measures may not preverusity breaches, and failure to prevent securigabhes may disrupt our operations. In cel
circumstances, we do not carry insurance agaiestisk of credit card fraud and other fraud, softtieire to adequately control fraudulent
transactions on either our behalf or our cliengbdf could increase our expenses.

We may be liable for misappropriation of our custens’ and our clients’ customers’ personal informaiti.

Data security laws are becoming more stringetite United States and abroad. Third partiegagaging in increased cyber attacks against
companies doing business on the Internet and itails are increasingly subjected to identity amdlitrcard theft on the Internet. If third
parties or unauthorized employees are able to pmpeaiur network security or otherwise misapprdpraur or our clients’ customers’ personal
information or credit card information, or if wevgithird parties or our employees improper acaessistomers’ personal information or credit
card information, we could be subject to liabilihis liability could include claims for unauthoeid purchases with credit card information,
impersonation or other similar fraud claims. Thadbility could also include
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claims for other misuses of personal informatioejuding unauthorized marketing purposes. Liabfiitymisappropriation of this information
could decrease our profitability. In such circumstss, we also could be liable for failing to pravitimely notice of a data security breach
affecting certain types of personal informationatidition, the Federal Trade Commission and sggaaes have brought numerous
enforcement actions against Internet companiealfeged deficiencies in those companies’ privaay data security practices, and they may
continue to bring such actions. We could incur tiddal expenses if new regulations regarding tHkection, use or storage of personal
information are introduced or if government ages@iestigate our privacy or security practices.

We rely on encryption and authentication tetbgy licensed from third parties to provide thewgéty and authentication necessary to effect
secure transmission of sensitive customer infolwnaguch as customer credit card numbers. Advancesmputer capabilities, new discovel
in the field of cryptography or other events or elepments may result in a compromise or breacheatgorithms that we use to protect
customer transaction data. If any such compronfiseaurity were to occur, it could subject us #&bility, damage our reputation and diminish
the value of our brand-name. A party who is ableitoumvent the security measures could misappatgpproprietary information or cause
interruptions in operations. We may be requiredxpend significant capital and other resourcegdtept against such security breaches or to
alleviate problems caused by such breaches. Ourisemeasures are designed to prevent securigches, but our failure to prevent such
security breaches could subject us to liabilitypdge our reputation and diminish the value of sant-name.

We also may provide non-secured channelsUstoeners to communicate. Despite the increasedigedsks, customers may use such
channels to send personal information and othesithem data. In addition, “phishing” incidents are the rise. Phishing involves an online
company'’s customers being tricked into providingititredit card numbers or account informationdmeone pretending to be the online
company’s representative. Such incidents have tlycgiven rise to litigation against online compasifor failing to take sufficient steps to
police against such activities by third parties] amy discourage customers from using online sesvic

Specific Risks Related to Our Business Process Oatsgcing Business

Our service fee revenue and gross margin is depemdgon our clients’business and transaction volumes and our costs; mafiour client
service agreements are terminable by the clientvdl, we may incur financial penalties if we faild meet contractual service levels unc
certain client service agreements.

Our service fee revenue is primarily trangactased and fluctuates with the volume of transastor level of sales of the products by our
clients for whom we provide transaction managersentices. If we are unable to retain existing ¢8eor attract new clients or if we dedicate
significant resources to clients whose business doegenerate sufficient revenue or whose prodietsot generate substantial customer <
our business may be materially adversely affedttmeover, our ability to estimate service fee rawefor future periods is substantially
dependent upon our clients’ and our own projectitims accuracy of which has been, and will contittuee, unpredictable. Therefore, our
planning for client activity and targeted goals $ervice fee revenue and gross margin may be ratyeadversely affected by incomplete,
delayed or inaccurate projections. In addition, ynahour service agreements with our clients armieable by the client at will. Therefore, we
cannot assure you that any of our clients will carg to use our services for any period of timee Tdss of a significant amount of service fee
revenue due to client terminations could have aratadverse effect on our ability to cover oustsaand thus on our profitability. Certain of
our client service agreements contain minimum serigvel requirements and impose financial persitiere fail to meet such requirements.
The imposition of a substantial amount of such fiEmsacould have a material adverse effect on asirtess and operations.

We subcontract a portion of our client servicesttord parties, and we are subject to various risksd liabilities if such subcontractors do
not provide the subcontracted services or providerh in a manner that does not meet required seni®eels.

We currently, and may in the future, subcarttta one or more third parties a portion of oud-¢m-end solution service offering. Although
our end-to-end solution service clients genergbigrave in advance the designation of the subcaiotrand its provision of the subcontracted
services, under the terms of our contracts withemd-to-end solution service clients, we remaibléao provide such subcontracted services
and may be liable for the
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actions and omissions of such subcontractors. aicenstances, our end-to-end solution servigetd prepay in advance a portion of the
service fees payable in respect of the subconttaetevices, and, under certain circumstances,divgduour breach or the breach by our
subcontractor of our or their respective obligatiome are liable to refund all or a portion of spcapaid fees. Consequently, in the event our
subcontractor fails to provide the subcontractedises in compliance with required services levetsptherwise breaches its obligations, or
discontinues its business, whether as the resbhokruptcy, insolvency or otherwise, we may beliregl to provide such services at a higher
cost to us and may otherwise be liable for varimagts and expenses related to such event. In adldithy such failure may damage our
reputation and otherwise result in a material astvaffect upon our business and financial condition

Our business is subject to the risk of customer aupplier concentration.

For fiscal year 2010, four clients represeratpdroximately 33% of our service fee revenue (gkidg pass-through revenue). The loss of
any one or more of these clients may have a masaeheerse effect upon our business and financiadlition.

The majority of our Supplies Distributors pustirevenue is generated by sales of product paechander master distributor agreements
with InfoPrint Solutions Company (“IPS”). These agments are terminable at will and no assurancéegiven that IPS will continue the
master distributor agreements with Supplies Distdbs. Supplies Distributors does not have its gales force and relies upon IPS’s sales
force and product demand generation activitiestéosale of IPS product. Discontinuance of suclvaiets would have a material adverse eff
on Supplies Distributors’ business and our ovdiadincial condition.

Sales by Supplies Distributors to three custegnn the aggregate accounted for approximatedy 8id 40% of Supplies Distributors’ total
product revenue for each of the years ended DeaeBih@010 and 2009, respectively (24% and 27%uofconsolidated net revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respggtiVeke loss of any one or more of such custonwrapr-payment of any material amot
by these or any other customer, would have a nstdiverse effect upon Supplies Distributors’ besi

Our operating results are materially impacted byratlient mix and the seasonality of their business.

Our business is materially impacted by owrdlimix and the seasonality of their business. @agp®n our current client mix and their
current projected business volumes, we anticipateevenue will be at its lowest in the first qeairdf our fiscal year and at its highest in the
fourth quarter of our fiscal year. We are unableredict how the seasonality of future clients’ibess may affect our quarterly revenue and
whether the seasonality may change due to modditsito a client’s business. As such, we beliewat tbsults of operations for a quarterly
period may not be indicative of the results for attyer quarter or for the full year.

Our systems may not accommodate significant growtlour number of clients.

Our success depends on our ability to hanthege number of transactions for many differefdndk in various product categories. We
expect that the volume of transactions will inceeaignificantly as we expand our operations. K ticurs, additional stress will be placed
upon the network hardware and software that managiegperations. We cannot assure you of our gltdiefficiently manage a large number
of transactions. If we are not able to maintairappropriate level of operating performance, we aeyelop a negative reputation, and impair
existing and prospective client relationships andhlsiness would be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to recover all or a portion afrstart-up costs associated with one or more of clients.

We generally incur start-up costs in connectidth the planning and implementation of busingsgess solutions for our clients. Although
we generally attempt to recover these costs franclient in the early stages of the client relagiup, or upon contract termination if the client
terminates without cause prior to full amortizatifithese costs, there is a risk that the clientra@t may not fully cover the start-up costs. To
the extent start-up costs exceed the start-upréaesved, certain excess costs will be expensétcasred. Additionally, in connectiowith new
client contracts we generally incur capital expaméis associated with assets whose primary usdaited to the client solution. There is a risk
that the contract may end before expected and wenmitarecover the full amount of our capital costs.

20




Table of Contents

Our revenue and margins may be materially impactgdclient transaction volumes that differ from cli¢ projections and business
assumptions.

Our pricing for client transaction servicesgls as call center and fulfillment, is often baspdn volume projections and business
assumptions provided by the client and our antieip@osts to perform such work. In the event thieadevel of activity or cost is substantia
different from the projections or assumptions, wayrhave insufficient or excess staffing, incremeotsts or other assets dedicated for such
client that may negatively impact our margins aodiess relationship with such client. In the eweatare unable to meet the service levels
expected by the client, our relationship with thient will suffer and may result in financial petias and/or the termination of the client
contract.

We face competition from many sources that couldracsely affect our business.

Many companies offer, on an individual basisg or more of the same services we do, and wecfaopetition from many different sources
depending upon the type and range of services steldy a potential client. Our competitors includetical outsourcers, which are compal
that offer a single function, such as call centpahlic warehouses or credit card processors. \Wete against transportation logistics
providers who offer product management functionaraancillary service to their primary transpodatservices. We also compete against
other business process outsourcing providers, vehfopn many similar services as us. Many of thesepanies have greater capabilities than
we do for the single or multiple functions they yide. In many instances, our competition is théduse operations of its potential clients
themselves. The ihoeuse operations of potential clients often beliga they can perform the same services we ddewtiiers are reluctant
outsource business functions that involve direstamer contact. We cannot be certain that we ilhble to compete successfully against
these or other competitors in the future.

Our sales and implementation cycles are highly \adrie and our ability to finalize pending contracisay cause our operating results to vary
widely.

The sales cycle for our services is variatylgically ranging between several months to up year or longer from initial contact with the
potential client to the signing of a contract. Gsioaally the sales cycle requires substantiallyariome. Delays in signing and executing client
contracts may affect our revenue and cause ouabpgresults to vary widely. A potential clientlecision to purchase our services is
discretionary, involves a significant commitmentloé clients resources and is influenced by intense intemglexternal pricing and operati
comparisons. To successfully sell our servicesgereerally must educate our potential clients reigarthe use and benefit of our services,
which can require significant time and resourcemsegquently, the period between initial contact aedourchase of our services is often long
and subject to delays associated with the lengbipyaval and competitive evaluation processes timtally accompany significant operational
decisions. Additionally, the time required to fiizal pending contracts and to implement our systemisintegrate a new client can range from
several weeks to many months. Delays in signingitegrating new clients may affect our revenue eaugse our operating results to vary
widely.

Our business could be adversely affected by a syster equipment failure, whether that of us or oalients.

Our operations are dependent upon our abdifyrotect our distribution facilities, customensee centers, computer and
telecommunications equipment and software systgyasst damage and failures. Damage or failuresdoadult from fire, power loss,
equipment malfunctions, system failures, natursdsliers and other causes. If our business isupted either from accidents or the intentional
acts of others, our business could be materialeesly affected. In addition, in the event of véigeead damage or failures at our facilities,
short-term disaster recovery and contingency péemtsinsurance coverage may not be sufficient.

Our clients’ businesses may also be harmed &y system or equipment failures we experiencédt event, our relationship with these
clients may be adversely affected, we may losectiobents, our ability to attract new clients mayduversely affected and we could be
exposed to liability.
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Interruptions could also result from the iritenal acts of others, like “hackers.” If our syst®are penetrated by computer hackers, or if
computer viruses infect our systems, our computentd fail or proprietary information could be mpgaopriated.

If our clients suffer similar interruptions tihheir operations, for any of the reasons discuafede or for others, our business could also be
adversely affected. Many of our clients’ computgstems interface with our systems. If our clienifes interruptions in their systems, the link
to our systems could be severed and sales of itat’slproducts could be slowed or stopped.

Risks Related to the Business Process Outsourcingdustry
If the trend toward outsourcing does not continueyr business could be adversely affect

Our business could be materially adverselgaéd if the trend toward outsourcing declinesewerses, or if corporations bring previously
outsourced functions back in-house. Particularlgrdugeneral economic downturns, businesses may lmihouse previously outsourced
functions to avoid or delay layoffs.

Our market is subject to rapid technological changad to compete we must continually enhance ourntsgss to comply with evolving
standards

To remain competitive, we must continue toarde and improve the responsiveness, functioratitiyfeatures of our services and the
underlying network infrastructure. If we are unatdedapt to changing market conditions, clientinements or emerging industry standards,
our business could be adversely affected. Theriateand eCommerce environments are characterizeapiy technological change, change
user requirements and preferences, frequent nesupr@and service introductions embodying new tetdgies and the emergence of new
industry standards and practices that could readetechnology and systems obsolete. Our succéisdepiend, in part, on our ability to both
internally develop and license leading technolotesnhance our existing services and develop mevices. We must continue to address the
increasingly sophisticated and varied needs otbents and respond to technological advances aretgng industry standards and practices
on a coseffective and timely basis. The development of pedpry technology involves significant technicablabusiness risks. We may fail
develop new technologies effectively or to adaptproprietary technology and systems to client negoents or emerging industry standards.

Risks Related to Our Stock

The market price of our common stock may be voktiYou may not be able to sell your shares at ooabthe price at which you purchased
such shares

The trading price of our common stock may ligiect to wide fluctuations in response to quarbequarter fluctuations in operating results,
announcements of material adverse events, geraditions in our industry or the public marketplacel other events or factors. In addition,
stock markets have experienced extreme price adéhty volume volatility in recent years. This vdigt has had a substantial effect on the
market prices of securities of many technologyteslacompanies for reasons frequently unrelatetleémperating performance of the specific
companies. These broad market fluctuations mayradiyeaffect the market price of our common stdoladdition, if our operating results
differ from our announced guidance or the expemtatiof equity research analysts or investors, the pf our common stock could decrease
significantly.

Our stock price could decline if a significant nuneb of shares become available for sale.

As of December 31, 2010, we have an aggregfdée3 million stock options outstanding to emplegedirectors and others with a weighted
average exercise price of $4.28 per share. Thestwicommon stock that may be issued upon exestigeese options may be resold into the
public market. Sales of substantial amounts of comstock in the public market as a result of thereise of these options, or the perception
that future sales of these shares could occurdaaduce the market price of our common stock aaklenit more difficult to sell equity
securities in the future.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws, ourhsreholder rights plan and Delaware law make it fidult for a third party to acquire us,
despite the possible benefit to our shareholders.
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Provisions of our certificate of incorporatjaur bylaws, our shareholder rights plan and DataWaw could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so woukddeneficial to our shareholders. For example cedtificate of incorporation provides for a
classified board of directors, meaning that onlgragimately one-third of our directors may be sabje re-election at each annual shareholder
meeting. Our certificate of incorporation also pegsnour Board of Directors to issue one or moréesenf preferred stock, which may have
rights and preferences superior to those of thenmomstock. The ability to issue preferred stocklddave the effect of delaying or preventing
a third party from acquiring us. We have also addyat shareholder rights plan. These provisionsdcdiscourage takeover attempts and could
materially adversely affect the price of our stdckaddition, because we are incorporated in Dedlaywae are governed by the provisions of
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,halich may prohibit large shareholders from conswating a merger with, or acquisition
of us. These provisions may prevent a merger aniaitgpn that would be attractive to shareholderd eould limit the price that investors
would be willing to pay in the future for our commstock.

There are limitations on the liabilities of our dactors and executive officers.

Pursuant to our bylaws and under Delaware ¢tawdirectors are not liable to us or our sharéés for monetary damages for breach of
fiduciary duty, except for liability for breach afdirector’s duty of loyalty, acts or omissionsagirector not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation ofaor any transaction in which a director has dsgtian improper personal benefit.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties
Our headquarters are located in Plano, TexBsllas suburb.

In the U.S., we operate a distribution fagilit Memphis, Tennessee, with aggregate space of than 440,000 square feet. We also op
approximately 435,000 square feet of distributiacility in Southaven, Mississippi. Both of theseilities are located approximately five miles
from the Memphis International Airport. We also raga a distribution facility in Grapevine, Texaswapproximately 200,000 square feet.

We operate a distribution center in Liege,ddeh with approximately 150,000 square feet, whiohtains advanced distribution systems
and equipment. We operate a distribution centétankham, Ontario, Canada with approximately 23,8Q0are feet. We also operate a facility
in the Philippines with approximately 7,000 squiaret to provide call center and customer servicetions and technical support. We operate
customer service centers in our facilities in Tessee, Texas, Belgium, Markham, Canada and theppiniéis. Our call center technology
permits the automatic routing of calls to availatistomer service representatives in several otallicenters.

Except for the Grapevine, Texas facility, whige manage on our client’'s behalf, all of ourliies are leased and the material lease
agreements contain one or more renewal options.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not party to any legal proceedingsratien routine claims and lawsuits arising in theirary course of our business. We do not
believe such claims and lawsuits, individually mthe aggregate, will have a material adverse effeour business.

Iltem 4. Reserved
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skednolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Setias

Our common stock is listed and currently teade the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol SW” The following table sets forth
for the period indicated the high and low sale @fir the common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

Price
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2009 First Que $ 1.9 $ 0.7¢
Second Quarte $ 1.7¢ $ 0.9
Third Quartel $ 1.9C $ 1.11
Fourth Quarte $ 1.8: $ 1.2
Year Ended December 31, 2010 First Que $ 4.7¢ $ 1.4¢
Second Quarte $ 5.2¢ $ 2.7¢
Third Quartel $ 3.57 $ 221
Fourth Quarte $ 4.1¢ $ 3.0t

As of March 7, 2011, there were approximate$00 shareholders of which approximately 125 wecerd holders of the common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividendsur common stock and do not anticipate the paywiecash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We are also msttifrom paying dividends under our debt agreemevithout the prior approval of our
lenders. We currently intend to retain all earnit@gfinance the further development of our busin&se payment of any future cash dividends
will be at the discretion of our Board of Direct@rsd will depend upon, among other things, fut@miegs, operations, capital requirements,
the general financial condition of the Company gaderal business conditions and the approval ofemgers. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result®©glerations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The following table summarizes informationtwiespect to equity compensation plans under wéniglity securities of the Company are
authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2010:

Number of
securities to be

issued upon Weighted-average Number of

exercise of exercise price of securities
outstanding options outstanding options remaining available
Plan category (1) and warrants and warrants for future issuance
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérs| 2,193,67. $ 4.2¢ 845,44:
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgers 88,71¢ $ 4.2¢ —
Total 2,282,39. 845,44:

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentaore detailed information regarding the Comy’s equity compensation plar
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

None
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

We believe the following discussion and analysivigies information that is relevant to an assesdraad understanding of our
consolidated results of operations and financiatdaition. The discussion and analysis should be ieamnjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto afipg elsewhere in thiForm 10-K . This Management’s Discussion and Ansiyél help
you understand
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» The impact of forward looking statemer

» Our financial structure, including our historicaldncial presentatior

* Our results of operations for the previous two $¢

» Certain of our relationships with our subsidiari

e Our liquidity and capital resource

* The impact of seasonality, inflation and recendlguied accounting standards on our financial statesnanc

»  Our critical accounting policies and estimal

Forward-Looking Information

We have made forward-looking statements is eport on Form 18: These statements are subject to risks and wictets, and there ci
be no guarantee that these statements will probe torrect. Forwartboking statements include assumptions as to howneae perform in th
future. When we use words like “seek,” “strive,€leve,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “poterdl,” “continue,” “will,” “may,” “could,”
“intend,” “plan,” “target” and “estimate” or simitaexpressions, we are making forward-looking states You should understand that the
following important factors, in addition to the RiBactors set forth above or elsewhere in this RepoForm 10-K, could cause our results to
differ materially from those expressed in our ford¢#ooking statements. These factors include:

» our ability to retain and expand relationships vettisting clients and attract and implement newntk;
» our reliance on the fees generated by the tramsaetlume or product sales of our clier
» our reliance on our clier’ projections or transaction volume or product se

» our dependence upon our agreements with IntemeltBusiness Machines Corporation (“IBM”) and IRfot Solutions Company
(“IPS");

» our dependence upon our agreements with our mbgots;

» our client mix, their business volumes and the eality of their busines:

» our ability to finalize pending contract

» the impact of strategic alliances and acquisitit

» trends in eCommerce, outsourcing, government régalaoth foreign and domestic and the market forservices
» whether we can continue and manage gro

* increased competitiol

« our ability to generate more revenue and achiesggable profitability

« effects of changes in profit margir

» the customer and supplier concentration of ourrtass;

» the reliance on thi-party subcontracted service

» the unknown effects of possible system failuresrapid changes in technolog

» foreign currency risks and other risks of operatmépreign countries

» potential litigation;

» our dependency on key personr

» the impact of new accounting standards, and chaingedsting accounting rules or the interpretasiof those rules
» our ability to raise additional capital or obtautd#tional financing;

» our ability and the ability of our subsidiari@stiorrow under current financing arrangements aahtain compliance with debt
covenants

» relationship with and our guarantees of certaithefliabilities and indebtedness of our subsid&rénd
» taxation on the sale of our produc

We have based these statements on our caxpattations about future events. Although we beltbe expectations reflected in our
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we daguarantee these expectations will actually béeael. In addition, some forward-looking
statements are based upon assumptions as to éemnés that may not prove to be accurate. Thergfotaal outcomes and results may differ
materially from what is expected or forecasteduahsforward-looking statements. We undertake nggabibn to update publicly any forward-
looking statement for any reason, even if new imfation becomes available or other events occurarfuture. There may be additional risks
we do not currently view as material or that arepresently known. i
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evaluating these statements, you should consid@usgafactors, including the risks set forth in getion entitled “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are an international business process ordsm provider of end-to-end eCommerce solutidids. provide these solutions to major
brand name companies seeking to optimize theirlgwgh@in and to enhance their traditional and anliisiness channels and initiatives. We
derive our revenues from providing a broad rangseofices as we process individual business tréngamn our clients’ behalf using three
different seller services financial models: 1) Breablement model, 2) the Agent (or Flash) model3rthe Retail model.

We refer to the standard PFSweb seller ses\financial model as the Enablement model. Innaslel, our clients own the inventory and
are the merchants of record and engage us to gre@idous business outsourcing services in sugdheir business operations. We derive
service fee revenues from a broad range of seoffeeings that include digital marketing, eCommeteehnologies, order management,
customer care, logistics and fulfillment, finana&nagement and professional consulting. We offeservices as an integrated solution,
which enables our clients to outsource their coteglgrastructure needs to a single source anddosfon their core competencies. Our
distribution services are conducted at warehouselease or manage. We currently provide infrastinecand distribution solutions to clients
that operate in a range of vertical markets, indgdechnology manufacturing, computer productspoetics, fragile goods, contemporary
home furnishings, apparel, aviation, telecommuiveat consumer electronics and consumer packagadsgamong others.

In this model, we typically charge for our\gees on a cost-plus basis, a percent of shippezhtee basis or a péransaction basis, such a
per-minute basis for web-enabled customer contatiee services and a per-item basis for fulfillmsenvices. Additional fees are billed for
other services. We price our services based omietyaf factors, including the depth and complexif the services provided, the amount of
capital expenditures or systems customization requthe length of contract and other factors.

Many of our service fee contracts involvedhirarty vendors who provide additional serviceshsae package delivery. The costs we are
charged by these third-party vendors for theseiees\are often passed on to our clients. Our g#lifor reimbursements of these costs and
other ‘out-of-pocket’ expenses include travel, sitig and handling costs and telecommunication a@sagd are included in pass-through
revenue.

As an additional service, we offer our secoratiel, the Agent, or Flash, financial model, in @hour clients maintain ownership of the
product inventory stored at our locations as inEhablement model. When a customer orders the ptdchm our clients, a “flash” sale
transaction passes product ownership to us for eatdr and we, in turn, immediately re-sell thedoret to the customer. The “flasbivnershij
exchange establishes us as the merchant of regbich enables us to use our existing merchantstrnature to process sales to end
customers, removing the need for the clients tatdish these business processes internally, buatifierg them to control the sales process to
end customers. In this model, we record productmae either on a gross or net basis dependingeourttierlying contract terms.

Finally, our Retail model allows us to purch@sventory from the client just as any other dierseller partner. In this model, we place the
initial and replenishment purchase orders withdient and take ownership of the product upon djivto our facility. Consequently, in this
model, we generate product revenue as we own Wemfary and the accounts receivable arising frompooduct sales. Under the Retail mo
depending upon the product category and sales alaistics, we may require the client to providedarct price protection as well as product
purchase payment terms, right of return, and olsselece protection appropriate to the product gatefde. In this model we recognize prodi
revenue for customer sales. Freight costs billexisiomers are reflected as components of produenue. This business model requires
significant working capital requirements, for whiele have credit available either through crediteprovided by our client or under senior
credit facilities.

In general, we provide the Enablement modelugh our PFS and Supplies Distributors subsidiatiee Agent or Flash model through our
PFS and Supplies Distributors subsidiaries andrReétail model through our Supplies Distributors sdiasies and our PFSweb Retail Connect
subsidiary (formerly eCOST.com).
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Growth is a key element to achieving our fatgoals, including achieving and maintaining susthie profitability. Growth in our
Enablement and Agent models is driven by two mi#ments: new client relationships and organic ghofirdm existing clients. We focus our
sales efforts on larger contracts with brand-naarepanies within two primary target markets, onlmands and retailers and technology
manufacturers, which, by nature, require a longeatibn to close but also have the potential thilgaer quality and longer duration
engagements.

Growth within our Retail model currently ismparily driven by our ability to attract new masthstributor arrangements with IPS or other
manufacturers and the sales and marketing effotteeamanufacturers and third party sales partners.

We continue to monitor and control our costfotus on profitability. While we are targetingrowew service fee contracts to yield increa
gross profit, we also expect to incur incremenigestments to implement new contracts, investmaritdrastructure and sales and marketing
to support our targeted growth and increased pabliapany professional fees.

Our expenses comprise primarily four categorlg cost of product revenue, 2) cost of serveaerevenue, 3) cost of pass-through revenue
and 4) selling, general and administrative expenses

Cost of product revenue-consists of the purchase price of product soldfegight costs, which are reduced by certain reiragble
expenses. These reimbursable expenses includahpasgh customer marketing programs, direct costsried in passing on any price
decreases offered by vendors to cover price pioteand certain special bids, the cost of prodpotsided to replace defective product
returned by customers and certain other expensasfimed under the master distributor agreements.

Cost of service fee revenue consists primarily of compensation and relategesmses for our webnabled customer contact center serv
international fulfillment and distribution servicaad professional consulting services, and otledfiand variable expenses directly related to
providing services under the terms of fee basetracts, including certain occupancy and informatechnology costs and depreciation and
amortization expenses.

Cost of pass-through revenue the related reimbursable costs for pass-throxglemrditures are reflected as cost of pass-throengénue.

Selling, General and Administrative expensesonsist of expenses such as compensation artddeapenses for sales and marketing
staff, distribution costs (excluding freight) amalble to the Supplies Distributors business andritail model, executive, management and
administrative personnel and other overhead cietlsiding certain occupancy and information teclgglcosts and depreciation and
amortization expenses.

Monitoring and controlling our available casilances and our expenses continues to be a prioarg. Our cash and liquidity positions
important components of our financing of both cotr@perations and our targeted growth. To aid thisjay 2010, we completed a public
offering of 2.3 million shares of our common stabkt provided net proceeds of $7.3 million.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2009

The results of operations related to the eCO&™ business unit that was sold in February 2@l/e been reported as discontinued
operations for both periods presented below. THeviing table discloses certain financial infornuatifor the periods presented, expressed in
terms of dollars, dollar change, percentage changeas a percentage of total revenue (in millions).

% of Total
Change Revenue
2010 2009 $ % 2010 2009
Revenues
Product revenue, n $174.€ $ 183.( $ (8.9 (4.6)% 63.6% 68.2%
Service fee revent 70.€ 58.€ 12.C 20.5% 25.71% 21.%
Pas-through revenu 29.8 26.8 3.C 11.2% 10.7% 9.8%
Total net revenue 274.F 267.¢ 6.6 2.5% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of Revenue
Cost of product revent 162.t 168.¢ (6.3 (3.89% 93.1%(1) 92.2%
Cost of service fee reven 51.1 41.¢ 9.2 22.1% 72.4%(2) 71.5%
Pas-through cost of revent 29.8 26.8 3.C 11.2% 100.(%(3) 100.(%
Total cost of revenue 242.¢ 237.( 5.9 2.5% 88.5% 88.5%
Product revenue gross prc 12.1 14.2 (2.2) (14.9% 6.9%(1) 7.7%
Service fee gross prof 19.5 16.7 2.8 16.€% 27.€%(2) 28.5%
Pas-through gross profi — — —
Total gross profi 31.€ 30.€ 0.7 2.4% 11.5% 11.5%
Selling, General and Administrati
Expense! 33.€ 34.5 (0.7) (1.9% 12.2% 12.8%
Loss from operation (2.0 (3.9 1.4 41.5% (0.7% (1.9%
Interest expense, n 0.9 1.2 (0.3 (20.6)% 0.2% 0.4%
Loss from continuing operatiol
before income taxe (2.9 (4.€) 1.7 36.1% (1.0% (1.7%
Income tax expense, r 0.5 0.3 0.2 44.2% 0.2% 0.1%
Loss from continuing operatiol (3.9 (4. 15 30.% (1.2% (1.8)%
Income (loss) from discontinue
operations, net of ta (4.0(4) 0.3 (4.9 (1262.3% (1.4)% (0.1)%
Net loss $ (749 $ (4.9 $ (2.8 (61.9% (2.6)% (1.97%

(1) Represents the percent of Product revenue
(2) Represents the percent of Service fee reve
(3) Represents the percent of F-through revenue
(4) Includes a $2.8 million goodwill impairment char
Product Revenue, néRroduct revenue of $174.6 million decreased $8ldamj or 4.6% in 2010 as compared to the priorry&ais
decrease was primarily due to decreased sales eslasia result of reduced IBM and IPS printer ilagtans in certain categories as well as
temporary inventory supply shortages resulting framlargest supplier in this segment transitiortm@ new systems platform in 2010 and the

negative impact of foreign exchange rates comptarélde same period in the prior year. We curreafigect our total 2011 annual product
revenue to remain relatively stable as compar&di® levels.

Service Fee Revenu@he increase in service fee revenue for the geded December 31, 2010 was primarily due to tbevilrin existing
clients as well as new client relationships thatenssdlded during 2009 and 2010,
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including incremental project work, partially offdey the non-renewal of certain service contraletienships, including the non-renewal of a
U.S. government agency client relationship, whiolezl in early 2009. The change in service fee neweexcluding pass-through revenue, is
shown below ($ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 58.¢
New service contract relationshi 10.:
Change in existing client service fees includingrils implemented during 20t 10.1
Terminated clients not included in 2010 reve (8.9

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 70.€

The service fee revenue for 2010 includes@pprately $6.1 million of revenue generated fromeris who terminated their contractual
relationships with the Company during 2010. Howebeassed on historical activity and current projetdf existing clients, including new
clients signed in 2010, net of the impact fromlea-renewal of certain clients, we currently api@te that 2011 service fee revenue will
increase from 2010 service fee revenue levels.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue decreased by $6.3 milbor3.8%, to $162.5 million in 2010, primarily asesult of
decreased product sales. The resulting gross pnafigin was $12.1 million or 6.9% of product reverfar the year ended December 31, 2010
and $14.2 million or 7.7% of product revenue fo®20The gross profit margin for 2010 and 2009 idekithe impact of certain incremental
gross margins earned on product sales; howevemnbect of these amounts was higher in the 200@g@emnd is not expected to continue at
that same rate.

Cost of Service Fee Revenu@ross profit as a percentage of service fees2wa&&96 in 2010 and 28.5% in 2009. The 2010 perigctlhdes
the margin impact of new client relationships thegan in late 2009 and throughout 2010. The 200gimainclude the benefit of higher
margin incremental project work associated with.8.lgovernment contract relationship that was enewed and was completed in the second
quarter of 2009.

We target to earn an overall gross profit ®30% on existing and new service fee contractswleuhave and may continue to accept lower
gross margin percentages on certain contracts depeon contract scope and other factors.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens&eglling, general and administrative expenses %886 million, or 12.2% of total net
revenues in the 2010 period and $34.3 million,28% of total net revenues in the prior year. TB&®period includes the impact of certain
executive disability benefit costs as well as distiion facility relocation expenses that did notor in 2009. These incremental expenses were
more than offset by decreases in depreciation aradteation, information technology services andspanel related expenses.

Income TaxedlWe recorded a tax provision associated primarity\state income taxes and our subsidiary SupplisgiButors’ Canadian
and European operations as well as our Philippapesation. A valuation allowance has been providedhe majority of our net deferred tax
assets, which are primarily related to our net afieg loss carryforwards and certain foreign defétax assets. We expect that we will
continue to record an income tax provision assediatith state income taxes and Supplies Distrilsit@anadian and European results of
operations.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, Nétaf. Discontinued operations generated a loss of apmabely $4.0 million in 2010
and income of approximately $0.3 million in 2008 .Hebruary 2011, we sold substantially all of theentory and certain intangible assets
applicable to our eCOST.com business unit for @ tygregate cash purchase price of approximageB/illion. For both 2010 and 2009, we
have classified the operating results of this bessrunit, excluding costs expected to continuetoioin the future, as discontinued operations.
A goodwill impairment charge of approximately $2lion is included in the 2010 loss from discont@d operations.
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Supplies Distributors and its Subsidiaries

We conduct a portion of our Retail model basmservices through Supplies Distributors ansliksidiaries, which act as master distribt
of various IPS and other products. We conduct #igoof our Retail model business services thromghsaction management services
agreement under which PFS provides transaction gesment and fulfillment services to Supplies Disitdrs and its subsidiaries. In additiol
our equity investment in Supplies Distributors, wee also provided Supplies Distributors with acsdimated loan that, as of December 31,
2010, had an outstanding balance of $4.3 million.

Supplies Distributors paid us dividends of@iillion and $2.1 million in 2010 and 2009, resperly. Supplies Distributors has received
lender approval to pay dividends of approximatelyddmillion in 2011, and to reduce its subordinadett to us by $0.8 million, but pursuan
the terms of its amended credit agreements, igetest from paying further cash dividends withdu prior approval of its lenders. In addition,
no distribution may be made if, after giving efféwéreto, Supplies Distributors or its subsidiabesn noncompliance with its financial
covenants under its current facilities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities froomtinuing operations was $2.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2010 and primarily
resulted from cash income from continuing operatibefore working capital changes of $3.8 milliowl @m increase in accounts payable,
deferred revenue, accrued expenses and otheitieghof $6.1 million, partially offset by an in@se in accounts receivable of $3.0 million, an
increase in inventories of $2.7 million and an @&ge in prepaid expenses, other receivables ardaghets of $1.5 million. Net cash provided
by operating activities from discontinued operasiovas $0.7 million in 2010.

Net cash provided by operating activities froomtinuing operations was $6.0 million for the yeanded December 31, 2009 and primarily
resulted from a decrease in inventories of $8.Hanila decrease in accounts receivable of $5.0amiand cash income from continuing
operations before working capital changes of $21Bam partially offset by a decrease in accounayable, deferred revenue, accrued expenses
and other liabilities of $9.5 million. Net cash pided by operating activities from discontinued igi®ons was $2.1 million in 2009.

Net cash used in investing activities for ykears ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 totalech$iBi@ and $4.4 million, respectively,
resulting from capital expenditures.

Capital expenditures have historically corgigprimarily of additions to upgrade our managenmgotrmation systems, development of
customized technology solutions to support ancyiratie with our service fee clients and general egjoa and upgrades to our facilities, both
domestic and foreign. We expect to incur capitalesditures to support new contracts and anticipfatiede growth opportunities. Based on
our current client business activity and our taedejrowth plans, we anticipate our total investnientpgrades and additions to facilities and
information technology services for the upcominglive months, including costs to implement new d¢tewill be approximately $6 million to
$9 million, although additional capital expenditsiraay be necessary to support the infrastructepginements of new clients. To maintain our
current operating cash position, a portion of treeggenditures may be financed through client reirsdments, debt, operating or capital leases
or additional equity. We may elect to modify oreled portion of such anticipated investments inehent that we do not obtain the financing
or achieve the financial results necessary to sugoech investments.

Net cash provided by financing activities aggroximately $4.3 million for the year ended Debem2010, primarily representing net
proceeds of $7.3 million from the issuance of comrstck pursuant to a public offering offset by pa@nts on debt and capital leases.

Net cash used in financing activities was apjpnately $5.4 million for the year ended DecemBgr2009, primarily representing payments
on debt and capital leases.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, aukiwg capital increased to $22.6 million from $3 @illion at December 31, 2009,
primarily due to net proceeds from an equity offgrin May 2010 partially offset by the pay-

30




Table of Contents

down of debt facilities along with the impact ofteén technology and development costs incurreéhdu2010 that were prepaid by certain
clients in 2009. To obtain additional financingtlire future, in addition to our current cash positiwe plan to evaluate various financing
alternatives including the sale of equity, utiligioapital or operating leases, borrowing undercoedit facilities, expanding our current credit
facilities, entering into new debt agreements angferring to third-parties a portion of our sulivated loan balance due from Supplies
Distributors. In conjunction with certain of theskernatives, we may be required to provide cetlietiers of credit to secure these
arrangements. No assurances can be given we wslideessful in obtaining any additional financimgle terms thereof. We currently believe
our cash position, financing available under oeddrfacilities and funds generated from operatiwilssatisfy our presently known operating
cash needs, our working capital and capital expgerelrequirements, our current debt and lease atiigs, and additional loans to our
subsidiaries, if necessary, for at least the negive months.

During the past few years, the credit markeis the financial services industry have been éapeing a period of unprecedented turmoil
and upheaval characterized by the bankruptcy,riikeollapse or sale of various financial instag8 and an unprecedented level of intervel
from the United States and foreign governments.|&\thie ultimate outcome of these events cannotrédiqgied, they may have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial conditiaesults of operations and our ability to renew aredit facilities.

In support of certain debt instruments andésaas of December 31, 2010, we had $1.9 milli@ash restricted for repayment to lender:
addition, as described above, we have provideadtesllized guarantees to secure the repaymenttafrcef our subsidiaries’ credit facilities.
Many of these facilities include both financial ameh-financial covenants, and also include cro$auleprovisions applicable to other credit
facilities and agreements. These covenants inchidenum levels of net worth for the individual bower subsidiaries and the restrictions on
the ability of the borrower subsidiaries to advafwls to other borrower subsidiaries. As a redil, possible for one or more of these
borrower subsidiaries to fail to meet their resppectovenants even if another borrower subsidigingvise has available excess funds which,
if not restricted, could be used to cure the defald the extent we fail to comply with our debveaants, including the monthly financial
covenant requirements and our required level ofedt@ders’ equity, and the lenders accelerategpayment of the credit facility obligations,
we would be required to repay all amounts outstamttiereunder. In particular, if PFS service fegeneie declines from expected levels and it
is unable to reduce costs to correspond to suakceetirevenue levels or if Supplies Distributorseraye or gross profit declines from expected
levels, such events may result in a breach of omeave of the financial covenants required undeirtivorking capital lines of credit. In such
event, absent a waiver, the working capital lenadauld be entitled to accelerate all amounts outitanthereunder and exercise all other rights
and remedies, including sale of collateral and paEytnuinder our parent guarantyréquirement to accelerate the repayment of theatdisedlity
obligations would have a material adverse impaauwnfinancial condition and results of operationg can provide no assurance we will h
the financial ability to repay all of such obligais. As of December 31, 2010, we were in compliavite all debt covenants. Further, any non-
renewal of any of our credit facilities would haaenaterial adverse impact on our business anddiabrondition. We do not have any other
material financial commitments, although futurenti contracts may require capital expendituresl@aske commitments to support the services
provided to such clients.

In the future, we may attempt to acquire oth#sinesses or seek an equity or strategic parggnerate capital or expand our services or
capabilities in connection with our efforts to growr business. Acquisitions involve certain riskdl @ancertainties and may require additional
financing. Therefore, we can give no assurance rebect to whether we will be successful in idgimg businesses to acquire or an equity or
strategic partner, whether we or they will be dblebtain financing to complete a transaction, bether we or they will be successful in
operating the acquired business.

We receive municipal tax abatements in celltaiations. During 2004 we received notice fromuniuipality that we did not satisfy certain
criteria necessary to maintain the abatementselcelber 2006 we received notice that the munieiptdority planned to make an adjustment
to our tax abatement. We disputed the adjustmahsach dispute has been settled with the munitjpaliowever, the amount of additional
property taxes to be assessed against us andrtimg tf the related payments has not been finaliasdbf December 31, 2010, we believe we
have adequately accrued for the expected assessment
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In April 2010, a sales employee of eCOST weerged with violating various federal criminal st in connection with the sales of eCOST
products to certain customers, and approximateR0E®HO0 held in an eCOST deposit account was seizddurned over to the Office of the
U.S. Attorney in connection with such activity. Weeeived subpoenas from the Office of the U.S. rAttg requesting information regarding
the employee and other matters, and have respdaderth subpoenas and are fully cooperating wehGffice of the U.S. Attorney. We have
commenced our own investigation into the actionthefemployee. Neither the Company nor eCOST heaee bharged with any criminal
activity, and we intend to seek the recovery omimirsement of the funds, which are currently cfeegbias other receivables in the
December 31, 2010 financial statements. Basedemtbrmation available to date, we are unableetieanine the amount of the loss, if any,
relating to the seizure of such funds. No assuraacebe given, however, that the seizure of suo<uor our inability to recover such funds
any significant portion thereof, or any costs arpgemses we may incur in connection with such matténot have a material adverse effect
upon our financial condition or results of operato

Supplies Distributors Financing

To finance their distribution of IPS producssipplies Distributors and its subsidiaries hawatsterm credit facilities with IBM Credit LLC
(“IBM Credit”) and IBM Belgium Financial ServicesA (“IBM Belgium”). We have provided a collateraéid guaranty to secure the
repayment of these credit facilities. These asaseth credit facilities provided financing for up®5.0 million and up to 16 million Euros
(approximately $21.4 million at December 31, 20&4@ IBM Credit and IBM Belgium, respectively. Treeagreements expire in March 2012.

Supplies Distributors also has a loan andritgcagreement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Adation (“Wells Fargo”) to provide
financing for up to $25 million of eligible accosmteceivables in the United States and CanadaWiiks Fargo facility expires on the earlier
of March 2014 or the date on which the partieholPS master distributor agreement no longer e@enader the terms of such agreement
and/or IPS no longer supplies products pursuastith agreement.

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million Euros (approximately $10.0lioh at December 31, 2010) of eligible accountseieables through March 2011. This
subsidiary has entered into a new factoring agre¢migh BNP Paribas Fortis effective April 1, 20tdlreplace the previous factoring
agreement under similar terms through April 1, 2014

These credit facilities contain cross defaultvisions, various restrictions upon the abilifySoipplies Distributors and its subsidiaries to,
among other things, merge, consolidate, sell assets indebtedness, make loans, investments aph@nts to related parties (including
entities directly or indirectly owned by PFSweklipyide guarantees, make investments and loangg@laskets, make changes to capital stock
ownership structure and pay dividends, as wellremntial covenants, such as cash flow from oparatiannualized revenue to working cap
net profit after tax to revenue, minimum net waatid total liabilities to tangible net worth, asidefl, and are secured by all of the assets of
Supplies Distributors, as well as a collateraligedranty of PFSweb. Additionally, we are requiredntaintain a subordinated loan to Supplies
Distributors of no less than $3.5 million, not ntain restricted cash of more than $5.0 million, restricted with regard to transactions with
related parties, indebtedness and changes to kcsjpiti ownership structure and a minimum sharedrslcequity of at least $18.0 million.
Furthermore, we are obligated to repay any adrance made to Supplies Distributors or its sudnsés under these facilities if they are un
to do so. We have also provided a guarantee aflitigations of Supplies Distributors and its subzgiés to IBM and IPS, excluding the trade
payables that are financed by IBM credit.

PFS Financing

Our PFS subsidiary has a Loan and Securitge@&gent (“Agreement”) with Comerica Bank (“Comerigavhich provides for up to
$10.0 million of eligible accounts receivable figarg through September 30, 2012. The Agreementvalfor up to $12.5 million of eligible
accounts receivable financing during certain sealsogak months. We entered this Agreement to supgiié our existing cash position, and
provide funding for our current and future opemasigincluding our targeted growth. The Agreememtaims cross default provisions, various
restrictions upon our ability to, among other tlsinmerge, consolidate, sell assets, incur indebtsjmake loans and payments to subsidiaries
affiliates and related parties (including entititiectly or indirectly owned by PFSweb), make calpéixpenditures, make investments and Ic
pledge assets, make changes to capital stock

32




Table of Contents

ownership structure, as well as financial covenafts minimum tangible net worth of $20.0 millicas defined, a minimum earnings before
interest and taxes, plus depreciation, amortizaiwhnon-cash compensation accruals, if any, asetkfand a minimum liquidity ratio, as
defined. The Agreement also limits PFS’ abilityiriorease the subordinated loan to Supplies Digtriisito more than $5.0 million and permits
PFS to advance incremental amounts subject toicexdah inflows to PFS, as defined, to certairntogubsidiaries and/or affiliates. The
Agreement is secured by all of the assets of P&®ieHl as a guarantee of PFSweb.

PFS financed certain capital expendituresutinoa Loan Agreement with the Mississippi Busirfessince Corporation (the “MBFC”)
pursuant to which the MBFC issued MBFC Taxable &lé Rate Demand Limited Obligation Revenue BoBésies 2004 (Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. Project) (the “BondsThe MBFC loaned PFS the proceeds of the Bondsh#optrrpose of financing the acquisition
and installation of equipment, machinery and relatssets to support incremental business from th&een, Mississippi distribution facility.
The primary source of repayment of the Bonds &tt@i of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) issued Bypmerica pursuant to a Reimbursement
Agreement between PFS and Comerica under whichéi8igated to pay to Comerica all amounts drawdar the Letter of Credit. The
Letter of Credit has a maturity date of April 2042which time, if not renewed or replaced, willuksn a draw on the undrawn face amount
thereof. The amount outstanding on the Loan Agredme of December 31, 2010 was $1.6 million. PHfligations under the Reimbursement
Agreement are secured by substantially all ofgtess, including restricted cash of $0.8 millioroBBecember 31, 2010 and a PFSweb parent
company guarantee.

eCOST Financing

eCOST (renamed PFSweb Retail Connect in Fep2@L 1) has an asset-based line of credit faailityp to $7.5 million with Wachovia,
which is collateralized by substantially all of eSUs assets and expires in May 2011. Borrowingsutite facility and letter of credit
availability are limited to a percentage of acceumtceivable and inventory, up to specified maxirmufs of December 31, 2010, eCOST had
$0.9 million of letters of credit outstanding ar@l&million of available credit under this faciliths of March 31, 2011, amounts available
under the outstanding letters of credit are culyesgcured by restricted cash in equivalent amourite credit facility restricts eCOST's ability
to, among other things, merge, consolidate, setasincur indebtedness, make loans, investmadtpayments to subsidiaries, affiliates and
related parties, make investments and loans, plasggts, make changes to capital stock ownershigtste, as well as a minimum tangible net
worth of $0, as defined. PFSweb has guaranteediaknt and future obligations of eCOST under lihis of credit.

In February 2011 we sold substantially altraf inventory and certain intangible assets of eC@8a cash purchase price of $2.3 million
(before expenses of approximately $0.2 million) #relassumption by the purchaser of certain linligallities of eCOST. In connection with
the closing of this business unit, we currentlyeptgo incur exit costs of approximately $0.2 roiflito $0.4 million related to employee
termination costs and excess property and equiparehtnay incur additional costs, including excesdlify costs. During 2010 we recorded a
non-cash goodwill impairment charge of approxima#.8 million.

Public Offering

In May 2010, we completed a public offeringoof common stock pursuant to which we issued atdlan aggregate of 2.3 million shares
of our common stock, par value $.001 per shar®3#&0 per share, resulting in net proceeds afducteng offering expenses of approximately
$7.3 million.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

There are no off-balance sheet arrangemeatittve or are reasonably likely to have a cumeifiiture effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expgnssults of operations, liquidity, capital expiumees or capital resources that is material to
investors.

Inventory Management

In our Retail model, we manage our inventohiels! for sale by maintaining sufficient quantitefgroduct to achieve high order fill rates
while at the same time maximizing inventory turnorages. Inventory balances will
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fluctuate as we add new product lines. To redueeitik of loss due to supplier price reductiong@ies Distributors’ master distributor
agreement provides for price protection under witicbceives credits if the supplier lowers priosspreviously purchased inventory.

Seasonality

The seasonality of our service fee businedgpgendent upon the seasonality of our cliemisiness and sales of their products. Accordit
we must rely upon the projections of our clientagsessing quarterly variability. We believe thabhwur current client mix and their current
business volumes, our run rate service fee busassty will be at its lowest in the quarter edddarch 31 and highest in the quarter ended
December 31. We anticipate our product revenuebgilhighest during the quarter ended December &lb&lieve our historical revenue
pattern makes it difficult to predict the effectsafasonality on our future revenues and resulbpefations.

We believe that results of operations for artgrly period may not be indicative of the resfdtsany other quarter or for the full year.

Inflation

Management believes inflation has not had teri# effect on our operations.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accountiren8ards Update (ASU) 2009-1ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements — a
consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Fom®end certain guidance WASB Accounting Standards Codificatibh(ASC) 605,
Revenue Recogniti¢, 25, “Multiple-Element Arrangements.” The amenggitiance in ASC 605-25 (1) modifies the separatiateria by
eliminating the criterion that requires objectivelaeliable evidence of fair value for the undelegtitem(s), and (2) eliminates the use of the
residual method of allocation and instead requtites arrangement consideration be allocated, ahteption of the arrangement, to all
deliverables based on their relative selling price.

The FASB also issued ASU 2009-C&rtain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softedements — a consensus of the FASB Emerging
Issues Task Forc, to amend the scope of arrangements under ASC3ftyare, 605, “Revenue Recognition” to exclude tangibledurcts
containing software components and non-softwarepoorants that function together to deliver a produessential functionality.

The amended guidance in ASC 605-25 and ASGC6885is effective prospectively for revenue arrangats entered into or materially
modified in fiscal years beginning on or after Jie 2010, with early application and retrospectipelication permitted. The amendments to
ASC 605-25 and ASC 985-605 did not have a mateniphct on our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have Ipgepared in conformity with accounting principtgnerally accepted in the U.S. These
accounting principles require us to make estimatesassumptions that affect the reported amourdass#ts and liabilities at the date of our
financial statements and the reported amountsvefnges and expenses during the reporting periode\We do not believe the reported
amounts would be materially different, applicatafrthese policies involves the exercise of judgneer the use of assumptions as to future
uncertainties and, as a result, actual resultdodiffier from these estimates. If there is a sigaifit unfavorable change to current conditions, it
would likely result in a material adverse impacoto business, operating results and financial itimmd We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. We base our éstiroa experience and on various other assumptiansve believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. All of our significant accougtpolicies are disclosed in the notes to our cadatgd financial statements.

We have defined a critical accounting estingst®ne that is both important to the portrayawffinancial condition and results of
operations and requires us to make difficult, sctibje or complex judgments or estimates
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about matters that are uncertain. During the paisetfiscal years, we have not made any materéaigés in accounting methodology used to
establish the critical accounting estimates disedi$®low. The following represent certain critiaatounting policies that require us to exer
our business judgment or make significant estimdieaddition, there are other items within our soliidated financial statements that require
estimation but are not deemed critical as defirzxa.

Product Revenue Recognition

Sales are recognized when the title and ridkss are passed to the customer, there is péveuagdence of an arrangement for the sale,
delivery has occurred and/or services have beatered, the sales price is fixed or determinablecaiiéctability is reasonably assured.

Sales are reported net of estimated returdsaiowances which are estimated based upon héslagturn information. Management also
considers any other current information and tréndsaking estimates. If actual sales returns, aloees and discounts are greater than
estimated by management, additional expense mayheed.

Cost of Service Fee Revenue

Our service fee revenue primarily relatesuodistribution services and order management/custaare services. Distribution services
relate primarily to inventory management, prodectkiving, warehousing and fulfillment (i.e., picgirpacking and shipping product on our
clients’ behalf). Order management/customer candcss relate primarily to taking customer ordemsdur clients’ products via various
channels such as telephone call-center, electoyrfcsimile. These services also entail addressilsgomer questions related to orders, as well
as cross-selling/up-selling activities.

Our cost of service fee revenue representsdbeto provide the services described above,griiyncompensation and related expenses and
other fixed and variable expenses directly reléegroviding the services. These include certacupancy and information technology costs
and depreciation and amortization expenses. Cesfdhese costs are allocated from general andradirdtive expenses. For these allocations,
we estimate the amount of direct expenses basetemt-specific information, such as the numbetrahsactions processed. We believe our
allocation methodology is reasonable, however aghan assumptions would result in a different gnoofit in our statement of operations,
yet no change to the resulting net income or |

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The determination of the collectability of anmés due from our customers requires us to usmatds and make judgments regarding future
events and trends, including monitoring our custameayment history and current credit worthinesdétermine that collectability is
reasonably assured, as well as consideration aibrll business climate in which our clients andtomers operate. Inherently, these
uncertainties require us to make frequent judgmantsestimates regarding our clients and custoraéibty to pay amounts due us to
determine the appropriate amount of valuation adloges required for doubtful accounts. Provisiomsl@ubtful accounts are recorded when it
becomes evident that the client or customer willmake the required payments at either contractueldates or in the future.

In our Retail model, we also maintain an allone for uncollectible vendor receivables, whideeafrom inventory returns to vendors,
vendor rebates, price protections and other pramstiWe determine the sufficiency of the vendoereable allowance based upon various
factors, including payment history. Amounts recdif®m vendors may vary from amounts recorded beeafi potential non-compliance with
certain elements of vendor programs. If our estdailowances for uncollectible accounts or vemrdoeivables subsequently prove
insufficient, additional allowance maybe required.

Allowances for doubtful accounts totaled $®illion and $1.0 million at December 31, 2010 afd2, respectively. We believe our
allowances for doubtful accounts are adequate tercanticipated losses under current conditionsdwer, uncertainties regarding changes in
the financial condition of our clients and customeither adverse or positive, could impact thew@mand timing of any additional provisions
for doubtful accounts that may be required.
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Inventory Reserves

Inventories (merchandise, held for resalepfalhich are finished goods) are stated at thesloof weighted average cost or market. Sup
Distributors and its subsidiaries assume respditgibor slow-moving inventory under certain mastkstributor agreements, subject to certain
termination rights, but have the right to returndqarct rendered obsolete by engineering changetefased. We review inventories for
impairment on a periodic basis, but at a minimummually. Recoverability of the inventory on handrisasured by comparisons of the carn
value to the fair value of the inventory. This rggs us to record provisions and maintain resefmesxcess or obsolete inventory. If write-
downs of inventories are necessary, the cost basigt inventory is adjusted. To determine theserve amounts, we regularly review
inventory quantities on hand and compare themtimates of future product demand and market comualti These estimates and forecasts
inherently include uncertainties and require usiéike judgments regarding potential outcomes. Atelidier 31, 2010 and 2009, our allowa
for slow moving inventory was $1.6 million and $18lion, respectively. We believe our reservesadequate to cover anticipated losses
under current conditions. Significant or unantieégzbchanges to our estimates and forecasts, @itiverse or positive, could impact the amount
and timing of any additional provisions for exces®bsolete inventory that may be required.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used for determiningr aincome taxes, under which current and defemgdiabilities and assets are recorded in
accordance with enacted tax laws and rates. Uhéentethod, the amounts of deferred tax liabiliiesl assets at the end of each period are
determined using the tax rate expected to be egcefffhen taxes are actually paid or recovered. &teln allowances are established to reduce
deferred tax assets when it is more likely thanthat some portion or all of the deferred tax asaséll not be realized. In determining the need
for valuation allowances, we have considered andenjiadgments and estimates regarding estimateteftaMable income. These estimates
judgments include some degree of uncertainty aad@bs in these estimates and assumptions couloleeguto adjust the valuatic
allowances for our deferred tax assets. The ulémealization of our deferred tax assets dependBebgeneration of sufficient taxable income
in the applicable taxing jurisdictions. Although Welieve our estimates and judgments are reasqretileal results may differ, which could be
material.

As we operate in multiple countries, we argjact to the jurisdiction of multiple domestic afodleign tax authorities. Determination of
taxable income in any jurisdiction requires theiptetation of the related tax laws and regulatemd the use of estimates and assumptions
regarding significant future events such as thelamydiming and character of deductions, permigsibenue recognition methods under the
tax law and the sources and character of incoméandredits. Changes in tax laws, regulationsifpr currency exchange restrictions or our
level of operations or profitability in each taxipgisdiction could have an impact on the amourinobme taxes that we provide during any
given year.
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourtEinm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
PFSweb, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of PFSweb, Inc. (a Delaware corporasind)subsidiaries as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statsméoperations, shareholders’ equity and congmsive loss, and cash flows for the years
then ended. Our audits of the basic financial states included the financial statement schedusésdiin the index appearing under Iltem 15(a)
(1). These financial statements and the finant&#ément schedules are the responsibility of theamy’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statensrdginancial statement schedules based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamigUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform an audit of itsrimatiecontrol over financial reporting. G
audits included consideration of internal contnediofinancial reporting as a basis for designinditprocedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgssimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimgernal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evideopparting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dgagement, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaepferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the financial position of PFSweb,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 808,2and the results of their operations and teesh flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also in opinion, the related financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the Hamiacial statements taken as a whole, presery fai all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2011
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 18,43( $ 14,810
Restricted cas 1,85: 2,09¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $754 and $973 at December 31, :
and 2009, respective 41,43¢ 39,86!
Inventories, net of reserves of $1,561 and $1,7@@eaember 31, 2010 and 2009, respecti 35,16: 33,571
Assets of discontinued operatic 2,77¢ 4,372
Other receivable 14,53¢ 11,60¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 3,58( 4,17
Total current asse 117,77 110,49¢
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, ne 9,12 10,31«
ASSETS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATION 1,12¢ 4,02¢
OTHER ASSET< 2,20z 2,93¢
Total asset $ 130,23 $ 127,76¢
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of lon-term debt and capital lease obligatic $ 18,32 $ 19,17¢
Trade accounts payak 55,69: 53,64:
Deferred revenu 5,254 5,16¢
Accrued expense 15,87( 13,18(
Total current liabilities 95,13¢ 91,16¢
LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less currg portion 2,13¢ 3,34¢
OTHER LIABILITIES 3,60¢ 3,90¢
Total liabilities 100,88( 98,41¢
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERY? EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 1,000,000 shargsorized; none issued and outstant — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 35,000,000 sharttoazed;
12,255,064 and 9,952,164 shares issued at Dece&8hp2010 and 2009, respectively; and
12,236,703 and 9,933,803 outstanding at Decemhe2@®D and 2009, respective 12 10
Additional paic-in capital 101,22¢ 93,152
Accumulated defici (73,339 (65,969
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,52¢ 2,23¢
Treasury stock at cost, 18,361 she (85) (85)
Total shareholde’ equity 29,35( 29,35
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 130,23( $ 127,76¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES:
Product revenue, n
Service fee revent
Pas-through revenu
Total revenue
COSTS OF REVENUES
Cost of product revent
Cost of service fee reven
Cost of pas-through revenu
Total costs of revenue
Gross profil
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES, inclding stock based compensation
expense of $809 and $407 in the years ended Dece&1tph2010 and 2009, respectivi
Loss from operation
INTEREST EXPENSE, ne
Loss from continuing operations before income tz
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATION:
INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, NET AAX
NET LOSS

LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATION
Basic and Dilutec

LOSS PER SHARE INCLUDING DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Basic and Dilutec

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDINC
Basic and Dilutec

2010

$174,61:
70,63¢
29,261
274,51t

162,48t
51,14/
29,26\
242,89¢
31,62(

33,61
(1,99])
94¢
(2,93])
462
(3,399
(3,975)

$ (7,369

$ (0.3C

$ (0.65)

11,31(

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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2009

$183,00¢
58,61¢
26,26¢
267,89.

168,86
41,89¢
26,26¢

237,02°
30,86¢

34,27(

(3,405
1,18¢

(4,597)
321

(4,912
347

$ (4,570

$ (0.49

$ (0.4¢

9,92¢
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In  Accumulated Comprehensive _Treasury Stock  Shareholders Income
Shares Amount _ Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity (Loss)
Balance, January 1, 20! 9,935,09' $ 10 $ 92,72¢ $ (61,399 $ 1,82t 18,36: $ (85 % 33,08t
Net loss — — — (4,570 — — — (4,570 % (4,570
Stock-based compensation expel — — 407 — — — — 407
Employee stock purchase pl 17,06¢ — 17 — — — — 17
Other comprehensive income—
foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — 414 — — 414 414
Comprehensive los $ (4,150
Balance, December 31, 20 9,952,16: $ 10 $ 93,15. $ (65,969 $ 2,23¢ 18,361 $ (859% 29,35:
Net loss — — — (7,369 — — — (7,369 $ (7,369
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 80¢ — — — — 80¢
Employee stock purchase pl 2,90( — 4 — — — — 4
Issuance of common sto 2,300,00! 2 7,264 — — — — 7,26¢
Other comprehensive loss— foreign
currency translation adjustme — — — — (713) — — (713) (713)
Comprehensive los $ (8,087
Balance, December 31, 20 12,255,06 $ 12 $101,22¢$ (73,339 $ 1,52¢ 18,36:$ (85 $  29,35(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Income (Loss) from discontinued operatic
Loss from continuing operatiol
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic
Provision for doubtful accoun
Provision for excess and obsolete invent
Deferred income taxe
Stock-based compensation expel
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas
Accounts receivabl
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses, other receivables and othes:
Accounts payable, deferred revenue, accrued expamkother liabilitie
Net cash provided by continuing operating actigi
Net cash provided by discontinued operating adtis

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm

Net cash used in investing activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢
Payments on capital lease obligatis
Payments on debt, n

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALES
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of yei

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of yee

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Property and equipment acquired under debt andatdgase:

2010

$ (7,369)

(3,975
(3,394

6,06(
15€
23t
(33)
80¢

(3,779
(3,779

7,27(
20¢
(1,215)

(1,987)
4,27¢

(359
3,61¢
14,81:

$18,43(

©

1,25¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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(4,440
(4,440)

17
(77)
(1,680)
(3,647)
(5,38%)

45¢

(1,239
16,05

$14,81:
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview

PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidiaries, including@ies Distributors, Inc., and eCOST.com, Ince, evllectively referred to as the “Company;”
“Supplies Distributors” refers to Supplies Distribts, Inc. and its subsidiaries; “eCOST” refere@OST.com, Inc.; and “PFSweb” refers to
PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidiaries excluding Supfistributors and eCOST.

PFSweb Overviey

PFSweb is an international business proces®orcing provider of end-to-end eCommerce solstionmajor brand name companies
seeking to optimize their supply chain and to eckaheir traditional and online business channedsiaitiatives in the United States, Canada,
and Europe. PFSweb offers a broad range of seofiegngs that include digital marketing, eCommet®ehnologies, order management,
customer care, logistics and fulfillment, finanainagement and professional consulting

Supplies Distributors Overvie

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and InfoPrintu8ons Company (“IPS”) have entered into maststributor agreements under which
Supplies Distributors acts as a master distribotaarious products, primarily IPS product.

Supplies Distributors has obtained certaiariting (see Notes 3 and 4) that allows it to fureworking capital requirements for the sale of
primarily IPS products. Pursuant to the transaati@magement services agreements between PFSw&upplies Distributors, PFSweb
provides to Supplies Distributors transaction mamagnt and fulfillment services, such as managedhesking and maintenance, procurement
support, web-enabled customer contact center ssrvatistomer relationship management, financialaes including billing and collection
services, information management, and internatidisatibution services. Supplies Distributors does have its own sales force and relies
IPS’s sales force and product demand generatidvitaes for its sale of IPS products. Supplies Bizitors sells its products in the United
States, Canada and Europe.

All of the agreements between PFSweb and $&sppiistributors were made in the context of ateglaarty relationship and were negoti
in the overall context of PFSweb’s and Suppliedritistors’ arrangement with IPS. Although managetnimiieves that the terms of these
agreements are generally consistent with fair mar&keies, there can be no assurance that the mti@gged to or by each company under these
arrangements are not higher or lower than the pticat may be charged by, or to, unaffiliated tipiadties for similar services.

eCOST Overview

Until February 2011 the Company operated eC@sa multi-category online discount retailer ofvn&lose-out” and recertified brand-
name merchandise, which sold products primarilgustomers in the United States. In February 20&XCtbmpany sold substantially all of the
inventory and certain intangible assets of the eCO&iness unit for a cash purchase price of $2lBm(before expenses of approximately
$0.2 million) and the assumption by the purchaseedain limited liabilities of eCOST. The purclegsrice represented approximately
$1 million for inventory and the balance for théaingible assets. In connection with the closinthaf business unit, the Company currently
expects to incur exit costs of approximately $0ilion to $0.4 million related to employee termiimat costs and excess property and
equipment and may incur additional costs, includirgess facility costs. In December 2010, the Compacorded a non-cash goodwill
impairment charge of approximately $2.8 millionaaesult of this sale. For all periods presenteel Gompany has reported the operating
results of the eCOST segment, excluding costs éggeo continue to occur in the future, as discordd operations (see Note 12). In
conjunction with this sale, the Company rename@@®ST.com subsidiary in February 2011. The newyed subsidiary, PFSweb Retail
Connect, Inc., will service certain of the Compangfient relationships on an ongoing basis.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidatior

All intercompany accounts and transactionsehaaen eliminated in consolidation.

Investment in Affiliates

Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc. (“PFS”),veholly-owned subsidiary of PFSweb, has made adsta Supplies Distributors that are
evidenced by a Subordinated Demand Note (the “Slifited Note”). Under the terms of certain of trmrany’s debt facilities, the
outstanding balance of the Subordinated Note cammaicreased to more than $5.0 million or decré&sdess than $3.5 million without prior
approval of the Company’s lenders (see Notes 3Aandls of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the outstanidalance of the Subordinated Note
was $4.3 million and $5.0 million, respectively.eT8ubordinate Note is eliminated in the Compangtssolidated financial statements.

PFS has also made advances to eCOST, whickgajgd $11.1 million and $10.9 million as of Debem31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Certain terms of the Compasytlebt facilities provide that the total advan@es€OST may not be less than $2.0 million withaidrpapprova
of eCOST'’s lender, if needed. PFS has receivedpipeoval of its lender to advance incremental artetmcertain of its subsidiaries and/or
affiliates, including eCOST, if needed, subjectéotain cash inflows to PFS, as defined. PFSweb Has also advanced to eCOST an
additional $7.4 million and $5.0 million as of Deaeer 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. As of DecerBbe2010, PFSweb, Inc. has
approximately $5.0 million available to be advanteeéCOST and/or other affiliates.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financialestegnts and related disclosures in conformity wéhegally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, estimateassumptions that affect the reported amountss#ta, liabilities, revenues and expe!
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilifié® recognition and allocation of certain revenaed selling, general and administrative
expenses in these consolidated financial statenasdgequire management estimates and assumpiibesCompany’s estimates and
assumptions are continually evaluated based otad@information and experience. Because the tisstonates is inherent in the financial
reporting process, actual results could differ frestimates.

Revenue and Cost Recognitic

Depending on the terms of the customer armaege, Supplies Distributors recognizes productmeeeand product cost either upon the
shipment of product to customers or when the custaeteives the product. Supplies Distributors pisrits customers to return product for
credit against other purchases, which include nstfor defective products (that Supplies Distribstiven returns to the manufacturer) and
incorrect shipments. Supplies Distributors providesserve for estimated returns and allowance®#ears terms to its customers that it
believes are standard for its industry.

Freight costs billed to customers are refl@ete components of product revenue. Freight costgried are recorded as a component of cost
of goods sold.

Under its master distributor agreements (sete 8), Supplies Distributors bills IPS for reimbaments of certain expenses, including: pass
through customer marketing programs, including teband coop funds; certain freight costs; direstxincurred in passing on any price
decreases offered by IPS to Supplies Distributoissa@ustomers to cover price protection and aerpecial bids; the cost of products provi
to replace defective product returned by custoreerd;certain other expenses as defined. Suppl&siliitors includes these reimbursable
amounts as they are incurred with a correspondidgation in either inventory or cost of producteeue. Supplies Distributors also reflects
pass through customer marketing programs as atiedwf both product revenue and cost of produecéneie.
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The Company’s service fee revenue primarilgites to its (1) distribution services, (2) ordeamagement/customer care services and (3) the
reimbursement of out-of-pocket and third-party exqes. The Company typically charges its servicedeenue on a cost-plus basis, a percent
of shipped revenue basis or a per transaction bagis as a per item basis for fulfilment servioea per minute basis for web-enabled
customer contact center services. Additional feesdled for other services.

Distribution services relate primarily to imtery management, product receiving, warehousingfalfillment (i.e., picking, packing and
shipping) and facilities and operations managentgenvice fee revenue for these activities is reamghas earned, which is either (i) on a per
transaction basis or (ii) at the time of produdtifment, which occurs at the completion of thetiibution services.

Order management/customer care services iigarily to taking customer orders for the Comyparclients’ products via various
channels such as telephone call-center, electoyrficsimile. These services also entail addressilsgomer questions related to orders, as well
as cross-selling/upelling activities. Service fee revenue for thit\aty is recognized as the services are renddfeds charged to the client
on a per transaction basis based on either (ig-aetermined fee per order or fee per telephonetesnincurred, (ii) a per dedicated agent fee,
or (iii) are included in the product fulfillmentrséce fees that are recognized on product shipment.

The Company'’s billings for reimbursement of-oftpocket expenses, including travel and certhird-party vendor expenses such as
shipping and handling costs and telecommunicati@nges are included in pafsough revenue. The related reimbursable costeeflexted a
cost of pass-through revenue.

The Company'’s cost of service fee revenueesgmting the cost to provide the services destibeve, is recognized as incurred. Cost of
service fee revenue also includes certain costxded with technology collaboration and ongoiechinology support that include
maintenance, web hosting and other ongoing progiamactivities. These activities are primarily pgrhed to support the distribution and
order management/customer care services and argniged as incurred.

The Company recognizes revenue and records &recounts receivables, pursuant to the methatsided above, when collectability is
reasonably assured. Collectability is evaluatethénaggregate and on an individual customer bakisg into consideration payment due date,
historical payment trends, current financial paositiresults of independent credit evaluations andhent terms. Related reserves are
determined by either using percentages applieértaio aged receivable categories based on hiatagsults and are reevaluated and adjusted
as additional information is received or a spediintification method. After all attempts to calle receivable have failed, the receivable is
written off against the allowance for doubtful agots.

The Company primarily performs its servicegemone to three-year contracts that can gendsaltgrminated by either party. In
conjunction with these long-term contracts, the @any sometimes receives start-up fees to covenjilementation costs, including certain
technology infrastructure and development coste. Company defers the fees received, and the redatgd, and amortizes them over the life
of the contract. The amortization of deferred reseis included as a component of service fee rexefoe amortization of deferred
implementation costs is included as a cost of serfge revenue. To the extent implementation dostson-technology infrastructure and
development exceed the fees received, the excetsame expensed as incurred. The following sunmesithe deferred implementation
revenues and costs, excluding technology and dewedat costs that are included in property and eqgeig (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Deferred implementation revenu
Current $ 4,487 $ 3,94¢
Non-current 3,25¢ 3,68(

$ 7,745 $ 7,62¢

Deferred implementation cos
Current $ 1,51f $ 1,621
Non-current 1,07¢ 1,394

$ 2,591 $ 3,01t
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Current and non-current deferred implementatiosts, excluding technology and development castsa component of prepaid expenses
and other assets, respectively. Current and namtdeferred implementation revenues, which magegue the timing of when the related
implementation costs are incurred and thus defeererla component of deferred revenue and otHaliti@s, respectively.

Concentration of Business and Credit Risk

The Company'’s service fee revenue is generatddr contractual service fee relationships withtiple client relationships. One product
revenue customer represented 11% of the Compaogsotidated total net revenue during each of ttesyended December 31, 2010 and
2009. A summary of the customer and client conegiotns is as follows:

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Product Revenue (as a percentage of Product Reje

Customer ! 10% 14%

Customer 2 17% 17%
Service Fee Revenue (as a percentage of ServicRdwamue)

Client 1 7% 15%

Client 2 7% 10%
Accounts Receivable

Customer/Client : 7% 11%

PFS previously operated three distinct gedycab contract arrangements with Client 1, whioh aggregated in the service fee revenue
percentages reflected above. As of December 31), Zdbstantially all of Client 1’s contracts witk® had expired in accordance with their
terms and were not renewed.

PFSweb has provided certain collateralizedantaes of its subsidiaries’ financings and cradidngements. These subsidiaries’ ability to
obtain financing on similar terms would be sigrafitly impacted without these guarantees.

The Company has multiple arrangements witbri@tional Business Machines Corporation (“IBM"ddPS and is dependent upon the
continuation of such arrangements. These arrangsmehich are critical to the Company’s ongoing ragiens, include Supplies Distributors’
master distributor agreements and certain of Segistributors’ working capital financing agreertsersubstantially all of the Supplies
Distributors’ revenue is generated by its salerofipct purchased from IPS. Supplies Distributose aélies upon IPS’s sales force and product
demand generation activities and the discontinuafiseich services would have a material impact Upapplies Distributors’ business. In
addition, Supplies Distributors has product sabeBtM and IPS business units and the Company hdBMrterm master lease agreement
applicable to its financing of certain property agipment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-tertmnigyuid investments with original maturities, @t acquired, of three months or less.
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Restricted Casl
Restricted cash includes the following itemstifousands):

December 31 December 31

2010 2009
Customer remittance $ 1,07¢ $ 1,364
Bond financing (see Note . 771 732
Total restricted cas $ 1,85z $ 2,09¢

In conjunction with certain of its financingr@ements, Supplies Distributors has granted teritsers a security interest in certain customer
remittances received in specified bank accounts {sse 4). At December 31, 2010 and 2009, thesk deeounts held $0.9 million and $1.2
million, respectively, which was restricted and cauty be used to reduce the outstanding debt.

Other Receivables

Other receivables include $11.3 million andd$8illion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, retbypadg, primarily for amounts due from
IPS and IBM for costs incurred by the Company uridermaster distributor agreements (see Note &dftlition, other receivables include $
million and $3.6 million as of December 31, 201@ &909, respectively, applicable to value added¢arivables.

Inventories

Inventories (all of which are finished goodsg stated at the lower of weighted average costasket. The Company establishes inventory
reserves based upon estimates of declines in vedlieto inventories that are slow moving or obsglekcess levels of inventory or values
assessed at lower than cost.

Supplies Distributors assumes responsibititysfow-moving inventory under its IPS master disttor agreements, subject to certain
termination rights, but has the right to returndurct rendered obsolete by engineering changesfased (see Note 6). In the event PFSweb,
Supplies Distributors and IPS terminate the madigdributor agreements, the agreements providéhoparties to mutually agree on a plan of
disposition of Supplies Distributors’ then existimgentory.

Supplies Distributors’ inventories include weteandise in-transit that has not been received&yCbmpany but that has been shipped and
invoiced by Supplies Distributors’ vendors. Theresponding payable for inventories in-transit isluded in accounts payable in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company reviews inventory for impairmentsoperiodic basis, but at a minimum, annually.dvecability of the inventory on hand is
measured by comparison of the carrying value ofrtlaentory to the fair value of the inventory. Tééowance for slow moving inventory was
$1.6 million and $1.8 million as of December 311@&nd 2009, respectively.

Property and Equipmen

The components of property and equipment as of Mbee 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows (in thousands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009 Depreciable Life
Furniture and fixture $ 19,03¢ $ 19,550 2-10 year
Purchased and capitalized software c 22,47¢ 19,31 3-5 year
Computer equipmet 9,89/ 11,88 3-5 year.
Leasehold improvemen 7,21 7,83¢ 3-5year
Other 901 1,00z 3-5 year
59,52¢ 59,59
Les«accumulated depreciation and amortiza (50,402 (49,27°)
Property and equipment, r $ 9,12 $ 10,31«
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The Company makes judgments and estimatesnjuiraction with the carrying value of these assetduding amounts to be capitalized,
depreciation and amortization methods and usefetliAdditionally, the Company reviews lofiged assets for impairment whenever even
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargngunt of an asset may not be recoverable. Thep@oyrrecords impairment losses, if any,
in the period in which the Company determines thatcarrying amount is not recoverable. Recovdtgluf assets to be held and used is
measured by a comparison of the carrying amouahasset to future net cash flows expected to bergeed by the asset. This may require
Company to make judgments regarding long-term frstscof future revenues and costs related to getsasubject to review. During 2010 and
2009, no impairment of property and equipment wlasiified or recorded.

Property and equipment are stated at cosaendepreciated using the straight-line method theestimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Capitalized implementation costs are digppeelcover the respective client contract peribgssehold improvements are amortized over
the shorter of the useful life of the related assahe remaining lease term. Depreciation and &iradion expense related to property and
equipment, excluding capital leases and amountsded in discontinued operations, during 2010 ab@2was $4.6 million and $5.0 million,
respectively.

The Company’s property held under capitaldsaamount to approximately $1.5 million and $2.lliom, net of accumulated amortization,
of approximately $2.8 million and $3.7 million, Recember 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Depieniand amortization expense related to
capital leases during 2010 and 2009 was $1.5 midiod $1.7 million, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For the Company’s Canadian and European dpesathe local currency is the functional curren&ly assets and liabilities are translated at
exchange rates in effect at the end of the pednd,income and expense items are translated avérage exchange rates for the period.

The Company includes currency gains and lossehortterm intercompany advances in the determinatiamedincome and loss. Currer
gains and losses, including transaction gains esgkk and those on short-term intercompany advancksled in net loss were a currency net
loss of approximately $0.1 million for in the yearded December 31, 2010 and a currency net g&i@.dfmillion in the year ended
December 31, 2009. The Company reports gains asgs$oon intercompany foreign currency transactiveisare of a long-term investment
nature as a separate component of shareholderisy equ

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accountiren8ards Update (ASU) 2009-14ultiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements — a
consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Foa®end certain guidance ASB Accounting Standards Codificatibfh(ASC) 605,
Revenue Recogniti¢, 25, “Multiple-Element Arrangements.” The amendgidance in ASC 605-25 (1) modifies the separatigteria by
eliminating the criterion that requires objectivelaeliable evidence of fair value for the undeleatitem(s), and (2) eliminates the use of the
residual method of allocation and instead requites arrangement consideration be allocated, ahteption of the arrangement, to all
deliverables based on their relative selling price.

The FASB also issued ASU 2009-C&rtain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softesements — a consensus of the FASB Emerging
Issues Task Forc, to amend the scope of arrangements under ASCXffsyare, 605, “Revenue Recognition” to exclude tangibledurcts
containing software components and non-softwarepoorants that function together to deliver a produessential functionality.

The amended guidance in ASC 605-25 and ASG6885s effective prospectively for revenue arrangats entered into or materially
modified in fiscal years beginning on or after J&e 2010, with early application and retrospectipelication permitted. The adoption of A
605-25 and ASC 985-605, and the related amendndidtapt have a material impact on the Companyfsotdated financial statements.
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Income Taxes

For federal income tax purposes, tax yearsrérmain subject to examination include years 2006ugh 2010. However, the utilization of
net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards that argser to 2006 remain subject to examination thiotlge years such carryforwards are
utilized. For Europe, tax years that remain sulieetxamination include years 2007 to 2010. Howether utilization of NOL carryforwards
that arose prior to 2007 remain subject to exartinahrough the years such carryforwards are etiliZor Canada, tax years that remain
subject to examination include years 2003 to 20&pending on the subsidiary. For state income taggses, the tax years that remain subject
to examination include years 2005 to 2010, depandpon the jurisdiction in which the Company fiteg returns. The Company and its
subsidiaries have various income tax returns irptbeess of examination or administrative appddie. Company does not expect that these
examinations will result in unrecognized tax betsefi

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recaaghfor the future tax consequences attributabtlifferences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitied their respective tax bases. Deferred tax aaset liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeerytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ohange in tax rates is recognized in income irpéréod that includes the enactment date.
Valuation allowances are established when necessaeduce deferred tax assets to the amount rikalg than not to be realized.

The Company recognizes interest and penak#iaged to certain tax positions in income tax exee

Self Insurance

The Company is self-insured for medical inegeabenefits up to certain stop-loss limits. Suastsare accrued based on known claims and
an estimate of incurred, but not reported (“IBNRI3ims. IBNR claims are estimated using historiaglinformation and other data provided
by claims administrators.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s finanaistruments, which include cash and cash equivalactcounts receivable, accounts payable
and debt and capital lease obligations, approxirtinetie fair values based on short terms to maturitgurrent market prices and interest rates.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined asliamge in equity (net assets) of a business ergenpuring a period from transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner ssuf@omprehensive income (loss) consists of netiiec(loss) and foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Net Loss Per Common Shay

Basic and diluted net loss per share are ctedpoy dividing net loss by the weighted-averagealner of common shares outstanding for the
reporting period. Stock options not included in daéculation of diluted net loss per share forykars ended December 31, 2010 and 2009,
were 2.3 million and 1.8 million, respectively,thg effect would be anti-dilutive.

Cash Paid For Interest and Taxes During Year

The Company made payments for interest ofapprately $1.0 million and $1.3 million and incor@xes of approximately $0.4 million
and $0.7 million during the years ended DecembeRB10 and 2009, respectively (see Notes 3, 4 and 8
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Reclassifications

Prior year data related to discontinued opamathave been reclassified to conform to curreniog presentation. These reclassifications
no effect on previously reported net income (lass3hareholders’ equity.
3. Vendor Financing

Outstanding obligations under vendor finanangngements consist of the following (in thousdnd

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Inventory and working capital financing agreeme
United State: $ 16,47 $ 16,07
Europe 11,31¢ 15,64¢
Total $ 27,79 $ 31,72

Inventory and Working Capital Financing Agreementt/nited States

Supplies Distributors has a short-term crédiility with IBM Credit LLC to finance its distribstion of IPS products in the United States,
providing financing for eligible IPS inventory aedrtain receivables up to $30.5 million througheitpiration in March 2011. As of December
31, 2010, Supplies Distributors had $2.9 milliorawhilable credit under this facility. The creditility contains cross default provisions,
various restrictions upon the ability of Supplieistbbutors to, among others, merge, consolidagk assets, incur indebtedness, make loan
payments to related parties (including entitieedtly or indirectly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), proviglearantees, make investments and loans,
pledge assets, make changes to capital stock ompetsucture and pay dividends, as well as fir@nmbvenants, such as annualized revenue
to working capital, net profit after tax to revenaed total liabilities to tangible net worth, aided, and are secured by certain of the assets o
Supplies Distributors, as well as a collateraligedranty of PFSweb. Additionally, PFS is requirednaintain a minimum Subordinated Note
receivable balance from Supplies Distributors a638illion and a minimum shareholders’ equity oB¥Lmillion. Borrowings under the credit
facility accrue interest, after a defined free finig period, at prime rate plus 0.5% (3.75% asath December 31, 2010 and 2009). The
facility also includes a monthly service fee.

On March 30, 2011, Supplies Distributors ezdento an amended credit facility with IBM CretltC, which reduces the financing
maximum to $25.0 million and extends the terminatiate through March 2012. Given the structurdnisffiacility and as outstanding balanc
which represent inventory purchases, are repaidinwitvelve months, the Company has classified titetanding amounts under this facility as
accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets

Inventory and Working Capital Financing Agreemenigurope

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary aahort-term credit facility with IBM Belgium Finaial Services S.A. (*IBM Belgium”) to
finance its distribution of IPS products in Europbe asset based credit facility with IBM Belgiumopides up to 16.0 million Euros
(approximately $21.4 million as of December 31, @0 inventory financing and cash advances baseeligible inventory and accounts
receivable through its expiration in March 2011.cA9ecember 31, 2010, Supplies Distributors’ Eanp subsidiaries had 7.4 million Euros
(approximately $9.9 million at December 31, 201Dawnilable credit. The credit facility contain®ss default provisions, various restrictions
upon the ability of Supplies Distributors and itsr&pean subsidiary to, among others, merge, caleeli sell assets, incur indebtedness, make
loans and payments to related parties (includingiesdirectly or indirectly owned by PFSweb, lnq@rovide guarantees, make investments
and loans, pledge assets, make changes to capitkl@vnership structure and pay dividends, as agfinancial covenants, such as annua
revenue to working capital, net profit after taxéosenue, and total liabilities to tangible net thoas defined, and are secured by certain of the
assets of Supplies Distributoisuropean subsidiary, as well as collateralized ajutégs of Supplies Distributors and PFSweb. Adddity, PF<
is required to maintain a minimum Subordinated Neteivable balance from Supplies Distributors 2b$million and the Company is
required to maintain a minimum shareholders’ eqaft$18.0 million. Borrowings under the credit fidgi accrue interest at
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Euribor plus 1.82% for cash advances, and, aftefiaed free financing period, at Euribor plus 4d.r inventory financings. As of
December 31, 2010 there were $0.1 million of ouditag cash advances and the interest rate was @n9e $11.3 million of outstanding
inventory financings. As of December 31, 2009 titeriest rate was 4.7%. Supplies Distributors’ Eaespsubsidiary pays a monthly service
fee on the commitment.

On March 31, 2011, Supplies Distributors’ Eperan subsidiaries entered into an amended cradlityfavith IBM Belgium, which extends
the termination date through March 2012 and moglifiertain financial covenants. Given the structdrhis facility and as outstanding
inventory financing balances are repaid within weeinonths, the Company has classified the outstgridventory financing amounts under
this facility as accounts payable in the consoéiddialance sheets.

4. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations:

Outstanding debt and capital lease obligataamsist of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Loan and security agreements, United Stz
Supplies Distributor $ 7,2 $ 8,921
PFS 6,00( 6,00(
Credit facility— eCOST — —
Factoring agreement, Euro 2,302 1,07¢
Taxable revenue boni 1,60( 2,40(
Master lease agreemel 2,66( 3,467
Other 674 665
Total 20,45¢ 22,521
Less current portion of loi-term debt 18,32( 19,17¢
Long-term debt, less current porti $ 2,13¢ $  3,34¢

Loan and Security Agreemer— Supplies Distributors

Supplies Distributors has a loan and secagteement with Wells Fargo Bank, National Assoeiafi'Wells Fargo”) to provide financing
for up to $25 million of eligible accounts receil@in the United States and Canada. As of Dece®be2010, Supplies Distributors had $1.4
million of available credit under this agreemertteTWells Fargo facility expires on the earlier odidh 2011 or the date on which the partie
the IPS master distributor agreement (see Note &mger operate under the terms of such agreeamefior IPS no longer supplies products
pursuant to such agreement. Borrowings under thiis\Wargo facility accrue interest at prime rateg0.25% to 0.75% (3.75% as of
December 31, 2010) or Eurodollar rate plus 2.5%.080, dependent on excess availability and sulbgegtminimum of 3.0%, as defined. The
interest rate as of December 31, 2010 was 3.75% 7@ million of outstanding borrowings. As of Dedger 31, 2009, the interest rate was
3.75% for $5.9 million of outstanding borrowingsdah 2% for $3.0 million of outstanding borrowingsis agreement contains cross default
provisions, various restrictions upon the abilifySaipplies Distributors to, among other things, geeiconsolidate, sell assets, incur
indebtedness, make loans and payments to relatédsp@ncluding entities directly or indirectly owd by PFSweb, Inc.), provide guarantees,
make investments and loans, pledge assets, makgehto capital stock ownership structure and pagehds, as well as financial covenants,
such as minimum net worth, as defined, and is selchy all of the assets of Supplies Distributossyall as a collateralized guaranty of
PFSweb. Additionally, PFS is required to maintaiBubordinated Note receivable balance from Supplisgibutors of no less than $4.3
million and may not maintain restricted cash of enttran $5.0 million, and is restricted with regardransactions with related parties,
indebtedness and changes to capital stock ownesshigture. Supplies Distributors has entered libocked account agreements with its banks
and Wells Fargo pursuant to which a security irstieneas granted to Wells Fargo for all U.S. and @@&aracustomer remittances received in
specified bank accounts. At December 31, 2010 axkmber 31, 2009, these bank accounts held $0i8Bmahd $1.0 million, respectively,
which was restricted for payment to Wells Fargo.

On March 29, 2011, Supplies Distributors ezdlénto an amended loan and security agreementWatls Fargo, which extends the
termination date through March 2014 and reducesnihénum Subordinate Note balance to $3.5 million.
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Loan and Security Agreemer— PFSweb

PFS has a Loan and Security Agreement (“Caragkgreement”) with Comerica Bank (“Comerical’he Comerica Agreement provides
up to $10.0 million of eligible accounts receivabiencing through March 2011. As of December 31, PFS had $3.9 million of available
credit under this facility. Borrowings under thererica Agreement accrue interest at a defined watesh will generally be prime rate plus
2%, with a minimum of 4.5% (5.25% at both DecemBB4r,2010 and 2009). The Comerica Agreement cosntaioss default provisions,
various restrictions upon PFS’ ability to, amongestthings, merge, consolidate, sell assets, imtabtedness, make loans and payments to
related parties (including entities directly oriiedtly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), make capital exjitenes, make investments and loans, pledge
assets, make changes to capital stock ownershigtgte, as well as financial covenants of a minintangible net worth of $20 million, as
defined, a minimum earnings before interest anddaglus depreciation, amortization and non-cashpemsation accruals, if any, as defined,
and a minimum liquidity ratio, as defined. The Coite Agreement restricts the amount of the Subertdith Note receivable from Supplies
Distributors to a maximum of $5.0 million. Comericas provided approval for PFS to advance increah@ntounts subject to certain cash
inflows to PFS, as defined, to certain of its sdiasies and/or affiliates, including eCOST, if neddThe Comerica Agreement is secured by all
of the assets of PFS, as well as a guarantee ofiét;3nc.

On March 31, 2011, PFS entered into an ameadezkment with Comerica, which extends the tertimnalate through September 2012,
allows for up to $12.5 million of eligible accountceivable financing during certain seasonal peakths and provides the approval for PF
advance incremental amounts subject to certainioflsivs to PFS, as defined, to its subsidiaried/anaffiliates, if needed.

Credit Facility — eCOST

eCOST has an asset-based line of creditfiaofiup to $7.5 million from Wachovia, through Ma@11, which is collateralized by
substantially all of eCOST’s assets. Borrowingsarrte facility are limited to a percentage of ilig accounts receivable and inventory.
Outstanding borrowings under the facility beariiest at rates ranging from prime rate plus 0.75%25% or Eurodollar rate plus 3.0% to
4.0%, depending on eCOST's financial results. Theree no outstanding borrowings as of DecembeRB10 or 2009. As of December 31,
2010, eCOST had $0.9 million of letters of creditstanding and $0.6 million of available credit anthis facility. Subsequent to the sale of
certain assets in February 2011 (see Note 12), atn@vailable under the outstanding letters ofiteee secured by restricted cash in
equivalent amounts until expiration. In connectidgth the line of credit, eCOST entered into a casinagement arrangement whereby
eCOST'’s operating amounts are considered restrastddswept and used to repay outstanding amoudes time line of credit. As of
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, theatestriash amount was $0.2 million for both periddee credit facility restricts eCOST's
ability to, among other things, merge, consolidagd|, assets, incur indebtedness, make loans,tmeass and payments to subsidiaries,
affiliates and related parties (including entititiectly or indirectly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), makeestments and loans, pledge assets, make
changes to capital stock ownership structure, agdires a minimum tangible net worth of $0, asrdefi PFSweb has guaranteed all current
and future obligations of eCOST under this linefdit.

Factoring Agreement

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million Euros (approximately $10.0lioh at December 31, 2010) of eligible accountseieables through March 2011. This
factoring agreement is accounted for as a secuwedwing. As of December 31, 2010, Supplies Disiftios’ European subsidiary had
approximately 0.7 million Euros ($0.9 million) ofailable credit under this agreement. Borrowingsae interest at Euribor plus 1.2% (2.0%
and 1.6% at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respegtividlis agreement contains various restrictionsnujine ability of Supplies Distributors’
European subsidiary to, among other things, mexgesolidate and incur indebtedness, as well asdinhcovenants, such as minimum net
worth. This agreement is secured by a guarant&aipplies Distributors, up to a maximum of 200,0Q0ds.
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Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary éatered into a new factoring agreement with BNRbRa Fortis effective April 1, 2011 that
provides factoring under similar terms as the Batjreement through April 1, 2014 for up to 7.5ioml Euros (approximately $10.0 million at
December 31, 2010). Borrowings under the new ageeémill accrue interest at Euribor plus 0.7%.

Taxable Revenue Bonds

PFS has a Loan Agreement with the Missisdjysiness Finance Corporation (the “MBFC”) in cortitwith the issuance by the MBFC
of MBFC Taxable Variable Rate Demand Limited Ohliga Revenue Bonds, Series 2004 (Priority Fulfilih8ervices, Inc. Project) (the
“Bonds”). The MBFC loaned the proceeds of the BatwdBFS for the purpose of financing the acquisiiod installation of equipment,
machinery and related assets located in the Conp&ayuthaven, Mississippi distribution facility. @Bonds bear interest at a variable rate
(0.4% as of December 31, 2010), as determined Inyeioa Securities, as Remarketing Agent. PFSs aigtion, may convert the Bonds to a
fixed rate, to be determined by the Remarketingmge the time of conversion.

The primary source of repayment of the Bosds lietter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) issuby Comerica pursuant to a Reimbursement
Agreement between PFS and Comerica under whichéi8igated to pay to Comerica all amounts drawdar the Letter of Credit. The
Letter of Credit has a maturity date of April 2042which time, if not renewed or replaced, willuksn a draw on the undrawn face amount
thereof. The Bonds require future annual principplyments of $800,000 in January of 2011 and 2BE3! obligations under the
Reimbursement Agreement are secured by substgraiabf the assets of PFS, including restricteshcaf $0.8 million and a Company parent
guarantee.

Debt Covenant:

To the extent the Company or any of its subsies fail to comply with its covenants applicatiddts debt or vendor financing obligations,
including the monthly financial covenant requirertsesnd required level of shareholders’ equity dnvmerth, and one or all of the lenders
accelerate the repayment of the credit facilityigdiions, the Company would be required to rephgrabunts outstanding thereunder. In
particular, if PFS service fee revenue declinesfexpected levels and it is unable to reduce dosterrespond to such reduced revenue levels
or if Supplies Distributors revenue or gross prdétlines from expected levels, such events mayltriesa breach of one or more of the
financial covenants required under its working tapine of credit. In such event, absent a waitlkee, working capital lender would be entitled
to accelerate all amounts outstanding thereundegercise all other rights and remedies, includialg of collateral and demand for payment
under the Company parent guaranty. Any acceleratidghe repayment of the credit facilities wouldsea material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial condition and results of opierat and no assurance can be given that the Compaulg have the financial ability to
repay all of such obligations. As of December 311® the Company was in compliance with all delveoants.

Master Lease Agreemen

The Company has a Term Lease Master AgreewidntBM Credit Corporation (“Master Lease Agreertigithat provides for leasing or
financing transactions of equipment and other assétich generally have terms of three years. Theumts outstanding under this Master
Lease Agreement were $1.0 million and $1.6 milkenof December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectivelyciwéuie secured by the related
equipment (see Note 2).

The Company has other leasing and financimgeagents and will continue to enter into thosersyeanents as needed to finance the
purchasing or leasing of certain equipment or o#fssets. Borrowings under these agreements areaffgrsecured by the related equipment.
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Debt and Capital Lease Maturitie
The Company’s aggregate maturities of debt subsgqoadecember 31, 2010 are as follows (in thousand

Fiscal year ended December

2011 $17,51¢
2012 1,22¢
2013 24z
2014 35
Thereaftel —

Total $19,02:

The following is a schedule of the Companyfe minimum lease payments under the capitatetmether with the present value of the
net minimum lease payments as of December 31, @d1Bousands):

Fiscal year ended December

2011 $ 86¢€
2012 43¢
2013 217
Thereaftel —

Total minimum lease paymer $ 1,52
Less amount representing interest at rates rarfiging4.7% to 12.0% (87)
Present value of net minimum lease paym 1,43t
Less: Current portio (80%)

Long-term capital lease obligatiol $ 63C

5. Stock and Stock Options
Preferred Stock Purchase Righ

On June 8, 2000, and as amended, the CompBoyrd of Directors declared a dividend distribntof one preferred stock purchase rigt
“Right”) for each share of the Company’s commorcktoutstanding on July 6, 2000 and each sharerofan stock issued thereafter. Each
Right entitles the registered shareholders to msetirom the Company one one-thousandth of a sli@referred stock at an exercise price of
$314.90, subject to adjustment. The Rights areaoently exercisable, but would become exercisdlgertain events occurred relating to a
person or group acquiring or attempting to acqBeercent or more of the Compasygutstanding shares of common stock. The Righise
on July 6, 2015, unless redeemed, exchanged andedeby the Company.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company offered the PFSweb Employee SRarkhase Plan (the “Stock Purchase Plan”) thatgwakfied under Section 423 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, to provide employééise Company an opportunity to acquire a pragrieinterest in the Company. The
Stock Purchase Plan permitted each U.S. employeecatmpleted 90 days of service to elect to padigpn the plan. Eligible employees cc
elect to contribute with after-tax dollars up tmaximum annual contribution of $25,000. The StoakcRase Plan provided for acquisition of
the Company’s common stock at a 5% discount tartheket value on the date of purchase. During tlesyended December 31, 2010 and
2009, the Company issued 2,793 and 17,070 shades thre Stock Purchase Plan, respectively. The3xHares issued in 2010 related to 2009
contributions. The Company terminated the StoclkcRase Plan effective January 1, 2010.

Stock Options and Stock Option Plau

The Company recognizes compensation costifeharebased payments based on the grant date fair v@bmpensation cost is recogni:
on a straight-line basis, net of estimated forfeit,1 over the requisite service period of each dwar
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Stock-based compensation charged against imeaams $0.8 million and $0.4 million for the yearsled December 31, 2010 and 2009,
respectively. As of December 31, 2010, there waSs #fillion of total unrecognized compensation costated to unvested stock options, wl
is expected to be recognized over a weighted aeguagod of approximately 1.7 years.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company haddhewing share-based compensation plans:

PFSweb Plan Option

The Company has an Employee Stock and Ineef/i@n and an Outside Director Stock Option an@iRet Plan under which an aggregate
of 3,192,341 shares of common stock have been dzgldcfor issuance (the “Stock Options Plans”) andutstanding stock option agreement
under which 7,446 shares were originally authorizedssuance. The Stock Option Plans provideHergranting of incentive awards in the
form of stock options to directors, executive maeragnt, key employees, and outside consultantseo€tdmpany. The rights to purchase
shares under the employee stock option agreemgritally vest over a three-year period, one-twedflth quarter. Stock options must be
exercised within 10 years from the date of gratuciSoptions are generally issued such that theceseeprice is equal to the market value of
the Company’s common stock at the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2010, there were 845,44Beshavailable for future grants under the Stocka@@Plans.

The following table summarizes stock optiotivty under the Stock Option Plans:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Life (in Value (in
Shares Price Per Share Price years) millions)
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 1,666,25! $1.0+—$13.91 $ 4.7
Grantec 653,50( $ 2.3—$4.0C $ 3.9t
Exercisec (107) $ 1.01 $ 1.01
Cancelec (125,979 $1.01—$12.64 $ 8.9¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 2,193,67. $1.01—$13.91 $ 4.2¢
Exercisable, Decembi31, 201C 1,453,78! $1.01—%$13.91 $ 4.7: 4.4 $ 0.7
Exercisable and expected to vest, December 31, 2,059,15! $1.01—$13.91 $ 4.3 3.9 $ 11

The weighted average fair value per shargtibns granted during the years ended Decembe&2@®1 and 2009 was $2.82 and $1.04,
respectively.

PFSweb No-plan Options

Prior to the Company'’s initial public offeringertain of the Company’s employees were holdéstazk options of the Company’s former
parent company, Daisytek International Corporaff@aisytek”), issued under Daisytek’s stock optjgans.

In connection with the completion of the Comyia spin-off from Daisytek on July 6, 2000 (thepiB-off”), all outstanding Daisytek stock
options were replaced with substitute stock opti@raisytek options held by PFSweb employees weraced (at the option holder’s election
made prior to the Spioff) with either options to acquire shares of PFBwemmon stock or options to acquire shares of Datisytek comma
stock and PFSweb common stock (that may be exdrsiggarately) (the “Unstapled Options”). Optionklh®y Daisytek employees were
replaced (at the option holder’s election madergddhe Spineff) with either options to acquire shares of D&&ycommon stock or Unstapl
Options.

As a result of the stock option replacementpss described above, in conjunction with the -8ffirPFSweb stock options (the “Non-plan
Options”) were issued to PFSweb and Daisytek afficdirectors and employees. These options wenedsas one-time grants and were not
issued under the Stock Option Plans. The termgpemdsions of the Non-plan Options are substantidde same as options issued under the
Stock Option Plans.
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The following table summarizes stock optiotivéty under the Non-plan Options:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Life (in Value (in
Shares Price Per Shar¢ Price years) millions)
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 91,02: $ 4.2¢ $ 4.2¢
Grantec — $ — $ —
Exercisec — $ — $ —
Cancelec 2,307) $ 4.2¢ $ 4.2¢
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 88,71¢ $ 4.2¢ $ 4.2¢ 0.9 $ —
Exercisable, December 31, 20 88,71¢ $ 4.2¢ $ 4.2¢ 0.9 $ —
Fair Value

The fair value of each option grant is estedadn the date of grant using the Black-Scholemoiricing model with the following
assumptions used for grants of options under tbekSDption Plans:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201  December 31, 20C

Expected dividend yiel — —

Expected stock price volatilit 82%- 84% 77%- 82%
Weighted average stock price volatil 83% 81%
Risk-free interest rat 1.7%- 2.9% 2.0%- 3.2%
Expected life of options (year 6 6

The Black-Scholes option valuation model reggithe input of highly subjective assumptionsiuding the expected life of the stock-based
award and stock-price volatility. The assumptidstetl above represent management’s best estinbatethese estimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of managemergmeht. As a result, if other assumptions had besed,uhe Company’s recorded and pro
forma stock-based compensation expense could reare different. In addition, the Company is requieéstimate the expected forfeiture rate
and only recognize expense for those shares exptxtest. If the Company’s actual forfeiture ristenaterially different from its estimate, the
share-based compensation expense could be matelifidirent. The expected life of options has beemputed using the simplified method.

6. Master Distributor Agreements

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and IPS haveredtinto master distributor agreements under w8igbplies Distributors acts as a master
distributor of various products, primarily IPS pund, and PFSweb provides transaction managemerfulfiidnent services to Supplies
Distributors. The master distributor agreementssaigect to periodic renewals, the next of whiclniBecember 2011. Under the master
distributor agreements, IPS sells product to Sepglistributors and reimburses Supplies Distritsifor certain freight costs, direct costs
incurred in passing on any price decreases offieyd&®S to Supplies Distributors or its customersdwer price protection and certain special
bids, the cost of products provided to replace atafe product returned by customers and other iteetgpenses as defined. Supplies
Distributors can return to IPS product renderedtdie by IPS engineering changes after customerddrands. IPS determines when a
product is obsolete. IPS and Supplies Distributdes have agreements under which IPS reimbursesllects from Supplies Distributors
amounts calculated in certain inventory cost adjesits.

Supplies Distributors passes through to custermarketing programs specified by IPS and adieirsisalong with a party performing
product demand generation for the IPS productd) puagrams according to IPS guidelines.
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7. Supplies Distributors

Pursuant to a credit agreement, Suppliesibigtrs is restricted from making any distributidndPFSweb if, after giving affect thereto,
Supplies Distributors’ would be in noncompliancehwits financial covenants. Under the terms ofitsended credit agreements, Supplies
Distributors is restricted from paying annual cdalidends without the prior approval of its lendéssee Notes 3 and 4). Supplies Distributors
has received lender approval to pay approximatel9 #illion of dividends in 2011. Supplies Distribts paid dividends to PFSweb of
$2.9 million and $2.1 million in 2010 and 2009, pestively.

8. Income Taxes

The consolidated income (loss) from continudpgrations before income taxes, by domestic araido entities, is as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Domestic $ (4,400 $ (7,079
Foreign 1,471 2,48z
Total $ (293) $  (4,59)

A reconciliation of the difference between thgected income tax expense from continuing operaat the U.S. federal statutory corpol
tax rate of 34%, and the Company'’s effective tag imas follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Income tax benefit computed at statutory | $ (997) $ (1,56
Impact of foreign taxatio 4 2
Foreign dividends receive 89:< 1,187
Items not deductible for tax purpos 462 232
Change in valuation reser (123) 1,28t
Other 224 (8249)
Provision for income taxe $ 463 $ 321
Current and deferred income tax expense (bdgseesummarized as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Current
Domestic $ — $ 13
State 45 19t
Foreign 451 17¢
Total current 49¢€ 38¢€
Deferred
Domestic — —
State 15 (41)
Foreign (48) (24)
Total deferrec (33) (65)
Total $ 463 $ 321
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The components of the deferred tax assetil{tighare as follows (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Deferred tax asset

Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 757 $ 797
Inventory reservi 63C 713
Property and equipme 1,33¢ 1,071
Net operating loss carryforwar 19,56¢ 20,06¢
Other 1,47¢ 1,32¢
23,76¢ 23,97:
Less— Valuation allowanct 23,20: 23,32¢
Total deferred tax ass 56& 647

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assel (108) (143
Other (48) (107)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (15€) (250)
Deferred tax assets, r $ 40¢ $ 397

Management believes that PFSweb has not esdtatla sufficient history of earnings, on a statahe basis, to support the more likely than
not realization of certain deferred tax assetsiress of existing taxable temporary differencesafuation allowance has been provided for the
majority of these net deferred income tax assetf Becember 31, 2010 and 2009. At December 310,204t operating loss carryforwards
relate to taxable losses of PFSweb’s European diabgitotaling approximately $5.3 million, PFSwelCanadian subsidiary totaling
approximately $5.0 million and PFSweb’s U.S. sulasids totaling approximately $47.4 million thatpne at various dates from 2011 through
2030. The U.S. NOL carryforward includes $4.6 raillirelating to tax benefits of stock option exezsiand, if utilized, will be recorded agai
additional paid-in-capital upon utilization ratitban as an adjustment to income tax expense frorineong operations. The U.S. NOL also
includes approximately $21.0 million of NOL acquine 2006, which is subject to annual limits of $million under IRS Section 382.

The Company evaluates its tax positions faeptial liabilities associated with unrecognizexl benefits. As of December 31, 2010 and
2009, no unrecognized tax benefits, penaltiesterast were identified or recorded. The Companysdume expect to record unrecognized tax
benefits in the next twelve months.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities, warehouseg®ffiransportation and other equipment under opgrigases expiring in various years thro
December 31, 2015. In most cases, management expattin the normal course of business, leaskbeavrenewed or replaced by other
leases. The Company'’s facility leases generallyainrone or more renewal options.

Minimum future annual rental payments under-nancelable operating leases having original temexcess of one year are as follows (in
thousands):

Operating
Lease

Paymente
Fiscal year ended December
2011 $ 5,72¢
2012 4,17(
2013 3,31¢
2014 1,97¢
2015 43¢
Thereaftel —
Total $ 15,62¢

Minimum rental payments under operating leasesecognized on a straight-line basis overaha of the lease including any periods of
free rent. Total rental expense under operatingeleapproximated $7.9 million and $10.2 milliontfoe years ended December 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively. Certain landlord required dép@se secured by letters of credit.
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The Company receives municipal tax abatemartsrtain locations. During 2004 the Company reeginotice from a municipality that it
did not satisfy certain criteria necessary to nainthe abatements. In December 2006 the Compaejvesl notice that the municipal autho
planned to make an adjustment to the Company’altatement. The Company disputed the adjustmensuiddispute has been settled with
the municipality. However, the amount of additiopebperty taxes to be assessed against the Conapantye timing of the related payments
has not been finalized. As of December 31, 201 Qbmpany believes it has adequately accrued éoexpected assessment.

In April 2010, a sales employee of eCOST wearged with violating various federal criminal sted in connection with the sales of eCOST
products to certain customers, and approximateR0EHO0 held in an eCOST bank account was seizeduaneld over to the Office of the U.S.
Attorney in connection with such activity. The Ccany received subpoenas from the Office of the Bitfrney requesting information
regarding the employee and other matters, and ¢imep@ny has responded to the subpoenas and icdlyerating with the Office of the U.S.
Attorney. The Company has commenced its own ingasgtin into the actions of the employee. Neither@lompany nor eCOST have been
charged with any criminal activity, and the Compantgnds to seek the recovery or reimbursemerttefunds which are currently classifiec
other receivables on the December 31, 2010 finhaéements. Based on the information availabléate, the Company is unable to
determine the amount of the loss, if any, relatmthe seizure of such funds. No assurance caivba,chowever, that the seizure of such
funds, or the inability of the Company to recovects funds or any significant portion thereof, oy aosts and expenses incurred by the
Company in connection with this matter will not baav material adverse effect upon the Company’siiileh condition or results of operations.

The Company is subject to claims in the ondir@urse of business, including claims of alleggdngement by the Company or its
subsidiaries of the patents, trademarks and otiteltéctual property rights of third parties. PEjénerally required to indemnify its service
clients against any third party claims allegingimjement by PFS of the patents, trademarks aret @itellectual property rights of third
parties.

10. Segment and Geographic Information

The Company is currently organized into twionarry operating segments, which generally aligrhlite corporate organization structure. In
the first segment, PFSweb is an international plevof various business process outsourcing solsitmd operates as a service fee busine
the second operating segment, subsidiaries of timep@ny purchase inventory from clients and rekellihventory to client customers. In this
segment, the Company recognizes product revenueeiilly, Supplies Distributors is the primary suliaiy in this segment.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Revenues (in thousand:
PFSwelk $ 106,55: $ 92,047
Supplies Distributor: 174,61 183,00¢
Eliminations (6,649 (7,163

$ 274,51t $ 267,89

Income (loss) from operations (in thousan:

PFSwek $ (5,449 $ (8,770
Supplies Distributor: 3,451 5,36¢
Eliminations — —

$ (1,990 $ (3,409

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Depreciation and amortization (in thousan:
PFSwelk $ 6,032 $ 6,50¢
Supplies Distributor 28 35

Eliminations — —
$ 6,06( $ 6,54<
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December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Capital expenditures (in thousanc
PFSwelk $ 3,77¢ $ 4,43¢
Supplies Distributor — 2

Eliminations — —
$ 3,77¢ $ 4,44(

Assets (in thousands

PFSwelk $ 62,61 $ 65,71¢
Supplies Distributor 73,99: 69,29
eCOST 8,18:¢ 13,57¢
Eliminations (14,567) (20,8179

$ 130,23( $ 127,76¢

Geographic areas in which the Company opematésde the United States, Europe (primarily Beig), and Canada. The following is
geographic information by area. Revenues are atiibbased on the Company’s domicile.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Revenues (in thousand:
United State: $ 194,79: $ 183,93
Europe 77,75¢ 81,46(
Canadz 5,43¢ 5,38¢
Inter-segment elimination (3,472) (2,899

$ 274,51 $ 267,89.

Other lon¢lived assets (in thousand

United State: $ 11,52 $ 16,18
Europe 765 90C
Canade 165 195

$ 12,45 $  17,27¢

11. Employee Savings Plan

The Company has a defined contribution emp@aerings plan under Section 401(k) of the InteRealenue Code. Substantially all full-
time and part-time U.S. employees are eligibleadipipate in the plan. The Company, at its disoretmay match employee contributions to
the plan and also make an additional matching tmrtton in the form of profit sharing in recogniti@f the Company’s performance.

12. Discontinued Operations

In February 2011, the Company sold certaietassf eCOST to a third party for a total aggregateh purchase price of approximately
$2.3 million (before expenses of approximately $@iion). Accordingly, the accompanying consoliddtfinancial statements reflect the
related operating results of the eCOST segmenisasmtinued operations for all periods presented.

Summarized financial information in the accamyging consolidated statements of operations ®dtecontinued eCOST operations is as
follows (in thousands):

Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2010 2009

Product revenue, n $69,17: $84,60°
Expense: 70,32] 84,25’
Goodwill and intangible asset impairme 2,792 —
Income (loss) before provision for income ta (3,949 35C
Provision for income taxe 28

Discontinued operations, net of income ta $ (3,979 $ 34z
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Summarized financial information in the accamyging consolidated balance sheets for the diswoati eCOST operations is as follows (in
thousands):

As of
December 31,
2010 2009
Inventories, ne $ 2,77¢ $ 4,37
Identifiable intangible: 31€ 422
Goodwill 81C 3,60z
Assets of discontinued operatic $ 3,90: $ 8,39¢

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the amounli@ivance for slow moving inventory included in disdinued operations is $0.2 million and
$0.3 million, respectively.

The original eCOST acquisition resulted inuaghase price in excess of the fair value of nenfifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. This excess purchase price, $18.9 millias,allocated to goodwill. Goodwill, which is raeductible for tax purposes, is not
amortized yet is subject to an annual impairmestt tesing a fair-value-based approach. In 2008paiud, following the Company’s analysis of
the carrying value of goodwill, the Company detered the carrying value of goodwill exceeded its ¥alue, which resulted in cumulative
non-cash goodwill write-offs of $15.3 million. Dag the Company’s 2010 analysis of the carrying @afigoodwill, using the February 2011
sale as a basis to determine the fair value, thepg2ay recorded a non-cash goodwill write-off of@giillion, which is included in loss from
discontinued operations. The remaining balanceootlwill, $0.8 million as of December 31, 2010,risluded in assets of discontinued
operations.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Ficgal Officer, after evaluating the effectivene$®or disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (theciiange Act”) Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ab®find of the period covered by this
report (the “Evaluation Date”), have concluded thabf the Evaluation Date, our disclosure contaold procedures are effective, at a
reasonable assurance level, to ensure that infmmiquired to be disclosed in the reports thafileeand submit under the Exchange Act (
recorded, processed, summarized and reported asterdrequired and (ii) is accumulated and comnataitto our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O, as appropriate, to allow timely decisionsareling required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internata@aover financial reporting during the quarteded December 31, 2010 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallieaf, our internal controls over financial repogtin

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establisaimymaintaining adequate internal control ovearitial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15
() under the Exchange Act. Our internal controgofinancial reporting is designed, under the sup&m of our principle executive and
principle financial officers, and effected by owdbd of directors, management and other persottptovide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the peeption of financial statements for external pugsoi® accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amgi@AAP). Our internal control over financial repagiincludes those policies and procedures
that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records, tinareasonable detail, accurately and fairlyeetffithe transactions and dispositions of our
assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance thagacsions are recorded as necessary to permit ptépaof financial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and that our receipts and expendituresb@ing made only in accordance with authorizatiminour management and Board of
Directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assuraegarding prevention or timely detection of unauitexd acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on tlanfial statements.

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveradur internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2010. This evaluation
based on the framework in “Internal Control—IntegtaFramework” issued by the Committee of Spongofinganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). All internal control systems,matter how well designed, have inherent limitagionherefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reabtnassurance regarding the reliability of finahoggporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance®HMAP. Also, projections of any evaluation of tHéeetiveness of internal control over
financial reporting to future periods are subjectite risk that the controls may become inadedoatause of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

Based on our evaluation under the framewothkt@rnal Control—Integrated Frameworlour Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that internal control over fineadaeporting was effective as of December 31, 2010

This annual report does not include an attiestaeport of our independent registered publicoanting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management’s report was ndiject to attestation by our independent registerdalic accounting firm pursuant to
temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Cigsiom that permit us to provide only managemengfsort in this annual report.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to the information to bd@ét in the section entitled “Board of Directorafid “Committees of the Board” in the
definitive proxy statement in connection with ounrual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Stateff)emthich section is incorporated her:
by reference. Our Proxy Statement will be filedhathie Securities and Exchange Commission not fager 120 days after the last day of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2010.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by Part 111, Item 11, e included in the section entitled “Executiveng@ensation” of our Proxy Statement relating
to our annual meeting of shareholders and is iraatpd herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aMianagement and Related Shareholder Matters

Information required by Part 111, Item 12, idile included in the Sections entitled “ElectionDifectors” and Security Ownership of Certa
Beneficial Owners and Management” of our Proxy &tagnt relating to our annual meeting of sharehseldad is incorporated herein by
reference.

The following table summarizes informationtwiespect to equity compensation plans under wénighity securities of the Company are
authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2010:

Number of
securities to be

issued upon Weighted-average Number of

exercise of exercise price of securities
outstanding options outstanding options remaining available
Plan category (1) and warrants and warrants for future issuance
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs| 2,193,67. $ 4.2¢ 845,44
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgers 88,71¢ $ 4.2¢ —
Total 2,282,39. 845,44

(2) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentaore detailed information regarding the Comy’s equity compensation plar

Item 13. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain of our relatibips and related transactions will be includechim $ection entitled “Certain Relationship and
Related Transactions” of our Proxy Statement medptd our annual meeting of shareholders and @rpurated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by Part Ill, Item 14, idle included in the section entitled “RatificatiohAppointment of Independent Auditors” of
our Proxy Statement relating to our annual meeatinghareholders and is incorporated herein by eefss.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of th@part:

1. Financial Statementi
PFSweb, Inc. and Subsidiari

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityGomprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedu

Schedule — Condensed Financial Information of Registr

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules are omitted because the redjifermation is not present in amounts sufficientequire submission of the
schedule or because the information required isidiedl in the financial statements or notes the

2. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRFESweb, Inc

3.1.1 (20) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi@ate of Incorporation of PFSweb, Ir

3.1.2 (32) Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorption of PFSweb, Inc

3.1.3(36) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetificate of Incorporation of PFSweb, Ir

3.2(1) Amended and Restated Byla

3.2.1 (26) Amendment to the Amended and Restate-Laws of PFSweb, Inc

2.2.2 (39) Amendment to the Amended and Restate-Laws of PFSweb, Inc

4.1 (30) Rights Agreement, dated as of June 8, 2000, betttee@ompany and ChaseMellon Shareholder Senlit&s,

4.1 (31) Amendment No. 1 to Rights Agreement, dated as of B0 2008 between the Company and Mellon InveStvices LLC, a
successor to ChaseMellon Shareholder ServicesCL,.hs rights agen

4.1 (38) Amendment No. 2 to Rights Agreement, dated as of B4 2010 between the Company and Mellon InveStvices LLC, a
successor to ChaseMellon Shareholder ServicesCL,.hs rights agen

4.1 (39) Amendment No. 3 to Rights Agreement, dated aslgf22010 between the Company and Mellon InveStmvices LLC, a
successor to ChaseMellon Shareholder ServicesCL,.hs rights agen

10.1 (17) PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock Purchase |

10.2 (18) Amendment 3 to Loan and Security Agreem

10.3 (18) Amendment 6 to Agreement for Inventory Financi

10.4 (18) Amendment 1 to First Amended and Restated LoarSaedrity Agreemen

10.5 (16) Amendment 5 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent

10.6 (16) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdice Discounting Schedul

10.7 (16) Amendment No. 5 to Agreement for Inventory Finagc

10.8 (1) Industrial Lease Agreement between Shelby Drivgp@a@tion and Priority Fulfilment Services, Ir

10.9 (2) Lease Contract between Transports Weerts and tyrieulfillment Services Europe B.\
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Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits

10.10 (2) Form of Change of Control Agreement between the @om and each of its executive offic

10.11 (4) Ninth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betweBBRI ATRIUM. L.P., and Priority Fulfillment Servieg Inc.

10.12 (5) Agreement for Inventory Financing by and among Beiss Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC, Suppb@éstributors, Inc.,
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc., PFSweb, Inlnyentory Financing Partners, LLC and IBM Creditr@aration

10.13 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty bybatsleen Priority Fulfilment Services, Inc. andMECredit Corporatior

10.14 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Credit Cotmmdy PFSweb, Inc

10.15 (5) Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubordinatiogeAwent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplie:
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatit

10.16 (5) Amended and Restated Platinum Plan Agreement (mitbice Discounting) by and among Supplies Distidos, S.A.,
Business Supplies Distributors Europe B.V., PFS®ah, and IBM Belgium Financial Services S.

10.17 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty betWweerity Fulfilment Services, Inc. and IBM Belgn Financial Service
S.A.

10.18 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Belgium Fir@r&ervices S.A. by PFSweb, Ir

10.19 (5) Subordinated Demand Note by and between Suppl&silitors, Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Servicéac.

10.20 (5) Notes Payable Subordination Agreement between @sadfinancial Corporation (Southwest) and Pridtitifillment Services
Inc.

10.21 (5) Guarantee in favor of Congress Financial Corpomaf@outhwest) by Business Supplies Distributorsditgls, LLC, Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. and PFSweb, |

10.22 (5) General Security Agreement by Priority Fulfilme3grvices, Inc. in favor of Congress Financial Coation (Southwest

10.23 (5) Inducement Letter by Priority Fulfilment Servicésgc. and PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Congress Fir@nCorporation
(Southwest)

10.24 (6) Form of Executive Severance Agreement between timep@ny and each of its executive office

10.24.1 (33 Form of Amendment to Executive Severance Agreen

10.24.2 (33 Form of Amendment to Change in Control Severancedment

10.24.3 (39 Severance, Nondisclosure, Nonsolicitation and Nom=te Agreement dated July 2, 2010 between the @oyngnd Cynthii
Almond.

10.25 (7) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors HoldingsZ L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Servicebc., PFSweb, Inc., Inventory Financing PartnetsCland IBM Credit
Corporation

10.26 (7) Amendment to Amended and Restated Platinum Plarekgent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among Siegp
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBrtgope B.V., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Finan@arvices S.A

10.27 (7) Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subordinatiogeftgent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplies
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatit

10.28 (7) Amendment to Factoring agreement dated March 282 P@tween Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortimm@ercial Finance
N.V.

10.29 (8) Unconditional Guaranty of PFSweb, Inc. to ComeBeak— California

10.30 (8) Security Agreement of PFSweb, Inc. to Comerica E— California
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Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits

10.31 (8) Intellectual Property Security Agreement betweenrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. and Comerica Be— California

10.32 (8) Amendment 2 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaefnent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among@ies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SerscS.A.

10.33 (8) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing bg among Business Supplies Distributors HoldindsG L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfilment Servicekic., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.34 (9) Amendment to factoring agreement dated April 3@3Between Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortism@ercial Financ:
N.V.

10.35 (9) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Congriessicial Corporation (Southwest), as Lender amgpb8es Distributors
Inc., as Borrower dated March 29, 20

10.36 (9) General Security Agreeme— Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC indawef Congress Financial Corporati
(Southwest

10.37 (9) Stock Pledge Agreement between Supplies Distrisutac. and Congress Financial Corporation (Sousty

10.38 (9) First Amendment to General Security Agreement bgrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. in favor of Corggs Financie
Corporation (Southwes

10.39 (12) Industrial Lease Agreement between New York Lifeurance Company and Daisytek, |

10.40 (12) First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement betwdew York Life Insurance Company, Daisytek, laed Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.41 (12) Second Amendment to Industrial Lease AgreementdmiviProLogis North Carolina Limited Partnership Bmidrity
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.42 (12) Modification, Ratification and Extension of LeasetWween Shelby Drive Corporation and Priority Futiint Services, Inc

10.43 (13) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdind<; L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.44 (13) Amendment 4 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and amongSies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SeescS.A.

10.45 (13) Third Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subominagreement by and between Priority Fulfillmemr&ces, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

10.46 (13) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementiny lsetween Congress Financial Corporation (Southwes Lender an
Supplies Distributors, Inc., as Borrow

10.47 (13) Form of Modification to Executive Severance Agream

10.48 (14) Industrial Lease Agreement by and between Induddeaelopments International, Inc. and Priority fifimhent Services, Inc

10.49 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Industrial Bl®pments International, In

10.50 (14) Lease between Fleet National Bank and Priorityilfaknt Services, Inc

10.51 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Fleet NatioBahk

10.52 (14) Amendment No. 3 to Lease dated as of March 3, b@®®een Fleet National Bank and Priority Fulfillm&ervices, Inc

10.53 (15) Loan Agreement between Mississippi Business Fin&uarporation and Priority Fulfillment Services, Intated as ¢
November 1, 200

10.54 (15) Reimbursement Agreement between Priority Fulfillingarvices, Inc. and Comerica Be

10.55 (15) First Amended and Restated Loan and Security Ageeéfny and between Comerica Bank and Priority Fuléint Services

Inc.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
10.56 (15) Remarketing Agreement between Priority Fulfillm&etrvices, Inc. and Comerica Securi

10.57 (20) Amendment to factoring agreement dated Decembe2@5 between Supplies Distributors S.A. and F@tsmercial
Finance N.V,

10.58 (21) Fourth Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subtioiregreement by and between Priority Fulfilm&drvices, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpaoat

10.59 (21) Amendment 7 to Agreement for Inventory Financi
10.60 (21) Amendment 6 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent
10.61 (21) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdice Discounting Schedul

10.62 (21) Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeiatnidybetween eCOST.com, Inc. and Wachovia Capitericie
Corporation (Western

10.63 (21) Amendment 4 to Loan and Security Agreem
10.64 (21) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc., in favor of Wachovia @dptinance Corporation (Wester

10.65 (21) Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated &andrSecurity Agreement by and between Comerick Bad Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.66 (23) Tenth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betwkearoRAtrium, LLC and Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c.

10.67 (24) Fifth Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubordinAgreement by and between Priority Fulfillmemtr@ces, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

10.68 (24) Amendment 8 to Agreement for Inventory Financi

10.69 (24) Fourth Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreergrand between eCOST.com, Inc. and Wachovia Qdpitance
Corporation (Western

10.70 (24) Amendment 5 to Loan and Security Agreem
10.71 (24) Amendment 7 to Amended and Restated Platinum Piaaefnent
10.72 (24) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdite Discounting Schedul

10.73 (25) Fifth Amendment to First Amended and Restated Larath Security Agreement by and between Comerica BadkPriority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.74 (27) Second Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreementiybetween Industrial Property Fund VI, LLC andoRty Fulfillment
Services, Inc

10.75 (29) Sixth Amended and Restated Notes Payable Suboiainagreement by and between Priority Fulfillmertr8ces, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

10.76 (29) Amendment 9 to Agreement for Inventory Financi
10.77 (29) Amendment 8 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent
10.78 (29) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdite Discounting Schedul

10.79 (29) Sixth Amendment to First Amended and RestiLoan and Security Agreement by and between Com8acék and Priorit)
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.80 (34) Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementdidsauary 6, 2009 between Wachovia Bank and Swgppisributors
Inc.

10.81 (34) Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dldenuary 6, 2009 between Wachovia Bank and eCOBSiTlic.



10.82 (35)

10.83 (35)
10.84 (35)

10.85 (35)

Seventh Amended and Restated Notes Payable Suatiodigreement by and between Priority Fulfillm&etrvices, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

Amendment 10 to Agreement for Inventory Financ
Amendment 9 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent

Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdice Discounting Schedul
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E)L(Jrrlr:?)l(t—:-r Description of Exhibits

10.86 (35) Seventh Amendment to First Amended and Restated &od Security Agreement by and between Comericék Bad Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.87 (36) Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock and imedpian of PFSweb, Ini

10.88 (36) Amended and Restated Employee Director Stock Option and Retainer PlaRSweb, Inc

10.89 (37) Eighth Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subdiatinggreement by and between Priority Fulfilm&srvices, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

10.90 (37) Amendment 11 to Agreement for Inventory Financ

10.91 (37) Amendment 10 to Amended and Restated Platinum ARla@ement

10.92 (37) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdice Discounting Schedul

10.93 (37) Eighth Amendment to First Amended and Restated lavehSecurity Agreement by and between Comerick Bad Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.94 (37) 2010 Management Bonus Pl

10.95 (40) égiit Purchase Agreement by and between eCOST.B@Mall, Inc. and Mall Acquisition 3, Inc. datesl af February 17,

10.96 (41) Consent and Lien release dated as of FebruaryOlld, y and between Wells Fargo Bank, National gissimn and
eCOST.com, Inc

21 (41) Subsidiary Listing

23.1 (41) Consent of GRANT THORNTON, LLP, Independent RegitePublic Accounting Firr

31.1 (41) Certifications of Principal Executive Officer Puesu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

31.2 (41) Certifications of Principal Financial Officer Puesu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

32.1 (41) Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1280Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z

(1) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Reggistn Statement on Forn-1 (Commission File No. 3-87657).
(2) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2(

(3) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q/A for the quarterly period ended September 30,L:
(4) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the transition period ended December 31, z
(5) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(6) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(7) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2!

(8) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(9) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(10) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, :
(11) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repofform K filed on November 10, 20C

(12) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2

(13) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(14) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, :
(15) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

(16) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(

(17) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repofform K filed on June 14, 200!
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(18) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2!
(19) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. CurReygort on Form-K filed on November 30, 200!
(20) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

(21) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
(22) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. CurRayport on Form-K filed on June 2, 200¢

(23) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2
(24) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

(25) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
(26) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoiftorm (-K filed on November 13, 200

(27) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

(28) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm K filed on May 2, 2008

(29) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
(30) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Regfisin Statement on Forn-A filed on June 14, 200!
(31) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm 8K filed on May 30, 200

(32) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoiftorm K filed on June 2, 200¢

(33) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm i-K filed on January 6, 200!

(34) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm i-K filed on January 9, 200!

(35) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q filed on May 15, 200¢

(36) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q filed on August 14, 200¢

(37) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q filed on May 17, 201(

(38) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm {-K filed on May 25, 2010

(39) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm {-K filed on July 2, 2010

(40) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoiftorm K filed on February 23, 201.

(41) Filed herewith
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(In thousands)

December 31

SCHEDULE |

December 31

2010 2009
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivale! $  5,00¢ $ 182
Receivable from Priority Fulfillment Services, It 5,39¢ 5,39(
Receivable from eCOST.com, Ir 7,40( 4,95(
Investment in subsidiarie 11,55( 18,83!
Total asset $ 29,35( $ 29,35!
LIABILITIES:
Total liabilities $ — $ —
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stoc — —
Common stocl 12 10
Additional paic-in capital 101,22¢ 93,15
Accumulated defici (73,33 (65,969
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,52¢ 2,23¢
Treasury stocl (85) (85)
Total shareholde’ equity 29,35( 29,35:
Total liabilities and shareholde equity $ 29,35( $ 29,35!

The condensed financial statements should be reeshjunction with the consolidated financial staémts and notes.
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SCHEDULE |
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)
__2010 __2009
EQUITY IN NET LOSS OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIE $ (7,36¢ $ (4,570
NET LOSS $ (7,36¢ $ (4,570

The condensed financial statements should be reegnjunction with the consolidated financial stagsts and notes.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating activitie
Equity in net loss of consolidated subsidia

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common si
Increase in receivable from eCOST.com,
Increase (decrease) in payable due to PFSweb B\L!
Increase (decrease) in receivable from Priorityfilaent Services, Inc., ne

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALE
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

4,82

182

*

5,00¢

The condensed financial statements should be reeshjunction with the consolidated financial staémts and notes.
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Year Ended December 31, 20(

Allowance for doubtful accoun

Year Ended December 31, 20:

Allowance for doubtful accoun

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Amounts in thousands)

SCHEDULE Il

Additions
Balance a Charges to Cos
Beginning and Charges to Othel Balance at Enc
of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions of Period
$ 98C 147 — (1549 $ 972
$ 97z 15€ — 379 % 754
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 185¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, tlegiBtrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

By: /s/ Thomas J. Madder
Thomas J. Madder
Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial and Accounting Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secuiitiehange Act of 1934, this report has been sidredolw by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

Signature

/s/ Mark C. Laytor

Mark C. Layton

/s/ Thomas J. Madde

Thomas J. Madde

/s/ Neil Jacob:

Dr. Neil Jacob:

/s/ Timothy M. Murray

Timothy M. Murray

/s/ James F. Reilly

James F. Reill

/s/ David |. Beatsol

David |. Beatsor

Title Date

Chairman of the Board, President ¢ March 31, 201

Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer,

Executive Vice President and Ch March 31, 201

Financial and Accounting Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)

Director March 31, 201:
Director March 31, 201:
Director March 31, 2011
Director March 31, 201!
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Exhibit 10.96€

CONSENT AND LIEN RELEASE

ThisCONSENT AND LIEN RELEASE (this “ Consent), is dated as of February 17, 2011, by and betw¥ELLS FARGO BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , acting through its Wells Fargo Business Credérafing division, as successor-in-interest to WazhBank,
National Association, which in turn was the sucoe-in-interest to Congress Financial Corporation ¢nder’), andECOST.COM, INC. , a
Delaware corporation (“ Borrowéy.

BACKGROUND STATEMENT :

WHEREAS , Borrower has entered into that certain Loan asclBty Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2004 fasraled by (i) that
certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreetnby and between Borrower and Lender; (ii) teatain Second Amendment to Loan
and Security Agreement, by and between Borroweramdler; (iii) that certain Third Amendment to Loand Security Agreement, by and
between Borrower and Lender; (iv) that certain Bodkmendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dagedf March 28, 2007, by and
between Borrower and Lender; (v) that certain Fthendment to Loan and Security Agreement, datexf danuary 6, 2009; and (vi) that
certain Sixth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreetndated as of March __, 2010, and as modifiethétcertain letter agreement date
of November 29, 2005, and as further amended,tegstaupplemented or otherwise modified throughdéite hereof, the “ Loan Agreemeéht
whereunder Lender agreed to make extensions oit ¢resh time to time to, or for the account of, Bawer;

WHEREAS , pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, ®eer desires to obtain the consent to and appafMaténder of the sale and
license of certain of Borrower’s assets, more paldirly described on Exhibit Attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “tA2gechase
"), to PC Mall, Inc., and Mall Acquisition 3, Inaach, a Delaware corporation (collectively, “ Fiager’), on the terms and in accordance v
the provisions of that certain Asset Purchase aoense Agreement, dated as of February 17, 201antybetween Borrower and Purchaser
(the “ Asset Purchase Agreeméhtsubject to the terms and conditions hereof; and

WHEREAS , Lender desires to provide its consent to andabof the Asset Purchase, on the terms and iordaace with the
provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, suljette terms and conditions hereof.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and the mutaaénants contained herein, and other good and biglua
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of whiethareby acknowledged, the parties hereto agreslews:

SECTION 1. Defined Terms Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitaliths used herein have the meanings assigned hdesus
in the Loan Agreement.

SECTION 2. Consent and Lien Releas8ubject to the satisfaction of the conditionscpoent set forth in Sectionas this Consent,
Lender hereby (i) consents to and approves (hdtem#he “ Consent) the Borrower’s sale and license of the assetserparticularly
described on Exhibit Attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “tBelAssets) to the Purchaser on the terms and in accordesittethe
provisions of the Asset Purchase Agreement, ahde(@ases any and all liens previously grante8dnyower to Lender upon the Related
Assets (which, for the avoidance of doubt, doesmdtide the Cash Collateral (hereinafter defineaih) agrees to execute and deliver the
modification of financing statement substantiafiytie form attached hereto as Exhibiabd incorporated herein, and any and all other lien
release documents as Borrower may reasonably reiques




order to evidence or otherwise give public notwéhe release by Lender of its liens in such aspetsided, however, that any and all such
documents shall be prepared and recorded at Borioexpense.

SECTION 3. Conditions PrecedeniThis Consent shall become effective (the “ Cohgdfective Daté’) upon satisfaction of each of the
following conditions:

(a) Each of Borrower and Lender shall havecated and delivered to Lender this Consent, anll stlter documents as Lender may
reasonably request;

(b) Borrower shall have furnished to Lenderaccordance with the wiring instructions set fathExhibit Cattached hereto and
incorporated herein, payment of cash collater#héamount of $1,000,000.00 (the “ Cash Collatgrab secure the outstanding Letter of
Credit Accommodations.

(c) PFSweb, Inc. shall have executed and eediv a Reaffirmation of Guaranty in the form atetto this Consent;

(d) Lender shall have received from the Boepand the Purchaser, a duly executed and effeAiget Purchase Agreement in substant
the form attached hereto as Exhibit B

(e) No Default or Event of Default shall haxezurred and be continuing;
(f) All legal matters incident to the trandans contemplated hereby shall be reasonably aatisfy to counsel for Lender.

SECTION 4 . Covenants No later than two (2) days after the effectiveedaf the Asset Purchase Agreement, Borrower sledilver to
Lender, a borrowing base certificate, and any otivetence satisfactory to Lender, in its sole @igon, detailing the assets and properties
owned by Borrower subsequent to the effectivenéfiseatransactions contemplated by the Asset PscAgreement.

SECTION 5. Modification of Loan AgreementFrom and after the Consent Effective Date, tHeniien of “Borrowing Base” inSection .
of the Loan Agreement is hereby deleted in itsretytiand replaced with the following:

“ Borrowing Base’ shall mean, at any time, the amount equal tcstiva of:

(a) eighty-five percent (85%) of Eligible Accounfdus

(b) upon satisfaction of the Inventory Subline Citinds, the least of:
(i) fifty-five percent (55%) of the Value ofifible P&G Inventory;
(ii) eighty-five percent (85%) of the Appraisiventory Value of Eligible P&G Inventory; or
(iii) Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2B800); less

(c) any Reserves.




For purposes only of applying the sublimitRevolving Loans based on Eligible Inventory setHan clause (b)(iii) above, Lender may
treat the then undrawn amounts of outstanding teft€redit Accommodations for the purpose of pasihg Eligible Inventory as
Revolving Loans to the extent Lender is in effearsibhg the issuance of the Letter of Credit Accomatiotis on the Value or Appraised
Inventory Value of the Eligible Inventory being phased with such Letter of Credit Accommodationgiétermining the actual amounts of
such Letter of Credit Accommodations to be so &eédor purposes of the sublimit, the outstandingdRéng Loans and Reserves shall be
attributed first to any components of the lendiagrfulas set forth above that are not subject tb sublimit, before being attributed to the
components of the lending formulas subject to sudhimit.”

SECTION 6 . Execution in CounterpartsThis Consent may be executed in counterpart$, elwhich when so executed and delivered
shall be deemed to be an original and all of whéden together shall constitute but one and theesastrument.

SECTION 7. Costs and ExpenseBorrower hereby affirms its obligation under thean Agreement to reimburse Lender for (i) all
outstanding fees, costs, and expenses (includespreble attorneys’ fees) paid or incurred by Leimdeonnection with the administration of
the Loan Agreement, and (ii) all reasonable castsrnal charges and out-of-pocket expenses paiiacarred by Lender in connection with the
preparation, negotiation, execution and deliverthef Consent, including but not limited to theoatieys’ fees and time charges of attorneys for
Lender with respect thereto.

SECTION 8. GOVERNING LAW . THIS CONSENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, WI THOUT REGARD TO THE INTERNAL CONFLICTS OF
LAWS PROVISIONS THEREOF.

SECTION 9 . Reaffirmation of Financing Agreement$he parties hereto agree and acknowledge thao{filing contained in this Consent
in any manner or respect limits or terminates dtp® provisions of the Loan Agreement or the othgistanding Financing Agreements (as
defined in the Loan Agreement) other than as espye®t forth herein and (ii) the Loan Agreemerd aach of the other outstanding Financ
Agreements remain and continue in full force arfdatfand are hereby ratified and reaffirmed iredipects.

SECTION 10. Headings Section headings in this Consent are includedihdor convenience of any reference only and sial|
constitute a part of this Consent for any otheppses.

SECTION 11. Release BORROWER HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT AS OF THE DATE HE REOF IT HAS NO DEFENSE,
COUNTERCLAIM, OFFSET, CROSS-COMPLAINT, CLAIM OR DEM AND OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER THAT
CAN BE ASSERTED TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE ALL OR ANY P ART OF ITS LIABILITY TO REPAY THE OBLIGATIONS
OR TO SEEK AFFIRMATIVE RELIEF OR DAMAGES OF ANY KIN D OR NATURE FROM LENDER OR ITS AFFILIATES,
PARTICIPANTS OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES OR ATTORNEYS.
BORROWER HEREBY VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES LENDER AND ITS
AFFILIATES AND PARTICIPANTS, AND THEIR RESPECTIVE P REDECESSORS, AGENTS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS,
EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, FROM ALL POSSIBIE CLAIMS, DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION,
DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, AND LIABILITIES WHATSOEVE R, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ANTICIPATED OR
UNANTICIPATED, SUSPECTED OR




UNSUSPECTED, FIXED, CONTINGENT, OR CONDITIONAL, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, ORIGINATING IN WHOLE OR IN

PART ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS CONSENT IS EXECUTED , WHICH BORROWER MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE
AGAINST LENDER, ITS PREDECESSORS, AGENTS, OFFICERS,DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, |
ANY, AND IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER ANY SUCH CLAIMS AR ISE OUT OF CONTRACT, TORT, VIOLATION OF LAW

OR REGULATIONS, OR OTHERWISE, AND ARISING FROM THE LIABILITIES, THE EXERCISE OF ANY RIGHTS AND
REMEDIES UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR OTHER LOAN DOC UMENTS, AND NEGOTIATION FOR AND

EXECUTION OF THIS CONSENT. BORROWER HEREBY COVENANT S AND AGREES NEVER TO INSTITUTE ANY ACTION
OR SUIT AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, NOR INSTITUTE, PROSECU TE, OR IN ANY WAY AID IN THE INSTITUTION OR
PROSECUTION OF ANY CLAIM, ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION , RIGHTS TO RECOVER DEBTS OR DEMANDS OF ANY
NATURE AGAINST LENDER, ITS AFFILIATES AND PARTICIPA NTS, AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS, AGENTS,
ATTORNEYS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND PERSONAL AND LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES ARISING ON OR
BEFORE THE DATE HEREOF OUT OF OR RELATED TO LENDER’ S ACTIONS, OMISSIONS, STATEMENTS, REQUESTS OR
DEMANDS IN ADMINISTERING, ENFORCING, MONITORING, CO LLECTING OR ATTEMPTING TO COLLECT THE
OBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER TO LENDER, WHICH OBLIGATION S WERE EVIDENCED BY THE LOAN AGREEMENT
AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank witlpaeate signature page following.]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto hawesed this Consent to be executed and deliveretitas date first above written.

ECOST.COM, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:

Name:
Title:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL

ASSOCIATION , acting through its Wells Fargo Business
Credit operating division, as successor-in-intetest
Wachovia Bank, National Association, which in tuvas

the successor-in-interest to Congress Financigb@ation

By:

Name:
Title:




Reaffirmation of Guaranty

The undersigned hereby (i) consents and agreée tietms and provisions of the foregoing Consedtesth of the transactions contemplated
thereby, and confirms and agrees that all refereimcthe Financing Agreements to the “Loan Agreerhgtmall mean the Loan Agreement, as
modified by the foregoing Consent, and (ii) agrénes that certain Guaranty, dated as of March 8063the “ Guaranty), executed by the
undersigned, in favor of Lender, remains in fulici® and effect and continues to be the legal, \alidi binding obligation of the undersigned
enforceable against the undersigned in accordaitbets/terms.

Furthermore, the undersigned hereby agrees ansdatdaiges that (a) the Guaranty executed by thersigiheed is not subject to any claims,
defenses or offsets, (b) nothing contained in tliedoing Consent shall adversely affect any rightemedy of Lender under the Guaranty
executed by the undersigned or any other agreeexectted by the undersigned in connection thereid)ithe execution and delivery of the
foregoing Consent or any agreement entered intoelmgler in connection therewith shall in no way reglimpair or discharge any obligations
of the undersigned pursuant to the Guaranty exddutehe undersigned, and shall not constitute isewdy Lender of Lender’s rights against
the undersigned under the Guaranty executed byrttiersigned, (d) the consent of the undersignedtisequired to the effectiveness of the
foregoing Consent and (e) no consent by the urglegdiis required for the effectiveness of any fitonsent, amendment, modification,
forbearance or other action with respect to thenLAgreement or any present or future Financing Agrent (other than the Guaranty executed
by the undersigned).

PFSWEB, INC.

By:

Name:
Title:




Name

Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc

Priority Fulfillment Services of Canada, Ir

PFSweb BV SPRL (f/k/a Priority Fulfillment ServicEsirope, B.V.)
Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, L

Supplies Distributors, Inc

Supplies Distributors of Canada, It

Supplies Distributors S./

PFSweb Retail Connect, Inc., f/k/a eCOST.com,

eCOST Philippines Services, LL

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Ontario
Belgium
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario
Belgium
Delaware
Philippines



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN&GRM

We have issued our report dated March 31, 201h, repect to the consolidated financial statemamtisschedules in the Annual Report of
PFSweb, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended Deeegr8h, 2010. We hereby consent to the incorpordtjoreference of said reports in the
Registration Statements of PFSweb, Inc. on Forr@{Ele Nos. 333-164973, effective February 18, B®33-128486, effective

September 21, 2005, 333-75764, effective Decembe2@1, 333-75772, effective December 21, 2003: 83096, effective September 19,

2000; 333-42186, effective July 25, 2000 and 333240 effective June 23, 2000) and on Forms S-& (Rds. 333L64971, effective March 1
2010, 333-135794, effective July 17, 2006 and 3B3853, effective December 1, 2003).

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Mark Layton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRFSweb, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioreny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and proesdobe designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tegistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatiitial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtfae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluati

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiethe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refrmahcial information; ani

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdain the registra’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 31, 201

By: /s/ MARK C. LAYTON
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Thomas Madden, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fRFSweb, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaior@ny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeer which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contasld procedures (as define«
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and proceduies tiesigned under our supervisi
to ensure that material information relating to tbgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over finanoiglorting, or caused such internal control ovearicial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatite reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadiSsclosure controls and procedures and preséantbd report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluati

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatooed during the registre’ s mosit
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; 8

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiEthe registrant’s board of directors (or pesspearforming the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refpmahcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inxed management or other employees who have aisa@mifole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 31, 2011

By: /sl THOMAS J. MADDEN
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxéeyf 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section0l 3&hapter 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of PFSiveb,(the “Company”), does hereby certify that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2010 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Campfully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applécaif the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 andfi@mation contained in the Form 10-K
fairly presents, in all material respects, thefficial condition and results of operations of therpany as of, and for, the periods presented in
the Form 10-K.

March 31, 201: /sl Mark C. Layton
Mark C. Layton
Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 201: /s/ Thomas J. Madder
Thomas J. Maddel
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is being furnished asexhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a)lbndf Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, Udigtates Code) and, accordingly, is not
being filed as part of the Form 10-K for purposéSection 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@whether made before or after the date
hereof, regardless of any general incorporatiogdage in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to PFSwebammt will be retained by PFSweb, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiots staff upon request.



